

Babani Computer Books

Windows Me,

# Easy Windows troubleshooting





## Easy Windows troubleshooting

#### **Other Computer Titles**

#### by

#### **Robert Penfold**

BP450	How to	Expand	and	Upgrade	Your PC
-------	--------	--------	-----	---------	---------

- BP467 How to Interface PCs
- BP470 Linux for Windows users
- BP479 How to Build Your Own PC
- BP484 Easy PC troubleshooting

#### **Other Windows Titles**

- BP445 Windows 95 Hard Disc and File Management
- BP455 Windows 98 Hard Disc and File Management
- BP456 Windows 98 Explained
- BP458 Tune up Windows 98
- BP459 Windows 98 Connections
- BP466 Understanding Windows 98 Registry
- BP469 Simple Networking with Windows 98
- BP493 Windows Me Explained
- BP496 Getting the Most from Windows Me
- BP502 Windows Me Multimedia Explained

## Easy Windows troubleshooting

**Robert Penfold** 

Bernard Babani (publishing) Ltd The Grampians Shepherds Bush Road London W6 7NF England www.babanibooks.com

#### Please note

Although every care has been taken with the production of this book to ensure that any projects, designs, modifications, and/or programs, etc., contained herewith, operate in a correct and safe manner and also that any components specified are normally available in Great Britain, the Publisher and Author do not accept responsibility in any way for the failure (including fault in design) of any projects, design, modification, or program to work correctly or to cause damage to any equipment that it may be connected to or used in conjunction with, or in respect of any other damage or injury that may be caused, nor do the Publishers accept responsibility in any way for the failure to obtain specified components.

Notice is also given that if any equipment that is still under warranty is modified in any way or used or connected with home-built equipment then that warranty may be void.

© 2001 BERNARD BABANI (publishing) LTD

First Published - March 2001 Reprinted - June 2001

British Library Cataloguing in Publication Data

A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library

ISBN 0859344959

Cover Design by Gregor Arthur Printed and bound in Great Britain by Cox & Wyman

#### Preface

Although the Windows 95, 98, and Me operating systems are widely regarded as having a lack of stability, this reputation is not entirely fair. Software as complex as any version of Windows is never likely to be fully debugged, but it is not really any built-in bugs that are the major problem with Windows. It is the alterations that are made to the operating system after the basic installation process has been completed. The operating system is added to and altered each time any hardware or major piece of software is added or removed. Windows can be used with an enormous range of software and hardware, but this leaves it vulnerable to problems that originate in hardware drivers, installation programs, and uninstallers. Applications programs can also introduce difficulties if they do not strictly abide by the rules involving memory management, file naming, etc.

Ideally the user would install Windows and some applications programs, and then make no further changes to the system. For most users this is not practical though, and new hardware has to be added, software upgrades have to be installed from time to time, and so on. Most modern PCs tend to evolve over a period of time, and the operating system has to change to accommodate this evolution. If Windows should cease working it is not usually too difficult to get it up and running again. Most faults introduced into the system are easily reversed, provided you know how. This book details some simple procedures that enable most Windows faults to be quickly pinpointed and rectified. You do not have to be a computer expert in order to follow these procedures, but you do have to be familiar with the basics of using the Windows user interface.

Where a Windows installation becomes seriously damaged it may not be practical to repair it. Even if numerous files have been corrupted or deleted it is probably possible to repair the installation given enough time, but the more sensible approach is to reinstall the operating system. Full instructions for reinstalling Windows are provided, including reinstallation over an existing version and the "from scratch" approach. Either option may seem to be a rather daunting prospect for those of limited experience at Windows troubleshooting, but reinstalling Windows is not particularly difficult. It is the guaranteed method of curing Windows problems and getting your PC back in full working order again.

Robert Penfold

#### WARNING

Sensible safety precautions should always be observed when dealing with electrical and electronic equipment, particularly any equipment that connects to the mains supply or operates at high voltages. Do not open the case of a monitor or a PC power supply unit. Apart from the fact that both of these are mains powered, they operate using high voltages that can remain on the circuit boards even after the equipment has been switched off for some time. If you use a PC connected to the mains supply as an earth for anti-static purposes, make sure that the power is switched off at the mains outlet so that the PC can not be accidentally switched on. With an AT case and power supply, examine the connections to the on/off switch before connecting the unit to the mains supply. All four connections should be completely covered by plastic insulators. Do not use the unit if there are any signs at all of problems with the insulation. Never work on a PC while it is switched on.

#### **Trademarks**

Microsoft, MS/DOS, Windows, Windows Me, Windows 98 and Windows 95 are either registered trademarks or trademarks of Microsoft Corporation.

All other brand and product names used in this book are recognised trademarks, or registered trademarks of their respective companies. There is no intent to use any trademarks generically and readers should investigate ownership of a trademark before using it for any purpose.

#### Contents

#### 1

Prevention is1
Do not tweak1
Careful deletion
Custom uninstaller
Windows uninstaller
Third party
Leftovers
Softly, softly9
Icon and menu entries10
Old and new 11
Memory 12
Windows problem?13
System files 14
First boot 15
Late problems 17
On the cards 18
Diagnostics software
What is a virus?
Virus protection25
If at first
Closing notes
Emergency exit
Background information
System Iray
Points to remember

## Troubleshooting ...... 41

Booting problems	41
Safety first	42
Microsoft Windows 98 Startup Menu	43
In the mode	44
Normal	44
Logged mode	44

#### 

Data rescue	85
Learning the hard way	
Split discs	
Clean copy	
Windows on Windows	
Preliminaries	
Floppy discs	
Large scale	
Second disc	
Adding a drive	
Bare facts	
Static	
Jumpers	
Getting physical	
Cabling	
BIOS Setup	
BIOS basics	
Entry	
Standard CMOS	
Drive settings	
Drive letters	110
Partitioning	
FDISK	
Using FDISK	
Formatting	
Хсору	
Disc swap	
Be prepared	
Points to remember	122

#### 

## Backup and restore..... 125

Backup?	125
Better save than sorry	125

Backup software	126
Win 98 Backup	133
Wizards	135
Emergency restoration	138
Me Restore	140
In use	141
Me Backup	146
Backup programs	147
System files	149
Registry backup	151
Registry Checker	153
System File Checker	155
Points to remember	159

### 

Reinstallation	161
Clean sweep Booting up Windows Setup Installation Hardware drivers Awkward hardware Screen settings Disc-free Me Points to remember	161 163 165 166 176 177 181 183 184
Appendix 1 Tweak UI Appendix 2 Useful web addresses Appendix 3 Regclean	187 190 191
Index	195

## Prevention is...

#### Causes

An installation of the Windows operating system coming to grief is not exactly a rare occurrence, but why should these problems happen at all? I suppose that the chances of removing every single bug from software as complex as this is virtually nil, but genuine bugs in Windows are almost certainly responsible for only a small percentage of the problems. Modern PC hardware is very reliable, and hardware glitches probably have nothing to do with the vast majority of problems either. Most of the difficulties seem to be due to things that either the user or applications programs do to Windows.

Unfortunately, quite minor things can prevent Windows from operating correctly, and it is easily "gummed up" by users making alterations to system settings or deleting essential files. Software that does not strictly abide by the rules can also generate problems. Probably the only surefire way of preventing Windows from getting into difficulties is to never install any applications programs at all, which is not exactly a practical proposition. However, you can certainly reduce the risk of problems occurring by following some simple rules.

#### Do not tweak

Experienced users fiddle around with the Windows configuration files and manage to customise the user interface in ways that are not normally possible. This is fine for those having suitable experience of Windows, because they know what they are doing. They can largely avoid problems and can soon backtrack to safety if something should go wrong. Inexperienced users are almost certain to damage the operating system if they try this sort of tweaking, and will not have the expertise to quickly sort things out when problems arise. Just the opposite in fact, and one thing can lead to another, with the operating system soon getting beyond redemption.

#### 1 Prevention is...

If you are not an expert on the inner workings of Windows it is best not to delve into its configuration files. A great deal of customisation can be done using the normal Windows facilities, and there are applications programs that enable further customisation to be undertaken without having to directly alter files.

#### **Careful deletion**

In the days of MS/DOS it was perfectly acceptable to delete a program and any files associated with it if you no longer wished to use the program. Matters are very different with Windows 95/98/Me, where most software is installed into the operating system. There are actually some simple programs that have just one file, and which do no require any installation. These standalone program files are quite rare these days, but they can be used much like old MS/DOS programs. To use the program you copy it onto the hard disc, and to run it you use the Run option from the Start menu, or locate the file using Windows Explorer and double-click on it. No installation program is used, and it is perfectly all right to remove the program by deleting the program file.

Most programs are installed onto the computer using an installation program, and this program does not simply make folders on the hard disc and copy files into them from the CD-ROM. It will also make changes to the Windows configuration files so that the program is properly integrated with the operating system. If you simply delete the program's directory structure to get rid of it, Windows will not be aware that the program has been removed. During the boot-up process the operating system will probably look for files associated with the deleted program, and will produce error messages when it fails to find them.

There is another potential problem in that Windows utilizes shared files. This is where one file, such as a DLL type, is shared by two or more programs. In deleting a program and the other files in its directory structure you could also be deleting files needed by other programs. This could prevent other programs from working properly, or even from starting up at all.

If a program is loaded onto the hard disc using an installation program, the only safe way of removing it is to use an uninstaller program. There are three possible ways of handling this.

#### **Custom uninstaller**

Some programs load an uninstaller program onto the hard disc as part of the installation process. This program is then available via the Start menu if you choose Programs, and then the name of the program concerned. When you choose this option there will be the program itself, plus at least one additional option in the sub-menu that appears. If there is no uninstall option here, no custom uninstaller has been installed for that program. Uninstaller programs of this type are almost invariably automatic in operation, so you have to do little more than instruct it to go ahead with the removal of the program.

With any uninstaller software you may be asked if certain files should be removed. This mostly occurs where the program finds shared files that no longer appear to be shared. In days gone by it did no seem to matter whether you opted to remove or leave these files, with Windows tailing to work properly thereafter! These days things seem to be more reliable, and it is reasonably safe to accept either option. To leave the files in place is certainly the safest option, but it also results in files and possibly folders being left on the disc unnecessarily.

#### Windows uninstaller

Windows has a built-in uninstaller that can be accessed via the control panel. From the Start menu select Settings, Control Panel and Add/ Remove programs. By default this takes you to the uninstaller, and the lower section of the screen shows a list of the programs that can be uninstalled via this route (Figure 1.1). In theory the list should include all programs that have been added to the hard disc using an installation program. In practice there may be one or two that have not been installed "by the book" and can not be removed using this method. Some programs can only be removed using their own uninstaller program, while others have no means of removal at all. It is mainly older software that falls into the non-removable category, particularly programs that were written for Windows 3.1 and not one of the 32-bit versions of Windows. In fact it is very unusual for old Windows 3.1 software to have any means of removal.

#### **Third party**

There are uninstaller programs available that can be used to monitor an installation and then uninstall the software at some later time. As this feature is built into Windows 95/98/Me, and the vast majority of

Add/Remc	ve Programs Pro	perties		? ×	
Install/Uni	nstall   Windows Se	tup   Startu	p Disk		
易	To install a new program from a floppy disk or CD-ROM drive, click Install.				
			[กา	istall	
6	The following sof Windows, To rem components, sele	tware can b nove a prog act it from th	e automatically-ren ram or to modify its e list and click Add	noved by installed /Remove.	
Adapte Adapte Adapte Adobe Adobe Adobe Adobe Adobe	c DirectCD c DirectCD Reader c Easy CD Creator c Easy-CD Audio Acrobat 4.0 PageMaker 6.5 PageMill 3.0 Photoshop 5.0 Type Manager ch64 Display Driver		R AB3/	Bëmoye	
		OK	Cancel		

Fig.1.1 The built-in Windows uninstaller

applications programs now either utilize the built-in facility or have their own uninstaller software, these programs are perhaps less useful than they once were. Most will also assist in the removal of programs that they have not been used to install, and this is perhaps the more useful role. Most will also help with the removal of things like unwanted entries in the Start menu and act as general cleanup software, although Windows itself provides means of clearing some of this software debris. Figure 1.2 shows the CyberMedia Uninstaller program in action, but there are numerous programs of this type to choose from.

ng 1 Select the application Step 2 Review options and deirle the applicator Step 3 Review summary information	Applications in LibertySort Megin Office New Office Programs No void selection Click Bigwest to locate a	n the Start Manu (Perfect Suite 8 ROM Catalogue SmartUpdate Document a Document a Document an application that is no	Ahsted	Brogge
2	Select the operation you	want to perform:		
	rel Qielete		C Archive	
	C Marin		C. Tennenad	

Preventio

Fig.1.2 The CyberMedia uninstaller in action

#### Leftovers

Having removed a program by whatever means, you will sometimes find that there are still some files and folders associated with the program remaining on the hard disc. In some cases the remaining files are simply data or configuration files that have been generated while you were trying out the program. If they are no longer of any use to you there should be no problems if they are deleted using Windows Explorer. In other cases the files could be system files that the uninstaller has decided not to remove in case they are needed by other applications. Removing files of this type is more risky and it is probably better to leave them in place.

Sometimes the folders may seem to be empty, but it is best to check carefully before removing them. An important point to bear in mind here is that not all files are shown when using the default settings of Windows Explorer. Using the default settings hidden files will live up to their name and files having certain extensions are not shown either. In normal use this can be helpful because it results in files that are likely to be of interest being shown, while those that are of no interest are hidden. This makes it much easier to find the files you require in a folder that contains large numbers of files. It is not helpful when Windows troubleshooting because it tends to have the opposite effect to normal. Things like data files that are of little interest are shown, while many of

-			
11	And in case of the local division of the loc	and the second division of the second divisio	
Go Favorites	Tools tielp		32
ibers is Bar ore: Bar	Cur Copy Paste	Lindo Deline Propertie	e Views
tob Daga			
Ton , die	the second se		Modilled
Carge Lorge Icons		File Falcer	19/07/00 10:33
2 My Con Smell Icons	7.	File Falder	19/07/00 10 33
- 2 3% F List	ALCON .	File Falder	
- 🕮 (C)" • Details		File Falcer	19/07/00 10:33
	5	CND FOR FILE	19/07/00 10237
A A tom this Folde		AND PUT FIRE	19/07/00 10 38
a CA	Det.	THE CHE CA.	10/07/00 10.38
Arrange cons	THE OF	2KG DIF Fels	19/07/00 10:30
A		2KB RIFFIL	19/07/00 10 30
· Co Detrach		2KB Rif File	19/07/00 10 38
A Develop	10	TKB RIF File	19/07/00 10 37
a C 8 Longer Clanous	11	2KB FUF Film	19/07/00 10:38
Bm6	16.rit	2KB RdF File	19/07/00 10 38
C Brok	n.81	3KB RIFFde	19/07/00 10:37
_) Cdplaye	17,ni	3KB PAFFile	19/07/00 10:37
Cdrom	10.nt	2KB PJF File	19/07/00 10:30
CD/ump	[]9 <i>n</i> /	2KB RIF File	19/07/00 10 37
· 💭 Codil	2 m	4KB RIFFile	19/07/00 10 38
Collins	20 ml	2KB RIF File	19/07/00 10:36
🔹 🛄 Corel		ZKB RIF File	\$9/07/00 10:38
Coregan	12101	2KB RIF File	19/07/00 10 38
Colorina Colorina		THE EMUTIC	19/07/00 10:35
Dbd	and a structure an	THE DESIG	19/0//00 10:35
🕫 🔔 Delpri		2KD DIE EL	19/07/00 10:30
- Dieg -			19/07/00 10 38
1		CIVED POR L MB	13/07/00 10.38

Fig.1.3 Windows can be set to show details for each file listed

the system files that are of interest are hidden. Windows Explorer should be set to show as much detail about the files as possible.

First go to the View menu and select the Details option (Figure 1.3). This will result in the size, type, and date of each file being shown. Then go to the View menu again, select Folder Options, and then left-click on the View tab in the new Window that appears (Figure 1.4). Under the Hidden Files entry in the main section of the window select the "Show all files" option. The hidden files are certain critical system files, such as those associated with the Windows Registry, that are not normally displayed by Windows Explorer so that they can not be accidentally altered or erased by the user. I would recommend ticking the checkbox for "Display full path in title bar". This way you can always see exactly what folder you are investigating, even if it is one that is buried deep in a complex directory structure.

Remove the tick in the checkbox next to "Hide the extension for known file types". The extension should then be shown for all file types, which makes it easy to see which one is which when several files have the same main file name. When viewing the contents of directories you can use either the List or Details options under the View menu, but the Details

1

Folder Options	The I Markets Press		î×
Connel View	File Types		
- Folder view	/\$		
	You can make all your folde	rs look the same.	
	Like Current Folder	Beset All Folders	
Advanced.se	attings:		
<ul> <li>☐ Files and</li> <li>☐ Allow</li> <li>☐ Disple</li> <li>☐ Hidde</li> <li>○ Do</li> <li>○ Do</li> <li>○ Sh</li> <li>☐ Hide file</li> <li>☑ Reme</li> <li>□ Show</li> <li>☑ Show</li> <li>☑ Show</li> <li>☑ Show</li> <li>☑ Show</li> <li>☑ Show</li> </ul>	all uppercase names ay the full path in title bar in files not show hidden files ow all files ile extensions for known file type imber each folder's view setting file attributes in Detail View Map Network Drive button in too pop-up description for folder an ittings	k es s blb <b>ar</b> d desktop items.	
		Restore Defau	ilts
	OK	Cancel	pply

Fig.1.4 Windows Explorer can be made to show all file types

option provides a little more information. It provides the file type if it is a recognised type, and the date that the file was created or last altered. If the "Show attributes in Detail view" checkbox is ticked, it will also show the attribute of the file. These are the letters used for each of the four attributes:

- A Archive
- H Hidden
- R Read-only
- S System

L.htm Prope	erties	?	
Seneral			
8	chỉ htm		
Туре:	HTML Document		
Location	C:\FrontPage		
Size	1,74KB (1,783 bytes), 8,192 bytes used		
MS-DOS no	ime CH1 HTM		
Created:	18 April 1999 09:34;16		
Modified	18 April 1999 09:34:18		
Accessed,	04 December 2000		
Attributes.	F Bead-only F Higden		
	₩ Ar <u>c</u> hive		
	OK Cancel	Vilue	

Thus a file that has "B" as its attribute letter it is a read-only type, and one that has "HA" in the attribute column is a hidden archive file Choose the List option if you prefer to have as many files as possible listed on the screen. Details of any file listed can be obtained by rightclicking on its entry in Windows Explorer and then choosing the Properties option from the pop-up menu. This will bring up a screen of the type shown in Figure

Fig.1.5 An example file properties window

1.5, which shows the type of file, the creation date, when it was last modified, size, etc.

Make sure that the checkbox for the "Remember each folder's view settings" is not ticked. Placing a tick in this box gives each folder its own settings, making it necessary to after the settings for individual folders rather than altering them globally.

If any folders are definitely empty, there should be no problem if they are removed. The same is true of data and configuration files that are no longer needed. With other files it may not be clear what their exact purpose is, and it is a bit risky removing files of unknown function. Unfortunately, it is not uncommon for uninstallers to leave large numbers of files on the hard disc. The uninstaller seems to go through its routine in standard fashion, and reports that the program has been fully removed, but an inspection of the hard disc reveals that a vast directory structure remains.

I have encountered uninstallers that have left more than 50 megabytes of files on the disc, removing only about 10% of those initially installed. Other uninstallers report that some files and folders could not be removed, and that they must be dealt with manually. Some uninstallers seem to concentrate on extricating the program from the operating system by removing references to the program in the Windows registry, etc., rather than trying to remove all trace of it from the hard disc.

#### Softly, softly

So what do you do if the disc is left containing vast numbers of unwanted files after a program has been uninstalled? The temptation, and what many people actually do, is to simple drag the whole lot into the Recycle Bin. Sometimes this may be acceptable, but there is the risk that sooner or later Windows will look for some of the deleted files and start to produce error messages. If you are lucky, the deleted files will still be in the Recycle Bin, and they can then be restored to their original locations on the hard disc. If not, you may have problems sorting things out.

The safer way of handling things is to leave the directory structure and files intact, but change some file or folder names. If only a few files have been left behind, try adding a letter at the front of each filename. For example, a file called "drawprog.dll" could be renamed "zdrawprog.dll". This will prevent Windows from finding the file if it should be needed for some reason, but it is an easy matter for you to correct things by removing the "z" from the filename if problems occur. If there are numerous files in a complex directory structure to deal with it is not practical to rename all the individual files. Instead, the name of the highest folder in the directory structure is renamed. This should make it impossible for Windows to find the file unless it does a complete search of the hard disc, and it is easily reversed if problems should occur.

Ideally the complete directory structure should be copied to a mass storage device such as a CD writer, a backup hard disc drive, or another partition on the hard disc. The original structure can then be deleted. If problems occur and some of the files have been cleaned from the Recycle Bin, you can reinstate everything from the backup copy.

Modern hard disc drives have very high capacities so it is perhaps worthwhile considering whether it is really necessary to remove leftover files. If you do not need the hard disc space they can be left in place, avoiding the risks involved if they are removed. Do you really need to uninstall the program at all? The less installing and uninstalling you do the better the chances of avoiding problems. Eventually you will end up with a large number of installed programs and this could generally slow the system down. In particular, the boot-up process can become a very long and drawn out process. However, this can be overcome by wiping

#### 1 Prevention is...

the hard disc clean and reinstalling the operating system and applications software from scratch. This is not a particularly quick and easy process, but it is the only totally reliable method of getting Windows back to a lean installation that operates at peak efficiency.

#### Icon and menu entries

After uninstalling a program you will often find that the shortcut icon is still present on the Windows desktop. If the installation program did not put the icon there in the first place it will not remove it. Shortcut icons



that are placed on the Windows desktop manually must be removed manually. This simply entails dragging the icon to the Recycle Bin. There is no risk of this having an adverse effect on Windows operation.

An uninstaller should remove the entry in the Programs section of the Start menu when removing a program. Unfortunately, this item does sometimes seem to be overlooked, and after removing a number of

Fig.1.6 The Taskbar Properties window

programs there can be a growing band of orphan entries in the menu. Once again, removing these entries manually should not entail any risk of "gumming up" Windows.

To remove an entry go to the Settings entry in the Start menu, and then select Taskbar And Start Menu. This brings up the Window shown in Figure 1.6. The Taskbar menu is offered by default, so left-click the Start Menu tab to bring up the Window of Figure 1.7. Next left-click on the Remove button, which will bring up a scrollable list of all the items in the Start menu. Left-click on the item you wish to remove in order to highlight

1

it (Figure 1.8), and then left-click the Remove button, A warning message will appear onscreen to give you a chance to change your mind, and the entry will be deleted if you confirm that you wish to go ahead. A guick check of the Start menu should show that the offending entry has been removed. It is actually placed in the Recycle Bin, so it can be easily reinstated if vou make a mistake.

#### Old and new

Both old and brand new software are potential sources of problems with Windows. In the case of brand new software it is the beta test versions or any other versions prior to the commercial release that are the main problem. These are not fully tried and tested, and can not be guaranteed to do things "by the book". People who make a living testing this type of software almost invariably use one PC

Taskbar Properti	es de la companya de	? ×
Taskbar Options	Start Menu Programs	
Customize Sta	ari menu	~
	You can customize your Start menu by adding or removing items from it	
Âdd	Bentove Advanced	
Documents m	enur	
3	Click the Clear button to remove the contents of the Documents;menu and other personal history lists.	
	Qieer	
	OK Cancel	

Fig.1.7 The Start Menu Programs screen

nove snoricu	ts/Folders	?
o remove an it	em from the Stat menu select	the dem and circle
Remove		
F. ANUS	Sound Audio Scitware	
+ COnt	ne Services	
+ Can Ox	ord	
B Pid	ureWorks	
Pro Pro	eus Lite	
FF Pro	eus Lite 5.0	
+ ( Qui	ken	
R C. Ou	cken Deluxe 98	
S La Oui	skTime	
+ ( Qui	kTime for Windows	
+ Rec	d .	
+ Ca RS	Electronic Caterorate	
HI Sta	tUp	
i a win	7.	
	Remove	1 Class
	Benove	Cluse

Fig. 1.8 Selecting a menu entry for removal

for testing the software and a second PC for other purposes. That way there is no major loss if the test software runs amok and deletes half the files on the hard disc. If you do not have a second PC for use with dubious software it is best not to try it at all.

At one time the initial commercial releases of programs were not always reliable, and some software publishers seemed to be guilty of getting their customers to unwittingly do the final testing for them. This sort of thing may still go on in some niche markets, but it is thankfully something of a rarity these days. The cost of sending out replacement discs plus the loss of reputation makes it an unsustainable tactic. New software, whether it is totally new or an upgrade version should be very reliable these days. In the past it was advisable to let new software mature before buying it, but this should no longer be necessary. If new software should prove troublesome there should be a help-line that can give advice on the problem. Software publishers' web sites often have software patches that can fix any obscure problems that have come to light after the final versions of the programs have been sent out to the shops.

#### Memory

In the early days of Windows 95 it was not unusual for the dreaded red cross to appear on the screen complete with a brief error message. In fact there seemed to be one or two of these messages every time someone used a PC. Thankfully, this type of thing is relatively rare these days. There were probably two main reasons for these early problems, and one of them was a lack of memory in the PCs of the day. At that time memory was quite expensive. 8 megabytes of RAM was quite typical, and 16 megabytes was considered to be a large amount of RAM. Software manufacturers were eager for their programs to appeal to as many people as possible, which often led them to be overoptimistic about the system requirements. If the requirements listed 8 megabytes of memory as the minimum and recommended at least 16 megabytes should be used, then 16 megabytes was probably the minimum that would really give trouble free and usable results.

These days memory is relatively cheap, and PCs are mostly well endowed in this respect. On the other hand, programs seem to require ever more memory. Also, many users now have two or more programs running simultaneously, possibly with some background tasks running as well. If you run memory hungry programs on a computer that has a modest amount of memory and error messages keep on appearing, it is worth investing in some extra memory. Even if it does not cure the problem, Windows and your programs will almost certainly run more quickly.

1

The other problem in the early days of Windows 95 was that most Windows applications software was designed to work under Windows 3.1 and not Windows 95. Maybe in theory the programs should have run perfectly well, but in practice things did not always go well. In fact with some programs you were lucky to get to the end of the installation procedure without problems! Some of this software altered system files in a way that was permissible with MS/DOS and Windows 3.1, but was not the approved way of doing things with Windows 95 and later versions of Windows.

32-bit versions of Windows definitely work best with programs that are specifically written for use with them. Wherever possible use modern applications software and avoid the older programs. Apart from anything else, if you get into problems with software that is about five or more years old, it is unlikely that the software publisher will be eager to offer much help in getting it to run properly. It is by no means certain that the software publisher will still be in existence. Mergers, take-overs, and failures are not exactly unknown in the software world. Where there is no alternative to an old program you have little option but to use it and hope for the best. One precaution I would recommend is to copy the config.sys and autoexec.bat files onto a floppy disc before installing the vintage software. They can then be reinstated if there are boot problems after the program has been installed.

#### Windows problem?

Some users tend to jump to conclusions when there are problems with a PC running Windows. Probably most problems are the result of the operating system becoming damaged, but by no means all problems are caused in this way. I have often been asked to help with supposed Windows problems that turn out to be due to some other cause. A crucial consideration when locating the cause of a PC fault is where in the proceedings is it that things go awry? If the PC fails to start up at all, with no initial messages, etc., from the BIOS's POST (power-on selftest) program, the fault is clearly nothing to do with a Windows problem. The fault is occurring long before the PC starts to boot into Windows, and is presumably due to a hardware problem.

Matters are less clear cut if the PC gets through its initial checking, starts to boot into Windows, but rapidly comes to a halt. When this happens there will often be an error message along the lines that the boot disc is missing or has a corrupted boot sector, and you will be asked to insert a system disc and then press any key. This means that the computer has looked at the boot drives specified in the BIOS Setup program but has not found a bootable disc. An obvious first step is to check the BIOS settings by going into the Setup program. The manual for your computer should give at least brief details of how to enter the BIOS and change the settings. This is also covered in more detail in chapter 4. Assuming the settings are suitable, the problem could be due to hardware fault with the disc or the IDE interface on the motherboard, or it could be caused by corruption of the data in the boot sector of the disc.

Sometimes the PC will start booting, but it will stop almost immediately. When this happens there will not necessarily be an error message displayed on the screen. In fact there will probably be no message, with the computer instead "freezing". The Control-Alt-Del key combination might reset the computer so that it tries to boot again, but a hardware reset will probably be needed. In other words, operate the reset button on the computer if it has one, or switch off, wait a few seconds, and then switch the PC back on again. If the boot process almost instantly falters again it is possible that there is a hardware fault, but a corrupted boot sector on the disc is the most likely cause of the problem.

#### **System files**

If the system files in the boot sector of the disc have become damaged, the obvious first step is to replace them. In order to do this the computer should be booted using the Windows Startup disc in drive A:. A Startup disc is normally made during the Windows installation process, but one can also be made by selecting Settings from the Start menu, and then choosing Control Panel and Add/Remove Programs (Figure 1.9). Next operate the Startup Disk tab on the Window that appears, and follow the onscreen prompts. Note that the Windows installation disc will be required during the creation of the Startup disc, as will a 1.44-megabyte (formatted or unformatted) floppy disc.

Of course, if you can not boot the PC into Windows it is not possible to make the Startup disc this way, so make sure you have one of these discs available before trouble strikes. If you do get "caught short", one option is to find a friend who has a PC running the same version of Windows that you are using, and use their PC to make a Startup disc. In fact I would recommend having two Startup discs available, so that you can try the second disc if the PC fails to boot from the first one.

With Windows 98 there is another option provided the PC can be booted in MS/DOS mode with CD-ROM support. Whether or not the PC boots with CD-ROM support depends on the way it has been set up, but the PC should really be supplied with the necessary drivers. in MS/DOS mode, set the CD-ROM drive as the current r command, and press the Return key:

#### cd tools\mtsutil\fat32ebd

Next place a formatted 1.44-megabyte disc in drive A:, then type this command and press the Return key:

#### fat32ebd

Type "Y" to confirm that you wish to proceed, and the files will then he transferred to the floppy disc. Albeit very slowly, this process produces what seems to be a more or less normal Windows 98 Startup disc, complete with CD-ROM support. The disc contains the utility programs such as Scandisk, but it does not produce a virtual disc. It is intended as a means of producing a virusfree boot disc having FAT32 support, but it can presumably be used as a generalpurpose emergency boot disc.

dd/Remo	ve Programs Properties
nstall/Un	nstall   Windows Setup   Startup Disk
	If you have trouble staring Windows 98, you can use a <sup>4</sup> startup disk to start your computer, run diagnos6c programs, and fix many problems
	To create a startup dist, click Create Dist. You will needlone floppy disk.
	Grade Disk.
1.M	
	OK Cancel grab

Fig.1.9 Creating a Windows Startup disc

#### **First boot**

With most PCs the BIOS is set so that the PC tries to boot from drive A: first, and then the hard disc (drive C:), so the computer should boot from drive A: without any problems. If not, check that the appropriate BIOS parameter has drive A: as the initial boot device, and change it if necessary. It is virtually certain that there is a hardware problem if the PC will not boot from floppy disc or from the hard disc drive.

Pre

ition is...

Assuming you can get the computer booted using the Startup disc, the basic System files can be replaced on the hard disc. Booting from the Startup disc results in the creation of a virtual disc in the computer's memory, and this contains the program needed to replace the system files. In the drive letter sequence the virtual disc is normally placed between the hard disc and the CD-ROM drive. If there is a single hard disc with one partition, this will be drive C:, the virtual disc will be drive D:, and the CD-ROM will be drive E:. With two hard disc drives or one drive having two partitions, the virtual and CD-ROM drives will be moved up by one letter, becoming drives E: and F:. For the sake of this example we will assume that there is one hard disc drive with a single partition, and that the virtual disc is drive D:.

First make the virtual disc the current drive by typing "D:" and pressing the Return key. Then type "dir" and press the Return key, which should bring up an onscreen list of the files on drive D:. One of these is "sys.com", the program needed to replace the system files. This program will only work if the system is on the default drive, so type "A:" to go back into drive A:, and then type this command to place the system files onto drive C::

#### E:\sys C:

After pressing the return key the program will immediately start copying the files from the floppy disc onto the hard disc. Assuming all goes well a "System Transferred" message will appear on the screen. Remove the Startup disc from drive A: and then press the Control, Alt, and Delete key together to reset the PC. With luck it will boot properly into Windows. At the very least the boot process should get further than it did previously, and with Windows 95 and 98 installations it should be possible to boot the computer in MS/DOS mode. This is not possible with Windows Me because the appropriate menu option is absent when the F8 function key is pressed at the start of the boot-up process. However, it may be possible to boot the computer in Safe mode even if this was not possible previously.

Reinstalling the basic system files will sometimes permit Windows to load again, but it is only fair to point out that it will fail to totally cure the problem in the majority of cases. All sys.com does is to reinstall the MS/ DOS system files, and it does not repair any of the Windows system files. If the PC still fails to boot properly into Windows it is a matter of delving further into the problem using the techniques described in chapter 2. If there is wholesale damage to the Windows files it may be a matter of reinstalling Windows. In an extreme case any important data on the hard disc that has not been backed up must be rescued, and then the hard disc wiped clean so that Windows can be installed "from scratch". Emergency rescue of data, backing up the hard disc, and reinstalling Windows are covered in chapters 3, 4, and 5.

#### Late problems

Sometimes Windows seems to get 90 percent of the way through the boot-up process before it comes to a halt. When this happens it is likely that the problem is in the Windows installation and not due to a hardware fault. When things come to a halt with an error message stating that a certain file or files could not be found, this indicates that the problem is within Windows itself. Matters are less clear cut if any error messages refer to an item of hardware, or Windows tries to reinstall an item of hardware that was previously installed correctly. It could be that the trouble is due to problems with a corrupted driver program, but it is also possible that a faulty item of hardware is giving the Windows Plug and Play facility some difficulties.



Fig.1.10 A typical expansion card. The mounting bracket is on the left

#### On the cards

Fixing hardware problems goes beyond the scope of this book, but it is covered in "Easy PC troubleshooting (BP484)" from the same publisher and author as this book. However, if the item of hardware that seems to be giving problems is an expansion card, it is probably worthwhile checking that it is properly seated in its expansion slot. To do this you will have to remove either the outer casing or a side panel, depending on the style of case used for your PC. An expansion card has a metal bracket that is used to secure it to the rear of the PC's chassis, and connections on the bottom edge that fit into the expansion slot. The metal bracket can be seen at the left end of the card shown in Figure 1.10, and the connections can be seen on the extended part of the card at the bottom.

To remove the card the fixing bolt on the mounting bracket must be removed (Figure 1.11), and then the card can be pulled free. Many PC



Fig.1.11 An expansion card ready for removal

expansion cards are vulnerable to damage from static charges. even those charges of modest voltage, so a certain amount of care must be exercised when pulling the card free of the expansion slot. In this case things are eased by the fact that the card does not need be to completely removed from the PC. It is just a matter of pulling the card free of the expansion slot and then pushing it firmly back into position again. This makes sure that the card is fully pushed down into place in its slot. Removing and



Fig.1.12 An expansion card can cause problems if its mounting bracket does not have the correct right-angled bend

replacing the card also tends to clean the connectors so that any connections that were previously a bit iffy make good contact once more.

In order to avoid damage from static charge it is advisable to leave the PC connected to the mains supply, but to switch it off at both the mains

#### 1 Prevention is...

socket and the PC's on/off switch. Although the PC is switched off it will be earthed to the mains earth connection. Touch the metal chassis of the chassis before pulling the card from its slot. This will remove any static charge in your body and should be sufficient to ensure that no harm comes to any of the PC's hardware. Make sure that the card is parallel to the slot as in the upper view of Figure 1.12, and not at an angle to it as in the lower view. The bend at the top of the mounting bracket is often something less than a perfect right angle, which tends to skew the card slightly as the fixing bolt is screwed into place. Therefore, make quite sure that the card stays parallel to the expansion slot when the card is fixed in place. If necessary, remove the card again and carefully bend the top of the bracket to produce a better approximation to a right angle.

#### **Diagnostics software**

Diagnostics software intended to help to locate the source of a hardware problem can be useful if you are unsure if a problem is due to an obscure Windows fault or an intermittent hardware problem. Suppose you have a PC that is largely working but seems to be a bit erratic or unreliable. Perhaps it sometimes boots into Windows all right but it hangs up on other occasions. Once into Windows, things may go perfectly well for a few minutes and then the computer suddenly crashes. This sort of thing can be caused by a software fault, but it is often due to something like a memory, processor, or disc problem.

If a problem only occurs when a certain applications program is run, the problem probably has its origins in that piece of software. Running hardware checks is then a little pointless, and it is matter of contacting the software publisher in search of a solution to the problem. Similarly, if the problem only occurs after a particular program has been used, it is very unlikely that either Windows or a hardware fault is the cause of the problem. It is again a matter of contacting the software publisher to see if there is a known problem with the applications program.

You may have some hardware diagnostics software, and if so it is certainly worthwhile running the software on a PC that is giving intermittent problems. In my experience, if a PC has a tendency to simply grind to a halt with the display freezing, the problem is more likely to be in the hardware than the software. This is also the case where things come to a halt with the screen going blank. The fault is more likely to be in the software if the dreaded Windows error messages ("This program has performed an illegal operation and will shut down", etc.) keep appearing. However, this is only a general rule and there are exceptions.

nfo Checkit Memory			
Type of Test		Memory Info.	View .oumal
Cleep Testing	Starl Test	Ophors	View Report
	Plesuits will be dre	played once testing is	completed
All Memory tound (except v Base Memory (0K-640K) Extended Memory (All abor Expanded Memory (EMS) Mideo Memory Rerations	To test system will glose Wim When the test and CheckIt wi close all open test. Purpose of Test This test will and extended a The program or by itself, DDS a mumber of te will discover i including bad	memory accu ately dows to perform this is complete Windows 11 display the resu programs barore ru test the base, upp many installed in a test memory furge, and Device Driver, in device Driver ting techniques, ti memory problems you ofte, bad adteres 1	the test s test. will restart its. Please anning this er, expanded your PC. atly occupied s. Through ne program any encounter, ines and

Fig.1.13 The Checkit memory test screen

Diagnostics programs will run tests on many parts of the system, including hard and floppy disc drives, the main memory, video memory, the processor, and the ports. Programs of this type sometimes operate under MS/DOS. This is primarily so that they can take control of the memory when making memory tests. Windows places restrictions on the way memory is allocated to programs, and would therefore place much of the memory beyond the reach of the diagnostics software. Even where diagnostics programs run under Windows, to make certain tests they will often reboot into MS/DOS to perform the tests, and then go back into Windows to display the results. Figure 1.13 shows the Checkit memory test screen, and Figure 1.14 shows an example set of test results after rebooting into MS/DOS and then back into Windows 98 again. This makes the testing rather longwinded, but it is perhaps a more convenient way of doing things than rebooting into MS/DOS and carrying out all the tests from there.

For those that prefer to use diagnostic programs from within MS/DOS rather than Windows there are still programs of this type available. In order to work properly a program of this type normally requires the PC to boot into a very basic MS/DOS environment that is free from any memory management programs or other software that runs in the

🔏 Ckmem.rpt - Notepad	
Eile Edit Search Help	
CheckIt (S/N:D8-271 Licensed To: Robert P	893) 🔺
NO FAILURES MEMORY TEST 05.00	01-27-2000 23;09
Memory Installed:	Selected for Test:
Base: 640K from 8 to Upper: None Extended: 95.000M from 1.000M to 96 Expanded: None Uideo: 256K UGA	640K All None .000M All None None
Test Setup: Quick	
Base/Upper Memory	Passed
Extended Memory	Passed
Expanded Memory	Skipped

Fig.1.14 A test result screen produced by Checkit

background. Even things like mouse and CD-ROM drivers have to be avoided in most cases. The PC is therefore booted using a basic floppy boot disc produced using the Format command with the /s switch, or using sys.com to copy the system files onto an otherwise blank disc.

A Windows Startup disc loads various drivers and other programs during the boot process and is unlikely to be suitable as the boot disc when using diagnostics software. With Windows 95 and 98 it is possible to perform a very basic MS/DOS boot-up by pressing the F8 function key as Windows starts to load, and then selecting option 6 (Safe mode command prompt only) from the menu that appears. This option is not available with Windows Me incidentally. With some of these programs the PC must be booted using a custom boot disc, and the instruction manual should give details of how this disc is produced.

Once into a diagnostics program of this type things are not much different to a Windows equivalent. Control is via the keyboard rather than using the mouse, but is otherwise similar. The same kinds of test are available, as can be seen from the screen shot of Figure 1.15, which shows the main screen of Amidiag 5.4. Figure 1.16 shows the result of a processor test using this program.

AMIDIAG PC Diagnos System Hemory Processor DMA Contro Interrupt B Timer Test P Breal Time C	IDE FDD SCSI Processor Tests asic Funct.orality rocessor Speed Test	r 5.42a (C) 199 KBD Video ( Test	93 American Megetrends Inc. U38 Misc User Opticns
CHOS Ualid EISA Syste C Speaker Te PCI System T Plug-n-Play T Multiprocesso MMX Test	oprocessor Test OMTINUE t est r Test		
(RUN <enter))< th=""><th>(EX)T (ZSC&gt;) Ions of CPU,</th><th>{Help <f1>}</f1></th><th>) EFUNCTI<u>C</u>M KEYS «P»&gt;</th></enter))<>	(EX)T (ZSC>) Ions of CPU,	{Help <f1>}</f1>	) EFUNCTI <u>C</u> M KEYS «P»>

Fig.1.15 The main screen of the Amidiag diagnostics program

If a fault only occurs intermittently it might be necessary to repeat the test procedures a few times in order to coax the system into an error while the diagnostics software is running. Obviously you should try to concentrate on tests that are likely to bring results, and not bother too much about tests on parts of the system that are unlikely to be causing the problem. Faults associated with the ports and the floppy disc drive are unlikely to be responsible for bringing the system to a halt at times when none of these are in use. On the other hand, you may as well give every part of the system a "quick once over" while you are using the diagnostics software, just in case the problem does actually lie in an unlikely part of the system. If the system has a tendency to hang up periodically, the memory, processor and video card are probably the most likely sources of the problem.

#### What is a virus?

Do not overlook the possibility of problems being caused by a computer virus. There is actually a variety of program types that can attack a computer system and damage files on any accessible disc drive. These

AMIDIAG PC Diagnostic Softw	are, Ver 5.42a	(C)	1998 American	Meyatı	ends Inc.
System Memory IDE FDD	SCSI KBD (	lideo	USB Misc	User	Options
Processor Test 1 CPU - AMD K6(R)-2	.04 - MMX	ſ	TEST F	ASSED	
Control Word Read/Write : FSTERW Instruction Test : FPU Stack Read/Write : Integer Rounding Test : Integer Loading Test : FPU Tag Condition :	ОК ОК ОК ОК	Cod	Réturn to Maj Browse Curren Browse All Te Erase Errar L - Errors in C le Parami P	n Henu it Test st Erro ist urrent aram2	Errors ors Test Param3
Tuste basic functions of CPI					

Fig.1.16 Processor test result produced by Amidiag

tend to be lumped together under the term "virus", but strictly speaking a virus is a parasitic program that can reproduce itself and spread across a system, or from one system to another. A virus attaches itself to other programs, but it is not immediately apparent to the user that anything has happened. A virus can be benign, but usually it starts to do serious damage at some stage, and will often infect the boot sector of the hard disc, rendering the system unbootable. It can also affect the FAT (file allocation table) of a disc so that the computer can not find some of the files stored on the disc. The partition table can also be affected, so that the reported size of a disc does not match up with its true capacity. The disc might even be rendered totally inaccessible. The less subtle viruses take more direct action such as attempting to erase or overwrite everything on the hard disc, or erasing the system files while flashing an abusive message on the screen.

A virus can be spread from one computer to another via an infected file, which can enter the second computer via a disc, a modem, or over a network. In fact any means of transferring a file from one computer to another is a potential route for spreading viruses. A program is really only a virus if it attaches itself to other programs and replicates itself. A
program is not a virus if it is put forward as a useful applications program but it actually starts damaging the system when it is run. This type of program is more correctly called a "Trojan horse" or just a "Trojan". Either way, these programs can cause immense damage to the files on the disc, but there should be no risk of any hardware damage occurring.

## Virus protection

This is a case where the old adage of "prevention is better than cure" certainly applies. There is probably a cure for every computer virus, but identifying and eradicating a virus can take a great deal of time. Also, having removed the virus there is no guarantee that all your files will still be intact. In fact there is a good chance that some damage will have been done. The ideal approach is to avoid doing anything that could introduce a virus into the system, but for most users this is not a practical proposition. These days computing is increasingly about communications between PCs and any swapping of data between PCs provides a route for the spread of viruses. It used to be said that PC viruses could only be spread via discs that contained programs, and that data discs posed no major threat. It is in fact possible for a virus to infect a PC from a data disc, but only if the disc is left in the drive and the computer tries to boot from it at switch-on.

These days there is another method for viruses to spread from data discs, and this is via macros contained within the data files. Obviously not all applications software supports macros, but it is as well to regard data discs as potential virus carriers. Some of the most widespread and harmful viruses in recent times have been propagated via Emails containing macros infected with a virus, so this problem is one that needs to be taken very seriously.

Given that it is not practical for most users to avoid any possible contact with computer viruses, the alternative is to rely on anti-virus software to deal with any viruses that do come along. Ideally one of the "big name" anti-virus programs should be installed on the system and it should then be kept up to date. This should ensure that any infected disc is soon spotted and dealt with. Software of this type is designed for use before any problems occur, and it normally runs in the background, checking any potential sources of infection as they appear. There is usually a direct mode as well, which enables discs, memory, etc., to be checked for viruses.



Fig.1.17 The ViruSweep start up screen

Figure 1.17 shows the start up screen for the Quarterdeck ViruSweep program, and selecting the "Scan For Viruses" option takes the user into further screens that permit various options to be selected. The first screen (Figure 1.18) permits the user to select the parts of the

ViruSweep Scan	? ×
QUARTHEAKER & VIR	USWEEP SCAN
Pre-defined scan sets	
Default So	ave Save as Remove
Brows Scan Properties Report	Ution Detection Schedule
How to Scan	What to Scan
Q Standard Scan	Files inside archive files
₢ Smart Scan	
C Remove integrity files	☐ All files
	Eiles to scan aways
☞ Sho <u>w</u> animation	
Help	can Now QK Cancel

Fig.1.18 The first ViruSweep screen when scanning for viruses

/iruSweep Scan	/iruSwei	<b>₽</b> ™	S	7 CAN
Pre-defined scan sets	Save	Save as	1 B	ema e
Browse Scan Properties	port   Upon Det	lection Sche	edule	
	Befresh			
	0			Cancel

Prevention is...

1

Fig.1.19 This screen enables the type of scan to be selected

system that will be checked. Viruses can exist in memory as well as in disc files, so checking the memory is normally an option. Further screens enable the type of scan to be selected (Figure 1.19), and the action to be taken if a virus is detected (Figure 1.20). Most anti-virus software has the option of removing a virus rather than simply indicating that it has been detected. Note though, that in some cases it might not be possible to automatically "kill" a virus. The program will then usually give details of how to manually remove the virus.

Things are likely to be very difficult if you do not use anti-virus software and your PC becomes infected. On the face of it, you can simply load an anti-virus program onto the hard disc and then use it to remove the virus. In practice it is definitely not advisable to try this method, and most software of this type will not load onto the hard disc if it detects that a virus is present. This may seem to greatly reduce the usefulness

ViruSweep Scan			?
(UNATHEOKCE	ViruSwe	₽ <sup>™</sup>	SCAN
Pre-defined scan sets			
Default	Save	Save <u>a</u> s	Bemove
Removable virus			
Askuser	O Delete file	C Recuit	inte file
O) Inform user	C Bemove virus		
I Write to alert file			

Fig.1.20 This screen gives control over the action taken when a virus is detected

of the software, but there is a good reason for not loading any software onto an infected system. This is the risk of further spreading the virus by loading new software onto the computer. With a lot of new files loaded onto the hard disc there is plenty of opportunity for the virus to infect more files.

Most viruses can actually be removed once they have infected a system, but not usually by loading a major piece of anti-virus software onto the hard disc and using it to remove the virus. The method offered by many anti-virus suites is to boot from a special floppy disc that contains antivirus software. With this method there is no need to load any software onto the hard disc, and consequently there is no risk of the anti-virus software causing the virus to be spread further over the system. With the Norton Anti-virus 2000 program a boot disc plus four support discs are made during the installation process (Figure 1.21). If boot problems



Fig.1.21 Most anti-virus programs can make recovery discs. Norton Anti-virus 2000 makes a set of five recovery discs

	Kescue Disk
Connands	Description
Introduction Norton AntiVirus Rescue Recovery	Norton AntiVirus
	Disk: Norton AntiVirus Program Disk
	Scans your system for viruses.
	Commonly Used Options /b+ Scan boot records /m+ Scan memory /repair Repair infected files /a Scan all drives except F: A B:
	Scanning takes a long time. To stop the scan, press Ctrl+Break.
NAUDX.EXE C: /b+ /n+	/repair

Fig.1.22 Virus scanning with the aid of the Norton Anti-virus 2000 recovery discs

occur at a later date, the PC can be booted using the Norton boot disc, and with the aid of the other discs a comprehensive range of virus scans can be undertaken (Figure 1.22). In some cases the virus can be removed automatically, and it might also be possible to have any damage to the system files repaired automatically as well.

Often it will soon become clear if a virus or similar program is the cause of Windows problems. The virus will proudly proclaim its presence with an onscreen message. In other cases it will not do so, making it difficult to determine whether the problem is due to a virus or a genuine problem with Windows. If there are repeated problems with the boot files becoming damaged or erased, it is very likely that a virus or similar program is responsible. A lot of inexplicable changes to the Windows Registry and other system or configuration files is also good grounds for suspicion.

## If at first...

There is plenty of anti-virus software available commercially, on the Internet at low cost or free, and it is often given away on the covermounted CD-ROMs supplied with computer magazines. If you suspect there may be a virus causing the problem it is best to use at least two and preferably three up to date anti-virus programs to check the PC's hard disc. Where applicable, download updates for the software so that you are using the most up to date versions that should detect any new viruses. There is no guarantee that the problem is not due to a virus in the event that the programs fail to detect one. On the other hand, it becomes an outside chance and it is probably better to follow other avenues of investigation rather than pursue a virus that is probably not there.

It is only fair to point out that even if the anti-virus software does find a virus and kill it, you may still need to do some work in order to get the computer up and running again. The anti-virus program may be able to repair all the damage inflicted by the virus, but there is a fair chance that the damage will be too great for everything to be fixed. Anyway, with the virus killed off you are at least in a position to start repairing the damage and return things to normality.

Before continuing with this it is not a bad idea to give some thought to the way in which the virus found its way into your PC. There is otherwise a risk that it will soon return and undo the repairs you have made. If you had been using some discs from another computer prior to the problem occurring, check all those discs using the anti-virus programs. Bear in mind that many viruses have a sort of gestation period, and that there can be a substantial gap between the virus program finding its way into your PC and the program actually starting to do its worst. Ideally you should check all discs that have been used with the PC in the previous few weeks or even months.

# **Closing notes**

It helps to avoid problems if the PC is closed down in the approved fashion at the end of each session. Simply switching off with Windows still running is unlikely to do any harm, but is certainly not a good idea. Switching off with applications programs running is worse, and can lead to problems with Windows or the applications programs. One potential cause of difficulties is that Windows itself and many applications programs place temporary files on the hard disc drive. When Windows and the applications programs are shut down in the correct manner

X-Stream Clientí [Not	esponding]	
Microsoft Word - Ch1	Joc	
Deliorer	and the second second	Concession of the local division of the loca
Realplay		And the Party of t
Rraepp		
Directod		
Lvicoms		
Stemon		an ta an an ta 🖬
Gadeve 32		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
WARNING, Pressing computer You will los are running	CTRL+ALT+DEL again e unsaved information	will restart your in all programs that

Fig.1.23 The Close Programs window, which can also be used to close Windows itself

#### 1 Prevention is...

these files are deleted. If you simply switch off with things still running, or the PC is suddenly switched off due to a power failure or hardware fault, these files are left on the disc. This may not matter, but there is a risk of the files confusing matters when the PC is switched on again.

Even if you do close down Windows correctly every time, it is still possible to run into difficulties with problem software. You are unlikely to use Windows for very long without encountering a program that either just "freezes" and does not respond to the mouse or keyboard. The more interesting variation is the program that starts to behave erratically with commands having the wrong effect, odd things happening on the screen, etc. Often when this occurs the program fails to close down when the cross icon in the top right-hand corner of the screen is operated. Once an application program has gone seriously awry it is not uncommon for Windows itself to behave erratically, and it will often fail to close down properly.

Wherever possible applications and Windows should be shut down properly, or in a reasonably orderly fashion, rather than simply resorting to the on/off switch or Reset button. Windows does provide an escape route that will usually do the trick if the PC becomes seriously "gummed up". With MS/DOS the Control-Alt-Delete key combination resets the computer, but it has a somewhat different effect in Windows 95/98/Me. Rather than immediately resetting the PC, a message appears on the screen, as in Figure 1.23. These four options are available:

- 1 Press Control-Alt-Delete again to reset the computer, which will then reboot
- 2 Operate the Cancel button to return to Windows without changing anything
- 3 Operate the End Task button to close the program that is highlighted in the program list
- 4 Operate the Shut Down button to shut down Windows

If an application program is proving troublesome and can not be shut down in the usual way, the third option offers a possible solution to the problem. You may well be puzzled at the number of programs in the list, since with Windows and a couple of applications programs running there could be half a dozen or more programs listed. The reason for the discrepancy is that modern PCs tend to have various background tasks running. In the list of Figure 1.23, amongst other things there is a screen capture program and the driver software for a CD-ROM writer. Explorer is effectively Windows itself incidentally, so if you close that program Windows will shut down.



Fig.1.24 When this message appears it should finally be possible to close down the troublesome program

To close a program using this route, simply left-click on its entry in the program list and then operate the End Task button. This never seems to instantly shut down the program, and instead a further message appears on the screen (Figure 1.24). Note that this second message can appear within a couple of seconds, or it can take some time, so be patient and wait to see what happens. If you have made a mistake and chosen the wrong program, left-click on the Cancel button and then press Control-Alt-Delete again so that you can have another try. Operate the End Task button to close the program. Incidentally, this is not meant to be a normal method of closing a program, and should only be used in an emergency, or to close down a background task that can not be terminated in any other way.

The PC may operate normally once a troublesome program has been closed down. If so, I would not recommend simply carrying on as if nothing had happened. It is safer to save any unsaved data and close down any applications that are running. Then restart Windows and launch the applications programs again. This way you should manage to avoid any nasty surprises that the rogue application might have left behind.

1110	10	
nuu	 13	in ni

Find: All Files	3		
jile <u>E</u> dit ⊻iew	Options Help		
Name & Locatio	Date Advanced		
			Find Now
Named.			Sing
<u>Containing tex</u>	t		Ne <u>w</u> Search
Look in:	(C)		2
1	include subfolders	Browse.	
			R

Fig.1.25 Using the Find Files or Folders facility of Windows Explorer

# **Emergency exit**

Unfortunately, in situations where the crashed software has managed to get Windows seriously out of kilter it may not be possible to regain proper control. Where possible, save any unsaved data before trying to exit Windows. Try to close any running applications programs via the normal route first, or by way of the Control-Alt-Delete route if that proves to be impossible. Where possible Windows should be closed down via the Start menu in the normal fashion, but if this proves fruitless or impossible, try the Control-Alt-Delete method.

If the Shut Down button does not have the desired effect, press Control-Alt-Delete again to check for more programs that are not responding. If no crashed programs are reported, pressing Control-Alt-Delete again will probably reset the PC and get the system out of Windows. Another option is to start closing down the background tasks one by one in an attempt to regain proper control of the PC. It is quite likely that a fault in one of these programs is causing the problem, and by a process of elimination it should be possible to find the culprit.

If Windows has well and truly crashed, often the screen will freeze or the computer will ignore input from the keyboard or the mouse buttons. Another possibility is that you will find yourself going round in "ever decreasing circles" repeatedly closing down Windows without it actually closing down. In these situations it is probably not worthwhile trying to find an orderly exit route. It is quite likely that there is no tidy way of

🛐 Find: Files n	amed reboot.vxd			
Eile Edit View	w <u>O</u> ptions <u>H</u> elp			
Name & Locat	ion Date Advanced	1		
Named	reboot.vxd			Find Now
Containing te	xt:			New Search
Lookin	(C:)		-	2
1	Include <u>s</u> ubfolde <b>rs</b>	Browse		
Name There are no item	In Folder is to show in this view			Size Type
		R		
4				
O file(s) found		Monitoring New Item	IS	

Fig.1.26 In this case the search proved fruitless, and another avenue of investigation had to be pursued

closing down Windows once things get this badly messed up. Simply press the reset button or switch the PC off, wait a few seconds, then switch it on again and hope.

Sometimes the Control-Alt-Delete combination will fail to bring up the Close Program window. This can be due to a surplus reboot.vxd file, and deleting the unnecessary file should solve the problem. Start by using Windows Explorer to search for files of this name. Go to the Tools menu and then select Find followed by Files or Folders. This will bring up a Window like the one shown in Figure 1.25. Enter "reboot.vxd" as the name of the file to search for, make sure that you are checking drive C: and that the "include subfolders" checkbox is ticked. Left-click the Find Now button and the program will search all the folders on drive C: for the file. It should not find it, giving a Window like Figure 1.26 once the search has been completed. If "reboot.vxd" is found, left-click on its entry to highlight it, and then either select Delete from the Edit menu or just press the Delete key.



Fig.1.27 The Windows 98 System Information screen includes information about the amount of memory currently in use

# **Background information**

As pointed out in the previous section, most modern PCs usually have a number of background tasks in operation, and not just Windows plus any applications you are running. If you use the Control-Alt-Delete immediately after a PC has booted into Windows you will probably find quite a list of programs, and not just Windows Explorer in the program list. Some of these programs are probably providing essential Windows functions, while others are drivers for complex pieces of hardware, antivirus monitoring routines, etc.

In theory there should be no problem in having numerous background tasks provided the PC has enough memory to accommodate everything. In practice the PC might not have sufficient memory to accommodate all the programs if there is a large number of them and you use memory hungry applications. Also, if your PC has only the minimum recommended amount of memory for the version of Windows in use, having large numbers of background tasks is inviting problems. The appearance of error messages mentioning illegal operations, fatal exception errors, and page faults are often indicative of faulty memory or inadequate memory allied with poor memory management.

With any version of Windows 95, 98 or Me you can check the amount of free memory by running the System Information utility. From the Start

1

la Help and Support			X Star
Microsoft" Help and	Support	Search	60
🗢 🥩 Hume I Index I	Assested suppliert & Tours & to	itorials	
* Fijo * Egit * View * Tgale	- Help		
System Stammon Br Holdware Resources Bi Components Software Environment Bi Internet Explorer Internet Explorer	Imm OS Nems OS Nems System Name System Name System Name System Name System Name System Name System Name System Name System Name System Name DOS "rester Uncate Tratal "hys/Dal Memory Available Physical Memory Page Tab Space	Value Microsoft Windows 4 50.0000 Build 3000 Microsoft Corporation ROBERT FE VID. Technologia: Inc. VTR2C539 X88-baund PC AMD KSIIm 30 processor AuthenticAMD: "500 MHz Aved Module BIOS VLSIPG CVMNROUWS Uniter Kingdom GMT Standard Time 55.50 MB 1.05 GB 1.75 GB	
	1		1 1

Fig.1.28 This Is the Windows Me version of the system information screen

menu select Accessories, System Tools, and then System Information. The Windows 98 version of this utility is shown in operation in Figure 1.27. The important figure here is the one that gives the percentage of system resources that are free. In this example some 72 percent is free, which should give trouble-free operation.

Figure 1.28 shows the Windows Me equivalent, which does not present the information in quite the same way. The total physical memory is quoted, which is the amount of RAM fitted to the computer. This seems to be about 1 megabyte less than the amount of RAM actually installed, and I would guess that it does not include the lowest 1-megabyte which is used by MS/DOS but not by 32-bit versions of Windows. The virtual memory includes hard disc space that can be used as a sort of slow alternative to RAM. In the example of Figure 1.28 the PC has 95megabytes of RAM, of which only about 6-megabytes are free. As things stand there is no major problem, but running another major application would seem to be out of the question.

Another potential problem is that of the background tasks proving to be incompatible. In theory this should not happen, but with something as

complex as this there is always a chance of things going wrong, and in practice things will go wrong from time to time. The computer might simply "freeze", but a more likely outcome is that an error message will appear, probably explaining that a task has a fatal problem and that it will shut down.

With this type of thing it is easy to jump to conclusions that the program that has generated the error message is the one that is causing the problem. It can in fact be due to one program interfering with another program and causing it to crash. If a variety of programs suddenly have a tendency to crash it is likely that there is a problem in Windows itself or a background **task** is causing problems.

If a problem starts just after some new software has been added it is always likely that there is a problem with the new software. In cases where the new software includes a background task it is that much more likely that the new software is responsible for the system's instability. If problems occur after new software has been installed, it is worthwhile uninstalling the program to see if normality returns. When a new program does seem to be the culprit it is a matter of contacting the software publisher to see if they can offer any assistance. Some background tasks seem to be mutually incompatible, and you may have to opt for leaving one or other of them off the system.

## System Tray

The System Tray, also known as "Systray" is at the bottom right corner of the main Windows screen, and here you will find icons for a number of background tasks, such as audio control panel, anti-virus software, etc., and the Windows clock. These programs, and probably a number of others, are launched as part of the Windows start-up routine. If you suspect that something here is giving problems, it is possible to stop the program from loading via the System Configuration utility. In order to start this utility select Programs from the Start menu, followed by System Tools and System Information. Then choose System Configuration Utility from the Tools menu and left-click on the Startup tab. This should produce a window something like Figure 1.29.

All the programs that run at start up are listed here, and there is a checkbox beside each one. Uncheck the box for any program that you do not wish to be launched at start up. Alternatively, if there is a program that should be launched at start up but it is failing to appear, make sure that it is in the list and that its checkbox is ticked. Some of the entries in

⊻iew <u>H</u> elp	
neral Config.sys Autoe	kec.bat System.ini Win.ini Startup
elect the check box to ena tartup item.	ble a startup item, or clear the cneck box to disable a
SystemTroy pncchk midiset MHInit Adaptec DirectCD ScanRegistry TaskMonitor AtiCwd32 LocdPowerProfile Atikey StillmageMonitor GrcSys32 DXM6Patch 981116	SysTray Exe pnpchk exe midiset exe C\Program Files\CyberMedia Uninstaller\ c\PROGRA~1\CD-WRI^1\DIRECTCD\DI C\WINDOWS\scanregw exe /autorun C\WINDOWS\scanregw exe /autorun C\WINDOWS\staskman.exe Aticwd32.exe Rundli32.exe powrprof.dll.LoadCurrentPwrS Atitask.exe C\WINDOWS\SYSTEM\STIMON.EXE C\WINDOWS\SYSTEM\STIMON.EXE C\Program Files\LibertySurl\GrdSys32.exc C\WINDOWS\p_981136.exe /Q:A

Fig.1.29 The System Configuration utility enables the user to decide which programs are run at start up

the list are sometimes a bit cryptic, but you should be able to find the ones you need. Note that some of the programs are part of Windows and not software you have added to the basic installation. For example, the Registry Checker utility is run each time Windows starts up. When you have finished, operate the Apply and OK buttons. You will then be asked if you would like to restart the computer. The changes will not take effect until Windows has rebooted.



## Points to remember

Do not mess around with the Windows Registry or configuration files unless you know exactly what you are doing.

Do not delete files manually unless you are sure it is safe to remove them. Where possible, programs should be removed using their own uninstall utility or the built-in facility of Windows.

Avoid using any form of beta or test software. If you wish to experiment with software of dubious stability, have a PC specifically for this purpose. Try to avoid using old software that was not written for 32-bit versions of software. Modern software is safer and should run much better.

Do not blame Windows if things grind to a halt before the boot-up sequence starts. A failure this early in the start up sequence is due to a hardware fault or an error in the BIOS settings.

A hardware fault can be responsible for the boot-up process failing almost as soon as it starts, or never actually starting. However, it could be due to damaged or missing boot files, so try replacing them using the MS/ DOS Sys program.

If you have access to some diagnostics software, use it to check that the problem is not due to a hardware fault. Make sure the expansion cards are fitted into their expansion slots correctly.

If the boot process stalls late in the boot sequence check that the hardware drivers are properly installed. One of the programs that runs at start up could also be the cause of the problem.

The fact that a virus has not announced its presence does not mean it is not there. If there are inexplicable problems with the system use antivirus programs to scan the files on the hard disc, recently used floppy discs, etc. Ideally an anti-virus program should be installed on the PC and used to make regular checks of the system.

Do not switch off your PC while Windows is still running. Shut down Windows first, and then switch off your PC if it is a type that does not switch off automatically.

Even if the operating system or applications software are behaving abnormally, try to close down the system properly.

Do not get your computer to "bite off more than it can chew". There is a limit to the amount of software that a PC can have running at the same time. The operating system can be damaged if the computer keeps running out of resources and crashing.

# Troubleshooti

# **Booting problems**

Many users of MS/DOS were surprised at the ease with which the new operating system could be halted in its tracks when they moved to Windows 95. A relatively simple operating system such as MS/DOS does not usually fail to boot unless there is damage to one of the boot files. When things go wrong it will throw up a few error messages during the boot process, and it may not operate exactly as you would like once the system has booted, but the system will usually boot. Having booted, it will to a large extent be functioning and usable.

The situation is different with a complex operating systems such as Windows 95, 98, and Me which are dependent on numerous files being present and correct on the hard disc. If any one of these files is damaged or absent, or a configuration file erroneously specifies a file that is not present, the boot process will often stop about half way through the process. In fact quite minor problems seem to bring the boot process to a halt, such as the system running out of "environmental space", which seems to mean a lack of memory set aside for use as buffers, for use by the PATH command, etc.

Windows 95/98/Me do not operate under the "boot anyway" philosophy of MS/DOS. This cautious approach could be by accident rather than design, but it is probably a safety measure to ensure that the system only boots if it can do so reliably. With a more complex operating system such as Windows 95, 98, or Me the last thing you need is the system booting but then running amok.

Not all Windows problems centre on boot problems, but it is probably true to say that the vast majority do. Windows can boot normally and then give difficulties, but this is often the result of problems elsewhere in the system. Hardware faults and bugs in applications software can both produce this kind of behaviour. Much of this chapter is therefore devoted to boot problems, and it is this topic that is covered first.

#### Jubleshooting



Fig.2.1 The upgrade version of Windows 95 others seven options

# Safety first

Do not jump to the conclusion that the system has become unusable because Windows crashes during the boot-up sequence. There could be a major problem, but it is worth resetting the computer a couple of times to see if the problem clears itself. Also try switching off, waiting a few seconds, and then turning the PC on again. There can be an occasional problem with a piece of hardware failing to reset properly at switch-on. Switching the PC off and on again will usually clear this sort of problem. If that fails, boot in Safe mode (as described in the next part of this chapter), shut down Windows in the usual way, and then try rebooting normally.

When repeated attempts to boot the system result in the boot process coming to a premature end, Windows should be booted in Safe mode again. This is a sort of very basic "boot at all costs" mode that can be used when troubleshooting. There are other modes that can be useful when Windows troubleshooting. In order to boot into one of these modes the F8 function key must be pressed as soon as the BIOS start up routine ends and the boot process begins.



Fig.2.2 Windows Me offers just four start up options

There is only a very brief gap between the BIOS finishing its start up processes and the system starting to boot, so you must press F8 as soon as the BIOS has finished its routine. In fact with some systems the only reliable way of entering Safe mode is to repeatedly press F8 as the end of the start up routine approaches. Pressing F8 when using Windows 98 brings up the simple menu system shown here:

#### Microsoft Windows 98 Startup Menu

- 1. Normal
- 2. Logged (\BOOTLOG.TXT)
- 3. Safe mode
- 4. Step-by-step confirmation
- 5. Command prompt only
- 6. Safe mode command prompt only

#### 2 Troubleshooting

# In the mode

There is an additional option in the Windows 95 equivalent (Figure 2.1), but this only appears in the upgrade version. Windows Me has a much reduced set of options (Figure 2.2), and is more dependent on Safe mode than the other versions of Windows, so we will consider Windows Me separately. It is perhaps worth considering the various Windows 95 and 98 options before proceeding to consider Safe mode in detail.

#### 1. Normal

Booting using the Normal option takes the PC through a normal Windows boot-up process, but is obviously of no use if this process fails and the computer hangs up.

#### 2. Logged mode

Logged mode produces a normal boot sequence, but a log of the boot processes is placed in a text file on the boot drive. As we shall see later, this can be useful in determining the cause of a boot failure.

#### 3. Safe mode

Safe Mode boots into Windows, but only a minimalist version of the operating system. The display is a basic 640 by 480 pixel type using 16 colours, and items of hardware such as the soundcard, CD-ROM drive and modem will not be operational in this mode. Some of the Windows facilities either fail to operate at all or only work in a simplified mode. Because Safe Mode provides a very basic version of Windows it is usually possible to boot in this mode even if the Windows installation is badly damaged. Unfortunately, once into Safe mode it can sometimes be difficult to track down the cause of the problem and fix it due to the reduced functionality.

#### 4. Step-by-step confirmation

Using step-by-step confirmation means that Windows will ask the user for confirmation before processing configuration files, device drivers, etc. The point of this is that it enables parts of the boot process to be bypassed, and this can help to locate the cause of the problem. In many cases it can also help to get the PC booted into a version of Windows that has more functionality than Safe Mode, possibly making it easier to sort out the cause of the problem.

## 5. Command prompt only

The "Command prompt only" option boots the computer into the Windows 95 or 98 version of MS/DOS. Depending on how the PC is set up, this might get some of the hardware such as the CD-ROM drive and soundcard working, whereas they are left non-functioning in Safe Mode. However, when Windows fault finding it is often better to boot from drive A: using a Windows Startup disc rather than use this mode. The Startup disc provides some useful utility programs which are not necessarily available when booting into the Command prompt mode from drive C:.

## 6. Safe mode command prompt

Do not confuse option 3 (Safe Mode) with option 6 (Safe mode command prompt only). Using option 6 results in the PC booting into a very basic version of MS/DOS, with the autoexec.bat and config.sys files being ignored. One reason for using this mode is that the PC will always boot into MS/DOS provided the boot files are intact. Anything in the configuration files that causes the boot to fail will be ignored. It is unusual for an entry in the configuration files to prevent MS/DOS from booting, but it can occasionally happen. This is usually when a severe case of recursion results in the boot up process repeating something indefinitely. Another reason for using this mode is that some diagnostics and antivirus software requires the PC to be booted into a "clean" version of MS/ DOS having no drivers, etc., installed. This mode provides an easy way of booting into a completely "clean" version of MS/DOS.

## 7. Previous MS/DOS mode

As pointed out previously, option 7 is only provided when using the upgrade version of Windows 95. Normally this will have been installed on top of MS/DOS, and with this option it is possible to boot into the version of MS/DOS that was installed prior to the upgrade. This option is presumably included to make it easier to run MS/DOS applications software, and it is probably not of any value in the current context.

# Using Safe mode

Select option three to boot the system in Safe mode, or simply use F5 rather than F8 to skip the menu and boot straight into this mode. As pointed out previously, booting the system in Safe mode will almost invariably get the PC into Windows, and the computer will be "up and running" to some extent. A warning message towards the end of the

ScanDisk - (C:)		15.	and one	
3				
Select the drive(s) you want to	check for errors			
3½ Floppy (A.)				
Type of test				
C Stangard				
(checks files and folder	s for errors)			
Thorough				
(performs Standard test	and scans disk	surface for e	errors)	Options
Automatically fox errors				
		ß		
	Start		Close	Advanced.

Fig.2.3 Scandisk offers two basic modes of operation, which are Standard and Thorough

boot process explains that Safe mode provides a simplified version of the operating system. It is only intended to permit problems with the system to be traced and fixed, and it is not designed to permit the system to be used normally. I suppose that in an emergency it might be possible to run applications programs in Safe mode, but this is something that should only done when suitably desperate.

One major difference between Safe mode and normal operation is the lack of proper hardware support. The video card will of course function, but only in a basic VGA mode. Exotic pieces of hardware will not function because their drivers will not have been loaded, and even some basic pieces of hardware such as the CD-ROM drive and the soundcard will not function for the same reason. Provided the mouse is a reasonably standard type is should still function in Safe mode. It is important to realise that the lack of hardware support is not the only failing. Some of the facilities provided by the operating system will also be lacking, which is a pity because this can sometimes make life difficult when trying to sort out a problem.

SenDiai	k ((T)	
30		
Select Sc	anDisk Results - (C:)	
3%	ScanDisk did not find any errors on this drive.	
	13,328,912 KB total disk space	
	0 bytes in bad sectors	
- Type	20,946,944 bytes in <b>2</b> 405 tolders	
C el	43.597.824 bytes in 286 hidden files	
	5,823,944 KB in 40,648 user files	
C 1	7,441,936 KB available on disk	
	8,192 bytes in each allocation unit	
	1,666.114 total allocation units on disk	
Comple	930,242 available allocation units	
	Close	
	Cancel	

Fig.2.4 Scandisk provides a report once a scan has been completed

## **Basic checks**

Once the PC is booted in Safe mode you can undertake some basic checks, and the usual starting point is the Windows Scandisk utility, which can be accessed from the Start menu by selecting Programs, Accessories, System Tools, and Scandisk. The Scandisk utility seems to be the much same in both Windows 95 and 98, and it offers two modes of operation. These are Standard and Thorough modes, and you operate the radio buttons to select the one you require (Figure 2.3).

The Standard check looks for irregularities in the file and folder structure. This includes simple things like filenames that do not adhere to the rules, and more serious problems such as one sector of the disc being assigned to two or more files. Program crashes can leave problems of these types, so it is not a bad idea to run Scandisk if a program comes to an unscheduled finish. If you tick the appropriate checkbox Scandisk will try to repair any errors that it finds.

Initially I would recommend using the Standard mode with the checkbox ticked. This test should be relatively fast, taking no more than a few

System roperties	? ×
General Device Manager Hardware Profiles Performance	
C. San more to use . C. Consideration in pressions	
CORTIGUENT  CORTI	
Properties Remove Print	
DK Ca	ncel

minutes. If the program discovers any problems it will report them via onscreen messages, and at the end it also gives a brief summary of its findings (Figure 2.4). Unfortunately, if Scandisk does find some errors and fixes them, this does not necessarily mean that the Windows will then boot perfectly. The problems will be fixed in the sense that filenames will adhere to the rules, linked files will be unlinked so that each sector of the disc is assigned to

Flg.2.5 The System Properties screen

only one file, and so on. Any damaged files may not be fully restored using Scandisk. If one file partly overwrites another file there is no way that a utility program such as Scandisk can restore the overwritten part of the file. Unless you have a backup copy the damaged file will be lost permanently. However, Scandisk should at least restore order to the disc if things have gone wrong, improving the chances of getting things running smoothly again.

The Thorough mode performs the same tests as the Standard mode, but it additionally carries out a surface scan of the disc. In other words, it checks that there are no weak spots on the disc that are causing data to become corrupted. It is certainly worth using the Thorough mode if you suspect that the disc itself may be causing problems. Note though, that a thorough check of this type on a large hard disc drive will take quite a long time. It will probably take a few hours rather than a few minutes for the test to be completed.

## **Hardware drivers**

Devices such as soundcards, video cards, and even the built-in interfaces of the PC such as the parallel and USB ports require drivers to integrate

tem Properties				?
ieneral Device Mana	ger Hardware	Profiles Perform	nasce	
View devices by §	rpe C	View devices by	gannection	n
Hard disk co	ntrollers			
9 🔄 Imaging Dev	ice			
+ Keyboard				
🕀 🤯 Modem				
+ 🛃 Monitors				
🗄 🕤 Mouse				
Logitech	First/Pilot Mous	e Serial (M34,M	35,C43)	
SPS/2 Co	mpatible Mouse	Port		
19 19 Network ada	pters			
😑 🔷 Pen				
1. Microgra	f Tabby 2		()	2
Ports (COM &	LPT)			
B Sound, video	and game con	trollers		
AZTECH	2320 (FnF) Gar	neport Joystick I	Device	
AZTECH	2320 (FnF) MP	J-401 Device		
Aztech 2	320 Compétible	PnP Audio (WDI	M)	-
Properties	Retresh	Remov	e	Print.
				_
			OK	Cancel
			11	

Fig.2.6 Device Manager uses yellow exclamation marks to indicate problems with items of hardware

them with the Windows operating system. Problems with Windows drivers are not exactly a rarity, and it is best to check for driver faults sooner rather than later. The normal way of doing this is to go into Device Manager. This can be run from the Start menu by selecting Settings, Control Panel, and then double clicking on the System icon. Left-click on the Device Manager tab of the window that appears, and you will then have a screen something like Figure 2.5.

Normally there will be a yellow exclamation mark (I) against an entry if the program has detected a problem with the item of hardware in that category. Double clicking on an entry in the table expands it to show all the drivers in that category and where appropriate there will be an exclamation mark against an entry (Figure 2.6). In fact Windows will

Creative SB32 PnP Properties	? X
General Driver Resources	
Creative SB32 PnP	
Device type: Other devices	
Manufacturer: None specified.	
Hardware version 1.0.12	1
Device status	
Status is not available, when Windows is running in Sale Mode.	
Device usage	
Disable in the bardware profile	
F Exists in all hardware profiles	
OK Ca	ncel

Fig.2.7 Device Manager can be less than forthcoming when used in Safe mode

usually expand a category for you if it contains an item of hardware that seems to have a problem. In normal operation it is possible to doubleclick on an entry that has a question or exclamation mark in order to get further details on the problem.

Unfortunately, in Safe mode Device Manager is not fully operational, and its diagnostic abilities are practically zero. Figures 2.5 and 2.6, which actually show the Device Manager for the same computer but running

in Safe mode and Normal mode respectively, demonstrate this point. If you try to get status information in Safe mode you simply get a message of the type shown in Figure 2.7, explaining that status information is not available in Safe mode. In order to use Device Manager properly it is necessary to get the PC booted in normal mode, even if this means bypassing some parts of the boot-up process and having Windows less than fully operational for the time being. This can usually be achieved using the step-by-step confirmation method of booting, as described later in this chapter.

## **Old hardware**

It is best not to jump to conclusions where the PC is one that has been in use for some time and it has undergone some changes to the hardware over the years. In the example of Figure 2.6 the faulty mouse is in fact one that had been removed long ago and replaced by a mouse port type. The driver for the old mouse had not been removed, but the PC worked properly because the drivers for the new mouse had been installed properly. This demonstrates the point that problems with hardware will not necessarily prevent Windows from booting. With things such as mice and soundcards the PC will often boot-up even if there is a problem, but the hardware concerned will not work properly. The drivers for more crucial items of hardware such as the hard disc drive and the video card are more likely to bring the boot process to a halt.

Where hardware problems are found in Device Manager it certainly makes sense to sort them out before trying to proceed further. This might get the system working properly again or there could still be boot problems, but it at least clears away some potential causes of the problem. Reinstalling drivers can be problematic with the old drivers still in place. Even though there is a suspected problem with the existing ones, Windows can be reluctant to replace them with drivers that do not have a later date.

It is best to remove the existing drivers and then shut down Windows and reboot the system. Drivers are easily removed using Device Manager, and it is just a matter of left clicking on the relevant entry to highlight it and then operating the Remove button. Left-click on the OK button when the warning message appears on the screen (Figure 2.8). The relevant entry should then disappear from the list of devices. Note that it is not possible to select and remove a category from the Device Manager list.

Where all the drivers in a category are giving problems they must be removed individually. Even where (say) just one out of four drivers for a soundcard is not working properly, it is best to remove all the drivers and reinstall everything "from scratch". The drivers can be reinstalled via Device Manager provided the system was not booted in Safe mode. If the system can only be booted in Safe mode it is worth trying the Add New Hardware option of the Control Panel, which usually seems to work in this mode. Note also that some hardware drivers have their own installation program and do not have to use the standard Windows methods. Before attempting to reinstall the drivers make sure you read the manufacturer's installation instructions.

If you have an Internet connection it is a good idea to check the manufacturer's web site to see if a more recent version of the driver software is available. There are usually frequent updates to the drivers for newer items of equipment. In general it is not a good idea to install an updated driver with the old version still in place, so use Device Manager to remove the original driver before installing the new one. One exception to this is where the updated driver is not actually a full set of driver software. Sometimes the new version uses some of the original

M	
System Properties	X
A General Device Manager Hardware Profiles Performance	
View devices by type C View devices by connection	
Computer	
Display adapters     Display disk controllers	
B     Confirm Device Removal     ? ×       B     Confirm Device Removal     ? ×	
Warning: You are about to remove this device from your system.	
4 AL REAL BK Cancel	
R Properties Refresh Remove Print.	
OK Cancel	

Fig.2.8 Device drivers are easily removed using Device Manager

files, while changing other files and (or) adding new ones. As always, read the installation instructions before installing the new software. This should state whether or not the original drivers should be left in place or removed. It is does not, then the old drivers should be removed prior to installing the new ones.

## Hardware problems

If repeated reinstallation of the drivers fails to clear the yellow exclamation marks, and updated drivers do not help either, it is quite likely that the cause of the trouble is a hardware fault. In the case of an expansion card, check that it is fitted in its expansion slot using the simple method

	Commu <b>nicaro</b>
tem Properties	1
eneral Device Manager Hardware Profile	s Performance
AZTECH 2320 (PnP) MPU-401 Device	Properties
General Driver Resources	
42TECH 232E (PhP) MPU-40	31 Device
Cevice type: Sound, video and	game controllars
Manufacturer: AztechiLabs	
Hardware version: 1,0.02	
Device status	
This device cannot find any free Inte resources to use (Code 12.)	arrupt Request (IRQ)
If you want to use this device, you m that is using the resources this devi Hardware Troubleshocter and follo wizard.	nust disable another device ce needs. To do this, click w the instructions in the
	Hardware Troubleshooter
- Device usage	
Disable in this hardware profile	
Exists in all hardware profiles	ß
	OK Cance-
V	And the second s

Fig.2.9 When Windows is booted in Normal mode, Device Manager will give some details of hardware or driver problems

outlined in chapter 1. If the PC can be booted in normal mode, use Device Manager to check the cause of the problem. Double-click on the entry for the troublesome device to bring up a window like the one in Figure 2.9. The program may be vague in its reporting of the fault, stating something along the lines that the device is not working properly, and that the hardware is faulty or the drivers are not installed.

In the example of Figure 2.9 it is quite specific, reporting that there is a hardware conflict. In other words, this device needs to use resources of the computer that are already used by another piece of hardware. A

#### 2 Troubleshooting

problem of this type should not occur if the PC has been in use and working well for some time. It is more the type of thing that happens when new hardware is added to a PC. A hardware conflict is not strictly speaking a Windows problem, and goes beyond the scope of this book. Windows provides some built-in help for dealing with this type of thing in the form of the Hardware Troubleshooter. This can be launched by operating the Hardware Troubleshooter button in the Device Properties window. Wizards will then guide you through the process of sorting things out. With luck the problem will soon be cured, but if inadequate resources are available for all the hardware there will be no alternative to disabling one of the devices producing the conflict.

# Logging

If no problems can be found with the hardware, or sorting out the problems that are found makes no different to the boot problems, it is time to look elsewhere for the fault. Newly installed software that makes a mess of a configuration file is probably the most common cause of Windows start up problems. If the system refuses to boot just after some new software has been installed it is odds-on that the installation program has made a mistake somewhere in the process. There are two options in the Windows 95/98 start up menu that help you to discover the root cause of the fault when the system refuses to boot. The first of these is option two, which provides a logged start up.

Depending on the way your PC is configured, it may provide a long string of messages detailing what is happening during the boot process, or it may suppress these messages. Even if these messages are displayed, on a modern PC you often find that many of them scroll off the screen so fast that there is little chance of reading them. The basic function of the logged boot up is to write these messages to a file called Bootlog.bt that is placed in the root directory of the boot disc. This file can be read using any text editor or word processor. Incidentally, the previous version of the file, if there is one, will be saved as Bootlog.prv.

One of Window's built-in text editors can be used to examine the Bootlog file if your PC is not equipped with a word processor. From the Start menu choose Programs, Accessories and then Wordpad. This produces a simple but effective word processor, and the Bootlog file can be loaded by selecting File and Open. This produces the standard Windows file requester that can be directed to the root directory of drive C:. Make sure that either text (bxt) files (Figure 2.10) or all files (\*.\*) is selected in the lower part of the window, or Bootlog.txt will be "invisible" to the file requester.

8.1.	0nen	5	9 . 1 210 . 11 . 12 . 1	13 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	Look m, 🔁 (C:)			
	Rs_run Ruec Temp Temp2 Iemp3 Tamp4 Temp5 Templates	Lunzipped LWander LWindows LWindows Updete Ser Ziptemp Bootlog tet	<ul> <li>Detrog tot</li> <li>Nettog tot</li> <li>Setuplog tot</li> <li>Setupdg tot</li> <li>Setupdg bet</li> </ul>	
			<u> </u>	
	File name		Open	
	Files of type: Text Doc	uments (* bli)	Concel	1
				22

Fig.2.10 Make sure that the word processor is set to recognise a file having a "bxt" extension

Once loaded, there is no difficulty in making a detailed examination of the file's contents. The list of messages is comprehensive and provides a full list of every action during boot up. The file also shows whether or not each action was successful. This is just a small sample from a long BOOTLOG file:

[00109EE9] Loading Device =
C:\WINDOWS\SETVER.EXE
[00109EE9] LoadSuccess =
C:\WINDOWS\SETVER.EXE
[00109EE9] Loading Device =
C:\WINDOWS\COMMAND\ANSI.SYS
[00109EE9] LoadSuccess =

```
C:\WINDOWS\COMMAND\ANSI.SYS
[00109EE9] Loading Device = C:\MTM\MTMCDAI.SYS
[00109F0B] LoadSuccess = C:\MTM\MTMCDAI.SYS
[00109F0B] Loading Device =
C:\WAVRIDER\DRIVERS\SGIDECD.SYS
[00109F26] LoadFailed
C:\WAVRIDER\DRIVERS\SGIDECD.SYS
[00109F26] Loading Device =
C:\WINDOWS\COMMAND\DISPLAY.SYS
[00109F32] LoadSuccess
                          _
C:\WINDOWS\COMMAND\DISPLAY.SYS
[00109F32] Loading Device =
C:\WINDOWS\HIMeM.SYS
[00109F32] LoadSuccess
                           =
C:\WINDOWS\HIMeM.SYS
[00109F32] Loading Device =
C:\WINDOWS\DBLBUFF.SYS
[00109F32] LoadSuccess
                           =
C:\WINDOWS\DBLBUFF.SYS
[00109F32] Loading Device =
C:\WINDOWS\IFSHLP.SYS
[00109F32] LoadSuccess
C:\WINDOWS\IFSHLP.SYS
[00109F33] C:\COLOUR.EXE[00109F33] starting
[00109F33]
C:\WINDOWS\COMMAND\MODE.COM[00109F34]
                                        starting
[00109F33]
C:\WINDOWS\COMMAND\MODE.COM[00109F33]
                                       starting
[00109F33] C:\WINDOWS\COMMAND\KEYB.COM(Logo
disabled)
[00109F33] starting
[00109F45] C:\WINDOWS\AZTPNP.EXE[00109F45]
starting
[00109F56] C:\WINDOWS\AZTPNP.EXE[00109F56]
starting
```

As with all faultfinding, resist the temptation to jump to conclusions. In this list there is one line that failed, but it is obvious that this did not bring things to an immediate halt because the boot process continued on for

dozens more lines and processes. The system file (SGIDECD.SYS) that failed to load is a driver for a soundcard no longer fitted to the system. The required file was no longer on the system, and was no longer needed. Its failure to load was ignored by the system, which continued to boot. Most Boot.log files seem to show a few failed processes that turn out to be of no consequence. It is conceivable that an error early in the proceedings could result in failure later in the boot process, but it is towards the end of the Bootlog file that the cause of the problem is most likely to be found.

# Step-by-step

Option four in the Windows start up menu provides an alternative method of locating the problem, and is the one I would recommend using. Stepby-step confirmation, as one would expect from its name, means that the system will go through the boot process step-by-step, and that it will only include those steps that the user authorises. This enables the user to see exactly where things grind to a halt, and with further attempts it is possible to bypass certain stages of the boot process to see if this enables the system to boot. Note that this method of booting offers the option of having a Boot.log file generated. It is a good idea to select this option. You may not need the Boot.log file, but it will be there if it should be required.

It is often helpful to try booting the computer without the config.sys file being processed, or if that does not get the system to boot try again without the autoexec.bat file being processed. If blocking one of these enables the system to boot, examine the relevant file (which will be in the root directory of the boot drive) using a word processor or text editor. When editing any configuration file it is necessary to take great care not to make inadvertent changes to the file. If you are not very careful you could easily end up doing more harm than good. Always save an unchanged version of the file to provide a backup if you make a mess of things and need to return to the original version of the file. I recommend making a backup on the hard drive called something like config.bak or autoexec.bak, and also making a backup copy on a floppy disc which should be write protected so that it can not be accidentally overwritten.

If you wish to get rid of a line in the file that seems to be causing the problem, a useful ploy is to add "Rem" followed by a space at the beginning of that line. This tells the operating system to ignore the line because it contains a remark that is merely there as an aid to anyone examining the file. The advantage of this method over deleting the line

#### 2 Troubleshooting

is that it is so easy to put things back the way they were. If you need to reinstate the line you simply delete the four characters you added. There is little chance of accidentally altering the line, because you never make any changes to the original text. It is worth looking for repetition in these configuration files.

Some installation programs make automatic changes to configuration files, and things do not always work quite as they should. For example, you will often find two or three almost identical PATH commands in the autoexec.bat file. What seems to happen is that an installation program adds a new PATH command that is the same as the original except that it has one or two additions at the end. Presumably the original PATH command is supposed to be erased, but a flaw in the installation program leaves it intact.

The same sort of thing can happen with other commands. The additional commands may seem to be of no consequence, but they will take up memory, and the memory set aside for this purpose may be used up. This usually produce error messages along the lines "not enough environment space". Lines in the configuration files that run drivers that are no longer necessary or undertake any unnecessary operations can waste memory and prevent the system from booting properly. Strangely perhaps, MS/DOS problems that prevent Windows from booting will not necessarily prevent MS/DOS from booting. Hence it is sometimes possible to boot into MS/DOS, type "win" and press the Return key, and launch Windows successfully, even though booting directly into Windows is not possible.

As can be seem from the screen shot of Figure 2.11, if you opt to have the config.sys or autoexec.bat file processed at boot-up, you then have control over the individual lines of each file. If the problem does exist in either of the MS/DOS configuration files, by a process of elimination this method should enable the exact cause of the problem to be located.

## Later problems

If Windows stalls quite late in the boot sequence it is unlikely that the processing of the MS/DOS configuration files is causing the problem. In this case you should opt to have the Windows Registry processed during boot-up and to have the Windows graphical user interface installed. Initially try loading everything on offer until the boot process comes to a halt. The last boot process prior to the system hanging-up is probably the one that is causing the problem, but it could conceivably be something earlier on that is causing the problem.



Fig.2.11 Step-by-step mode give good control over which boot processes are carried out

Try booting again but with the suspect process bypassed to see if this gets the PC booted into Windows. If that fails, try eliminating the process that occurs one stage earlier, then the one a further stage earlier, and so on. With luck you will soon get the system to boot, and the problem stage will be identified.

## **Error message**

The cause of Windows stalling during start up is something you will not necessarily have to strive to discover. More often than not Windows will halt with a message stating the reason for everything suddenly grinding to a halt. Sometimes the problem will be due to a missing file. In fact in most instances it seems to be due to a damaged or missing file. A damaged file could be one that has become corrupted, but more usually it is one that has been overwritten by an earlier version of the same file. This is something we will consider in detail later in this chapter. If the problem occurs after a piece of software has just been uninstalled, it is likely that the uninstaller removed a file that is needed by another program. The easy solution is to boot in Safe mode and reinstall the software, which should reinstate the file that Windows considers to be essential. Assuming that this is successful, you can either take the easy option and leave the reinstalled program in place, or try removing it again. The fact that the original removal of the program did not go entirely according to plan does not necessarily mean that a second attempt will also fail. On the other hand, it will not be a great surprise if it does fail.

It is worth making the point that installing and uninstalling software tends to be less troublesome if you always opt for the default directory rather than choosing another directory. I am not entirely sure why this should be, but it is probably due to minor errors in some installer and uninstaller programs. Anyway, unless there is a good reason to do otherwise, always settle for the default directory.

In the event of the boot process failing again, reinstalling the software once more should restore normal operation. You are not necessarily stuck with the program for life, and normal operation should be possible if the program is removed again and the contentious file is reinstated. The file causing the problem could be in the program's directory structure or in the Windows directory structure. Either way, using the file search function of Windows Explorer should soon locate it. Copy the file to a temporary directory and then uninstall the program. If the file was copied from somewhere in the Windows directory structure, copy it back to that location. If it was in the program's own directory structure, the directory it came from might have been removed by the uninstaller.

One approach to the problem is to remake part of the erased directory structure so that the file can be copied back to its original location. This might not be necessary though, and in most cases Windows will find the file if it is placed in the Windows directory structure where files of a similar type are located. In the case of a DLL file for example, Windows should find the file if it is copied to the Windows/System folder.

## File hunt

In cases where reinstalling a recently uninstalled program is ineffective, or there is no recently uninstalled software to put back, reinstalling Windows is probably the best option. If Windows is reinstalled on top of the existing installation there should be no problems with your
#### Trouble

Trou

N

applications software. Any programs that are correctly inst Windows should remain so after Windows itself has been rein

Although one might think that reinstalling Windows would alw any boot problems, it is only fair to point out that it is not a t panacea. In a fair proportion of cases it will get things back into working order, but sometimes the problem with the old installation is carried through into the new one. When Windows is installed over an existing installation, some of the settings from the old installation are copied to the new one. This provides a route for an existing problem to find its way into the new installation.

If no easy solution can be found to a Windows boot problem it is certainly worthwhile trying reinstallation before spending large amounts of time trying to precisely identify and cure the problem. Reinstalling Windows does not take all that long and there is a reasonable chance that it will get the operating system fully operational again. If the problem is due to a missing file, and it is a standard Windows file that has gone "absent without leave", reinstallation should get Windows running properly again. Similarly, if a standard Windows file has become corrupted, reinstalling Windows should overwrite the damaged file with a sound version and cure the problem. Installing Windows "from scratch" and on top of an existing installation are both covered in chapter 5.

Problems with missing and corrupted files often involve dynamic link library files, or DLL files as they are usually termed. These files are easily spotted when browsing the hard disc as they all have a "dll" extension. Some users make a backup copy of all the DLL files on the hard disc so that any files of this type that are accidentally erased or overwritten by an earlier version can be easily replaced. Backing up DLL files is covered in chapter 4. There will be a vast number of DLL files on the backup disc or directory, but if the one you require is actually there it should not take too long to locate it using the Find Folders or Files facility in Windows Explorer. It can then be copied to the appropriate folder using Windows Explorer.

## Searching Windows

On the face of it, if a DLL file is damaged or missing and you think it might be on the Windows installation disc, browsing the disc should bring it to light. In practice there is a minor complication in that most of the Windows files are not stored on the installation disc as individual files. Instead you will find a number of cabinet files on the disc, and these are the ones that have a "cab" extension. Many of the Windows

icrosta	3167				
9 :					
	System File Checker				x
ip s	System File Checker verifies	the integrity of your syst	tem hies		10
	Select an option and click	Stan			
	chicking Sottoge Su	stem File Chacker can	alea be contigues	of to polity you of	
	clicking Settings. Sy changed and delete Extract one file from i Specify the system	rstem File Checker can ad files. netallation disk the you would like to res	also be configure	d to notily you of	
	clicking Settings. Sy changed and delen Extract one file from i Specify the system	rstem File Checker can ad Wea. nstallation disk file you would like to rea	also be configure	d to noting you of	
	dicking Settings, Sy changed and delete Distract one file from i Specify the system	rstem File Checker con ad files netaitelicen disk file you would filke to res	also be configure	d to noticy you of	

Jeshooting

Fig.2.12 Running the System File Checker, which is part of the System Information program

System File Checker	And the second second	In star	
System File Checker verifies th	e integrity of your syste	m files.	
Select an option and click Str	ert.		
<ul> <li>Scan for altered files</li> <li>If a file is found to be a clicking Settings, Syst changed and deleted</li> <li>Extract one file from ins</li> </ul>	corrupt you will be prom tem File Checker can a I files stallation disk	pted to re≘tore th Iso be con∛gured	e original file. By to notify you of
atim32.dll	e you would like to rest	лна. 	Browse.
ß			
	Start	Qlose	Sețtings

Fig.2.13 Selecting a file to be copied from the Installation disc

files are compressed and grouped together in these cabinet files, but if you double-click on one of them using Windows Explorer, provided you are using Windows Me the files within each one will be shown as if they were separate entities. Furthermore, the files within a cabinet file can be copied using the normal Windows Explorer methods such as Copy and Paste.

This does not seem to work with Windows 95 or 98, but a decompression utility such as Winzip will show the contents of a cabinet file and permit the contents to be extracted. The MS/DOS Extract program should also do the job, but is relatively awkward to use. It can be found in the Windows\Command folder. In Windows 98 the System File Checker program can also be used to extract a file from the installation disc. This can be problematic in the first version of Windows 98, incidentally. It is probably worth trying if you use Windows 98 SE, but otherwise Winzip is a better bet.

In order to run the System File Checker program select Accessories from the Start menu and then choose System Information. Go to the Tools menu in the window that appears and select System File Checker.

This will produce a Window like the one in Figure 2.12. Activate the lower of the two radio buttons and type the name of the file you wish to extract from the Windows installation disc (Figure 2.13). Next operate the Start button, and type the source for the file and

Cd todanct File	ويرغوا فيتباد ويسترجه		? ×
Specily the loc	ation that contains the file you want to e	mact and the other	nation for the file
Fienche	atim32 dii		
Evetars from.	(ONANIZED)		Вгочьза
Sava hie in.	CIWINDOWSISYSTEM		Browse
	4	OK 1	Concel

Fig.2.14 Specifying the source and destination for the file

the location to which it is to be copied (Figure 2.14). Operate the OK button and the file should be extracted from the disc and copied to the specified destination directory.

### Me safe

Using Windows Me it is possible to do your own troubleshooting when boot problems occur, but there is a troubleshooter Wizard to help sort out this type of problem. If you enter Safe mode using Windows Me you are greeted with a screen of the type shown in Figure 2.15. This gives



Fig.2.15 The Windows Me Safe mode troubleshooter

the option of using the System Restore program to take the system back to an earlier stage where it worked properly. System Restore is covered in chapter 4 and will not be considered in detail here. It is not applicable if the operating system has only just been installed, or there are problems installing it at all. It is not likely to help if the problem occurred after adding a new piece of hardware, or if an existing item of hardware is proving troublesome, but in most other cases it offers the quickest and easiest means of getting the computer operational again.

Operate the Next button if you decide to use the troubleshooter to sort things out. This produces the screen of Figure 2.16. The five radio buttons at the side of the window are used to select the description that best suits the way in which you ended up in Safe mode. These are the five descriptions:

I added new hardware and my computer started in Safe mode

During or immediately following Windows Millennium Setup my computer unexpectedly started in Safe mode

I added new software and my computer started in Safe mode

I don't know how I got here

Another troubleshooter instructed me to start in Safe mode

There is an omission here in that there is no vou option if uninstalled some software and then had to start in Safe mode. Presumably either the third or fourth option should be used if this happens. In this example the PC had been working normally but for no apparent reason stopped in the middle

(a) Hoth and Support		
Help and Support	Search	
100 - House Victoria & Assessed august 1 20	ire & Suboriele	
Safe Mode Troubleshooter		
How did to up in Safe made?		
10 Databas were transverse, and my computer restabled in	laté modé.	
<ul> <li>During an immediately following Windows Miken aan si Safe made</li> </ul>	tue, my computer energicited	y stamed in
Pacaled new software, and my computer restarted in 5	ete Mode	
m _ 1 dan's stern here E pos here.		
1 P. Anigher troublesherter instructed rise to restart 20 Este	mode.	
Negerit 10		
Sant Support " Gillop and Support		18.9

Fig.2.16 Starting to use the Windows Me troubleshooter

of the boot sequence with an error message. This gave the option of pressing Enter to return to Windows, but this failed to work. Probably because Windows had not finished booting and there was no Windows to boot into. The Control-Alt-Delete keys therefore had to be used to reboot the computer, which was then rebooted in Safe mode. Although not strictly accurate, the "I don't know" option seems the most appropriate.

Selecting this option and operating the Next button brings up the screen of Figure 2.17. This instructs the user to restart the computer. On

restarting the computer it booted into Windows in Normal mode without any problems, and another reboot produced the same result. It was therefore unnecessary to go any further with the faultfinding process. pointed As out previously, a one-off start-up problem of this type is not unknown with

House - Lindok - Liduarcod Alagona - Converting - Torica      House - Lindok - Liduarcod Alagona - Converting - Torica      House - Lindok - Liduarcod Alagona - Converting - Torica      House - Lindok - Liduarcod Alagona - Converting - Torica      House - Lindok - Liduarcod Alagona - Lindok - Deven      Child Schut dines, and then did DK      House - Converting - Server Joen, ten II all <sup>0</sup> House - Liduarcod - Liduarcod - Deven      Kong - Liduarcod - Liduarcod - Liduarcod - Liduarcod      House - Converting - Liduarcod - Liduarcod - Liduarcod      House - Converting - Liduarcod - Liduarcod      House - Converting - Liduarcod - Liduarcod      House - Converting - Liduarcod      House - Converte -	Microsoft'	Search
these standards if description and the standard is seen in the standard is the standard the standard i	neip and Support	
Led artspour inemputer.         I van computer tops responsing during Selup, or illuris in Safe mode unexpectedly, try shulbling deen or computer and then restaring 8.           Failuitation and restart your genyuter.         - Callek Vally, und then det data. Deen.           - Other data, und then data Deen.         - Safe Yang, und then det data.           - Safe Yang, und then data Deen.         - Wang computer data. Deene.           - Safe Yang, und then data Deen.         - Wang computer data. Deene.           - Wang computer data. Deene data Deene.         - Wang computer data. Deene data.	- A Money Lindox & Apacted Support	E torre turine and an and a second
I your compositer topic responding ouring Stafup, tir Barts in Safe mode unexpectedly, try shulbling down or compositer and there instanting is (*) Inhelitation and restant your computer 1. Ottab Start, and then cluck Shut Drawn. Ottab Shut and war, and then cluck Shut Drawn. Ottab Shut and and your and an our and any 1. Stry are computer descript Same day. If all Net 20 is school, and then tour and composition and	lesartwour computer,	
(*) Induitions and restart your computer 1 Calla Start, and then data Mark Mark Shart - Callad Shart Jones, and then data (jut. - 27 your computer descriptions) and the fur. - 29 your computer descriptions are descriptions of the - 20 your computer descriptions are descript	I a war computer stops responding during Setup, or de over computer and then restarting &.	erts in Safe mode unexpectedly, try shullbing down
L Cliph Manf, and then click febra Down. - Clips Hour Jawes, and then clips Dis - If your computer Josen't power Serie, turn it alf? - We 10 records, and then turn our computer back on	ip hulidown and restart your computer	
t. ⊂Clind Shut Human, and Then dieb 000. . If seur computer desent terver Seven, tran it α017 . Weit (Ja second), and then term your computer beda on	. «Cliph Stapt, and then clicir Most Down.	
<ol> <li>21 year computer doesn't power down, turn it all<sup>e</sup></li> <li>War 10 seconds, and then turn your computer beds on</li> </ol>	Click shut down, and then dick OK	
. Was 10 seconds, and then turn your computer back on	. If your computer doesn't power down, turn it effe	
	. Wer 10 seconds, and then turn your computer bad	ak on
nemerong your computer solve the problem?	ne reflecting your computer solve the problem?	
C. No my computer suit starts to Sale mode.	C. No-my computer sub starts to Safe mode.	
F. Min, this William the problem,		
-1 ment to sk p this step and try tempthing else	5 Min, this chives the problem.	
Next Back Start Own	$\Gamma$ . Now, this blocks the problem, $\Gamma$ -1 ment to skip this stars and try benefiting else.	

Fig.2.17 The next stage in using the Windows Me troubleshooter



Fig.2.18 This help screen enables the PC to be booted into Windows without the Win.ini and System.ini files being processed

Windows, and it could be due to a glitch in Windows itself. It can also be caused by something like a piece of hardware not initialising properly when the computer is switched on. If a problem of this type only happens very infrequently it is probably not worth investigating further. With a very intermittent boot problem the chances of finding the cause are very limited.

If restarting the computer fails to clear the problem there is plenty of help available if the Safe mode is used again. For example, the screen of Figure 2.18 helps the user to try booting the computer without the Win.ini and System.ini files being processed. The screen of Figure 2.19 helps the user to restore an earlier version of the Windows Registry, and there are help screens for the usual steps when Windows troubleshooting.

## Windows Registry

The Windows Registry seems to be regarded by many as the place to go in order to cure any Windows problem, but matters are not as simple as that. Problems with Windows are not necessarily due to anything

Co Help and Support		_ 8 X
Microsoft* Help and Support	Search	60
- Monte of Book to Assisted support 1 To	ñors de tutoriels	-
Try restoring a previous version of your registry.		*
• Important		
<ul> <li>The following procedure may require you to restart your of troubleshooter. If possible, print this information from and on the computer you are troubleshooting.</li> </ul>	computer, which will close this other computer, and then perform the ste	ps
To restore a previous version of your Wincows registry, you Windows Startup disk.	need to start the computer by using a	
You might have created a Startup disk when you installed Wi create one.	ndows. If you don't have a Startup disk,	
🗄 To create a Startup disk		- 12
書 To restore a registry backup	R	- 6
Does restoring a previous version of the registry solve the p	roblem?	
No, this doesn't Solve the problem.		- 11
C Yes, this solves the problem.		
" Lwant to skip this step-and sty compting eles-		
Next 7. Back 1 Start Over		1
Start @ 1 (1 2 " Gettelo and Support		- 22-00

Fig.2.19 This help screen enables an earlier version of the Windows Registry to be restored

amiss in the Registry. If a hardware driver is not installed properly or is faulty, the Windows Registry is unlikely to provide an answer to the problem. Perhaps of greater importance, even where editing the Registry can clear a problem, unless great care is taken it is likely that the problem will be made worse rather than better. Making any changes to the registry has to be regarded as a high-risk activity.

As pointed out in chapter 1, Windows automatically produces backup copies of the Registry, and it is possible to resort to one of these if the Registry becomes seriously damaged. Also, you can make your own backup copies of the Registry files, which can be restored if you somehow manage to get the Registry files beyond redemption.

If you are determined to go ahead and experiment with editing the Registry I would certainly recommend making backup copies just in case things go seriously awry. Even if the Registry is well and truly backed up, it is still not a good idea to start making changes unless you are sure you know what you are doing. You can resort to a backup copy if things go seriously awry, but realistically, your chances of success are minimal.

#### 2 Troubleshooting

## What is it?

Probably most Windows users have heard of the Registry, but there are probably relatively few that know its exact nature and purpose. Although the name suggests that it is one file, it is actually two hidden files in the Windows folder called System.dat and User.dat. It is a database that contains all manner of Windows system settings. If you change settings via the Control Panel, you are actually making changes to the Windows Registry.

The same is true when you install or remove software or hardware, or make practically any changes to the system. It is not just the Windows settings that are stored in the Registry, and it can be used to store configuration information for applications programs as well. This factor probably increases the risk of the Registry being corrupted when software is installed or uninstalled. The Registry files can easily be damaged if the installer or uninstaller gets it slightly wrong.

Windows experts often edit the Registry as a means of customising their Windows installation. Obviously many aspects of Windows are easily changed via the standard routes, such as using the Control Panel to change things such as screen colours, resolution, etc. Hackers often prefer to go direct to the Registry because they can make some changes that are not possible via the approved channels. This is fine for those having the necessary expertise to make this type of change, but it is not to be recommended for occasional dabblers.

## Editing

Many computer configuration files can be edited by simply loading them into a text editor or word processor and making the required changes.



Fig.2.20 The Run option from the Start menu is used to run the Regedit program

This method is not normally used with the Registry files, and instead they are edited via the special editing utility. This program is called Regedit, and it can be found in the Windows directory. One way to run Regedit is to go to



Fig.2.21 The initial screen of the Registry Editor

the Start menu, choose Run, type "regedit" in the text box, and then operate the OK button (Figure 2.20). There is no need to include the path to the Regedit.exe file; Windows will know where to find it. Alternatively, use the Run function but use the Browse facility to locate the Regedit.exe file and then operate the OK button. This will bring up the rather blank looking initial screen of Figure 2.21.

In operation Regedit is designed to be much like Windows Explorer. There are what appear to be files and folders, and there is no hint that it is actually two files that are being edited. You need to bear in mind the program is showing the contents of a database, and that it can not be used in exactly the same way as Windows Explorer. For example, the drag and drop approach does not work when using Regedit. Double clicking on one of the entries in the left-hand section of the screen expands it, as in Figure 2.22, to show what appear to be subfolders.

In Windows Registry terminology the left-hand section of the screen shows keys, and double clicking on one of these expands its entry to show the sub-keys. With subfolders double clicking on an entry will sometimes reveal further subfolders. Likewise, double clicking on subkeys will sometimes reveal a further layer of the key structure. A mark beside a key icon indicates that a further layer of sub-keys is available.

😴 Registry Editor			_ O X
Begistry Edit Yiew Belp			
	Nome Dolout)	Deta (valus not set)	
100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100			
() 123 () ,386 () 349 () 408			
0 40F 0.40L 0 40A			
(), ADX (*), AD300 (), AR (), AFR			
ALB My Computer (HKEY_CLASSES_ROOT			

Fig.2.22 Double-clicking on a key expands it, like expanding a folder in Windows Explorer

Once the lowest level in the key structure has been reached, double clicking on an entry produces something like the window of Figure 2.23. Including the icons on the left, the right-hand section of the screen breaks down into three sections. The icon indicates the type of data stored in the key. An icon containing "ab" indicates that the key holds a string, which means that it contains letters and (or) numbers. The string is always contained within double quotation marks("). An icon containing "011110" indicates that the key holds a numerical code, which is often in the form of a binary number and not an ordinary decimal type. The hexadecimal numbering system is also used, and numbers of this type are preceded by "Ox" to show that they are in this numbering system. No quotation marks are used for numeric values.

Next to the icons in the Name column are the values, but this term is perhaps a bit misleading. The Name heading at the top of this column is more accurate, since the values are names that tell you which piece of data is stored for each entry in the database. Fortunately, the names used here usually give a good idea as to the purpose of each piece of data, although the names have to be kept reasonably short. The fourth column is the actual data stored in each value.



Fig.2.23 Including the icons, the right-hand section of the screen breaks down into three sections

# Navigation

You do not have to move around the Registry for long in order to realise that the number of values stored there is vast. I do not know how many values are to be found in an average Windows Registry, but it must be many thousands. There are six main Registry keys in the "root directory", which are known as "hive" keys incidentally. It is obviously much easier to find the required value if you understand the significance of the hive keys, and know which one to search. These are the six hive keys and the types of value that each one contains:

### HKEY\_CLASSES\_ROOT

All the file associations are stored within this key. This includes OLE information, shortcut data, and file associations for the recognised file types.

#### INKEY\_CURRENT\_USER

The desktop preferences are stored in this key. This mainly means parameters that are set via the Control Panel, but other data is stored

#### 2 Troubleshooting

here. Under the Software sub-key there is a further sub-key for each item of installed software, so there can be a vast number or entries here as well.

#### HKEY\_LOCAL\_MACHINE

Machine in a Windows context means the PC that it is running on. This hive key therefore contains data that is specific to the particular PC concerned. As one would expect, there is a Hardware sub-key here, but there are others such as a Network sub-key and a security type. There is a Software sub-key here as well, but it is different to the one found under the HKEY\_CURRENT\_USER hive key. The information stored in this Software sub-key seems to be largely associated with hardware configuration and uninstalling the software, rather than things like screen colours.

### HKEY\_USERS

If the PC has more than one user, this hive key is used to store the preferences for each user. In most cases the users feature of Windows is not utilized, so the information here will simply duplicate that stored in the HKEY\_CURRENT\_USER hive key. Perhaps more accurately, HKEY\_CURRENT USERS will duplicate the data stored in HKEY\_USERS.

### HKEY\_CURRENT\_CONFIG

This key contains the current software and hardware configuration data. In the likely event that you are only using one configuration, it will contain the same data as HKEY LOCAL MACHINE.

### HKEY\_DYN\_DATA

The dynamic data is stored in this hive key. Dynamic in this context means that it is data that must always be stored in memory so that it can be accessed quickly. As one would expect, the data stored here is highly technical in nature.

Even if you know what you are looking for and roughly where to find it, searching through the numerous entries in the Registry can still be very time consuming. Fortunately, the Registry Editor has a Find facility that is similar to the Find Files and Folders facility of Windows Explorer. Selecting Find from the Edit menu brings up a window like the one of Figure 2.24. Use the textbox to enter the text you wish to search for, and

select the fields of the Registry you wish to search. You can also opt for a whole string search. In other words, a match will only be produced if the full string in the Registry matches the one you

Find what COM1		End Nee
Lookat		Cancel
RE] Keys		
17 Yeluen	G2	
P Data		

Fig.2.24 The Registry Editor's Find facility

have entered. If this option is not selected, a match will be produced if the string you entered matches part of an entry in the Registry. The whole string option can help to keep the number of matches to more manageable proportions, but you have to know precisely what you are looking for.

Press the Find Next button to search for the string. If a match is found, it will be shown highlighted in the main window of the Registry Editor. If this one is not the entry you are looking for, call up the Find facility again and operate the Find Next button. Keep doing this until the required entry is located or the whole of the Registry has been searched.

+ Acrobet Read +	Name (Define II)	Data (value not set)	
Edit Stong			
Velve game:			
OS			
Mark an elasta			
Xana qair			
1000			
		OK Dancel	
E J AutoCAD	Talos	******	
AWAPE		*D*	
H Barge Bag Softwa	A PERS		
Brdend	AN POMER	ala.	
Si Chinan	PHOTO	~~ <u>~</u> ~	
E Delphi	PLANG	"ENU"	
3 (1) 3.0	AD PNAME	"PAGEMAKR"	
Adive	PREH	*0″	
Close-	PRIBUS	~O~	
Experi	PVEFS	"6.5"	
Knowr	SERIAL	"03E652R7218985-305"	
Librar	ANTHPE		
Poleti V	VERSION	"W32 2 03 03"	

Fig.2.25 Editing an entry in the Registry



Fig.2.26 The opening screen of the Norton Utilities

In order to edit a Registry entry double-click on it to bring up the editing window, as in Figure 2.25. Both the value name and data can then be edited in the normal way. Left-click the OK button when you have finished, or the Cancel button if you change your mind. It is also possible to left-click on an entry and then use the Edit menu to either delete or rename it. Clearly it is necessary to know exactly what you are doing before altering any registry entries. If you suspect an entry is giving problems it is not possible to remedy the problem by editing its data unless you know the correct data to use. Unless you have the necessary expertise it is better to alter the Registry only via indirect routes, such as installing or uninstalling software, using the Control Panel, etc.

# Backup

For inexperienced users it is better to rely on backup copies of the registry rather than fiddling with Registry settings when something goes wrong. Chapter 4 deals with the general topic of backups, including backing up and restoring the Registry. Windows runs the built-in Registry Checker program each time Windows is started, and it can also be run manually. From the Start menu select Programs, Accessories, System Tools, and System Information. Then select Registry Checker from the Tools menu of the window that appears.



Fig.2.27 The Norton WinDoctor utility in action

If all is well, once the check has been completed you will be asked whether or not you wish to backup the Registry. It is automatically backed up each time Windows boots, so there is not usually any point in doing so. However, it will not do any harm to have a new backup produced. If Registry Checker finds a problem, which it never has in my experience, it will provide a warning message. Since Registry Checker runs automatically at start up, it will only find the newest of problems, which is presumably why it hardly ever finds anything wrong when run manually.

## Windows checkers

There is not exactly a world shortage of software to help fix Windows problems. The software on offer ranges from simple utilities that are designed to investigate and fix problems in one particular aspect of Windows, to large suites of software that cover just about everything. These larger software suites often have utilities that are designed to "tune" the system and maintain it in peak condition. The Norton Utilities suite is probably the best known program of this type, and Figure 2.26 shows the start up screen. Here it is possible to select from a range of options, which include hard disc utilities, an enhanced Registry editor, and various

Noton WinDoctor	
ile Broblem Yiew Help	
Repar Al Repair Un: Problems Advanced Nistory Scan	
Problems Found	Details
Status Problem	Seventy
Bricklem     A removable drive has been inserted or removed in a directory was moved to a     as dire D. These problems should not be fixed automatically.	Medium new drive <sup>n</sup> causing drive C to appea
Invalid ActiveX/CDM Entries (5 problems)     The ActiveX/CDM sections of your Windows Registry contain one or more invalid documents to open improperly, applications not to run, or your computer to creat.	Medium d entries. This can cause
Invalid Application Paths (1 problem)     The Application Paths tection of your Windows Registry refers to one or more in     applications not to run.	Mechum valid directories This can cause
Invalid File Extensions (4 problems)     The File Extensions section of your Windows Registry contains one or more inval     documents to open improperty	Medium Id entries, This can cauze
Invalid Shortcuts [32 problems] Problem     Some shortcuts on your computer refer to files that have been moved or no longer	Medium er exist
Missing Multimedia Files (3 problems)     The Multimedia sections of your Windows Registry refer to one or more missing fil     to play improperty or not at all.	Medium les. This can cause your sound files
eady	Problems 160 Ignored 0

Fig.2.28 Example results produced by the DiskDoctor utility

diagnostic tools. Figure 2.27 shows the Norton WinDoctor facility in action, and amongst other things this scans the Windows Registry and other configuration files in search of errors.

Figure 2.28 shows an example of the test results produced by the WinDoctor utility. You always have to be slightly wary with this type of thing, because the checking utility might think it has found an error when things are in fact correct. The section of the report headed "Drive Changed from C to D" notes some 160 problems, but the PC in question is a dual boot type, and this has confused the checking utility. The problems that the program thinks it has found disappear when the PC is booted using the second hard disc drive. The program correctly advises against fixing the problems automatically. In most cases problems will be reported correctly, especially if your PC does not have an unusual configuration. Many of the faults can be fixed automatically by a program such as the Norton Utilities.

# Sysedit

Sometimes Windows boot problems result in the system simply grinding to a halt, giving little clue as to what is wrong. Often though, Windows will provide an error message, and this is likely to refer to some form of Windows driver or system file that is mentioned in a configuration file. The problem can be due to the driver or other system file being absent or faulty, or it can simply be that the file is being called up in error. Uninstallers sometimes get things slightly wrong, and leave a reference to something like a driver or DLL file in a configuration file, even though that file is no longer needed and has been deleted. This might bring Windows to a halt during the boot-up process, but often the process can be continued without the missing file.

Normally when Windows reports that a file is missing it is necessary to reinstate it somehow. If a program has just been uninstalled, reinstalling the program will probably put the missing file back again. If the file in question is a standard Windows type that is present on the installation disc, it can be copied from the disc. Where the system seems to work perfectly well without the file, it is likely that the reference to it in the configuration file is erroneous.

You can simply put up with an error message being produced each time Windows boots, but it is better to remove the incorrect entry in the configuration file. The error message will usually mention the configuration file by name so that you know which one to edit. These files are usually straightforward text files, so they can be edited using a word processor or text editor. Whenever anything of this type is undertaken it is a good idea to make a copy of the file before you start editing. That way you can restore the backup copy if the changes make things worse rather than better.

Windows 95/98 has a built-in editor for the configuration files. It is called Sysedit, and it can be run by selecting Run from the Start menu, typing "sysedit" into the text box, and then operating the OK button. There is no need to give the path to the Sysedit program file. Running this program produces a window like Figure 2.29, with five windows open within the main window. Each of the five windows contains the text for a different configuration file. Two of these are for the MS/DOS configuration files autoexec.bat and config.sys.

The autoexec.bat file is used to run any ordinary programs that must be launched at the end of the boot process. Any programs mentioned in this file should be normal MS/DOS commands or program files. config.sys is similar, but it is used to run programs that have a sys extension. These are programs that can only be run from Config.sys, and they are mainly used to provide a background task such as a mouse driver.



Fig.2.29 Sysedit opens five configuration files in separate windows. It is basically just a simple text processor

The other three files are Windows configuration files, and in my experience it is System.ini that is most likely to require editing. It is not exactly unknown for Win.ini to require some adjustment, but I have never yet needed to edit Protocol.ini. Both System.ini and Windows.ini have their origins in the pre Windows 95 era, and are presumably retained mainly to provide compatibility with software written for earlier versions of Windows. The Windows Registry is the main source of configuration data for Windows 95/98/Me. This does not mean that these two files are no longer used by the system though, and mistakes in the initialisation files can still cause problems with modern versions of Windows.

If you wish to edit a configuration file using Sysedit, left-click on its Window to make it the current one, and it is a good idea to maximise the Window as well. The text can then be edited in standard Windows word processor or text editor fashion, and the usual facilities are available from the File and Edit menus (Figure 2.30). These can be used to save the edited version, but make sure that you save an unedited version under a different name before you start making changes. If things go seriously wrong it is then quite easy to return to the original version of the file.

	Troub	npie
System Configuration Editor - IC:\WINDOWS\SYSTEM.INI}	-	120
B File Edit Search Window		
KAL Save		N
0et0.blp		
Ppmt Setup 10		
key File dard 101/102-Key or Microsoft Natural Keyboard	1	83
ast about		
display.ory ATT 3D RAGE PRO (English) (DirectX)		
mouse.drv=Loattech Mouse		
system.drv=Standard PC		
[386Enh]		181
ebios=xebios		
device=#vshare		
device=#vpd		
device=mint13		
mouse=#vmouse, msmouse.vxd		
woafont=app850.ton		
DMABufferSize=32		
device=#dynapage		
device=motvcd.vxd		
device=*enable		
keyboard=wvkd		
display==vdd, =vflatd		
COM1FIFO=1		
Inour day		
[hower/arol		
		A CONTRACTOR OF THE
		145555989 AL

Fig.2.30 Sysedit has the usual File and Edit facilities

# Reinstallation

If the usual methods of fixing Windows fail to get results, realistically there are only two options available. One is to continue searching for the cause of the problem, running diagnostic software, checking through configuration files, checking the hardware and drivers, or anything else you can think of. Option two is to reinstall Windows. Initially reinstall it on top of the existing version, which will leave your applications software properly installed and with luck will cure the problem. If that fails, any important data must be backed up to another hard disc or other mass storage device. The hard disc can then be wiped clean and Windows plus all the applications software and data must be reinstalled "from scratch".

This may seem like a defeatist attitude, but searching for the cause of an obscure fault in Windows can be very time consuming. A straightforward reinstallation is almost certain to be quicker, and even reinstalling Windows "from scratch" could be a quicker route to success. It is also

#### eshooting



Fig.2.31 The Microsoft Knowledge Base has a good search engine

worth bearing in mind that reinstalling everything has the beneficial effect of removing the numerous unnecessary files that tend to start cluttering the hard disc as a Windows installation grows older. This will often produce a significant reduction in the time it takes for the system to boot, for programs to load and the general speed of operation when hard disc accesses are involved.

Where there is no easy solution to a Windows problem, professional PC maintenance engineers tend to opt for the reinstallation option sooner rather than later. For those with less experience of these things it will probably be more of a last resort than a routine method of fixing and streamlining a damaged Windows installation. However, having reinstalled everything you will probably be quite happy that you did.

## **Knowledge Base**

In some circumstances there may be no option but to press on in an attempt to find a cure for the problem. With masses of important data on the hard disc and no means of backing it up, wiping the disc clean is



Fig.2.32 The search engine succeeded in finding a start up troubleshooter

not an option. The best course of action would be to have the computer fitted with some form of mass storage device so that the data could be backed up. Apart from leaving your reinstallation options open, this also guards against losing important data due to a hard disc failure. If you have an Internet connection and decide to press on rather than reinstall, it is worthwhile investigating the Microsoft Knowledge Base. There is actually a massive amount of help available at Microsoft's web site (www.microsoft.com), including articles and troubleshooting Wizards for a large range of Microsoft products.

A good place to start is the Self Support section. This brings up a screen like the one in Figure 2.31, where you can specify the product for which you require support, and the type of support required (article, troubleshooter, driver file, etc.). You can also put in some key words to help the search engine come up with something suitable. If Windows will not start up properly for example, "start up problem" will help the search engine to come up with some suitable suggestions.

A search for a Windows 98 troubleshooter to assist with a start up problem produced the screen of Figure 2.32. Here there is a troubleshooter for

#### 2 Troubleshooting

problems with both starting up and closing down Windows. This asks the user questions and then makes suggestions on how to fix the problem. With perseverance, I would guess that practically any Windows problem could be solved using the information available from the Microsoft Knowledge Base. The only problem is that you will probably need a second PC to access the Internet while your faulty PC is being sorted out. Possibly a friend can assist if you do not have a spare computer.

### **Recurring problems**

If you are very unlucky, having reinstalled everything "from scratch" the problem will return again. It is likely that the problem will keep reappearing if you keep reinstalling Windows. Where the problem is in some way hardware related, perhaps only happening when the soundcard is used, the most likely explanation is that one of the drivers or the hardware itself is faulty. It is more likely to be a driver problem than a fault in the hardware, so check with the technical support department of the hardware manufacturer to see if a later version of the driver software is available. These days most manufacturers have the latest drivers available on their web sites, where there may also be some troubleshooting hints, so the relevant web site should be the first port of call.

If everything works fine at first, but things go seriously wrong after a while or steadily worsen, the most likely culprit is an applications program. Finding the program that is causing the problem can be quite time consuming. If one program consistently goes "walkabout" and all the others work perfectly, it is virtually certain that the troublesome program is responsible for its own downfall. It is possible for one program to interfere with the system and cause problems with just one other program, but this is quite rare. Normally this occurs because installing one program results in a DLL file for a second program being overwritten with an older version of the file. Provided the problem is fixed by reinstating the newer version of the file there should be no further difficulties. If you simply keep reinstalling Windows and then install the applications in the same order, the problem will keep coming back. Installing the applications in reverse order should banish the problem, since the newer version of the DLL file will then replace the older version, rather than the other way round.

It is more common for the faulty software to damage the Windows installation, causing problems for itself and for other applications

programs. The normal solution where recurring problems occur is to reinstall Windows plus one application. If that works all right for a while add a further application. If all is well add another application, and so on until a program is added and things start to go awry. It is then a reasonable assumption that the last program to be added is the one that is damaging the Windows installation.

## **Points to remember**

If Windows fails to boot properly, do not be too eager to start fiddling with the system to find a cure. Try rebooting a few times to see if the problem clears itself.

Where the boot process halts quite early it is likely that the problem is in booting MS/DOS. Check the Autoexec.bat and Config.sys files for repetitive entries and other obvious errors, such as hardware drivers that are not needed any more.

Unless the Windows installation is badly damaged it will be possible to boot in Safe mode. Some basic checks can then be made, such as running Scandisk, etc., but bear in mind that Safe mode has some limitations.

Getting the computer to produce a Bootlog file can help to pinpoint the process that is causing the boot process to stall.

Booting in step-by-step mode can also be used to find the stage that is causing problems. By bypassing sections of the boot process a process of elimination can be used to find the one that is causing the problem.

Device Manager can be used to check whether or not the hardware and the hardware drivers are functioning correctly, but not with the computer booted in Safe mode. Get the computer booted in normal mode, even if this means bypassing some boot processes so that Windows is something less than fully operational.

If a hardware driver is suspected of causing problems, use Device Manager to remove the existing driver before reinstallation. Also check the hardware manufacturer's web site for an up-dated driver.

Windows will often give an error message that gives some clue to the nature of the problem. If a program has recently been uninstalled, reinstalling it will probably reinstate the damaged or missing file.

#### 2 Troubleshooting

Installing a program can also damage a file. This can result in a file being overwritten by an older version. Reinstalling Windows or one of the other application files will cure this problem. If the damaged file is on the Windows installation disc it can be copied from the disc using a file decompression program (Winzip, etc.).

In some cases the missing file is not actually needed any more. Removing the reference to it in a configuration file will then cure the problem.

Windows includes a Registry Editor program, but only use this utility if you know what you are doing.

Reinstalling Windows over the existing installation will cure boot problems in a fair proportion of cases, but not all of them.

Reinstalling Windows from scratch will cure boot problems unless it is not really a Windows problem. Recurring problems are due to a hardware fault or a bug in an applications program.

There are numerous Windows checking programs available, and these will often help to sort out boot problems, and more minor annoyances. Many will also help to keep Windows working efficiently.

Windows Me has a troubleshooter that provides a great deal of help if the PC is booted in Safe mode. You can still do your own investigations if you prefer.

Similar help for other versions of Windows can be found at the Microsoft web site (www.microsoft.com).

Windows Me has a very useful restore facility that will usually cure boot problems. There are Registry backup facilities and other facilities in Windows 95/98 that can often be effective. These topics are covered in detail in chapter 4.

## Learning the hard way

A hard disc failure is potentially a major disaster for all those who use the PC, but if you use PCs for some years it is a failure you are almost certain to experience. A complete failure of the disc means that all the data it contains is lost. There are companies that offer a data recovery service, but there is no guarantee that the contents of the disc will be recoverable, and the cost of a recovery service is too high for many users anyway. As a minimum, any important data files should be backed up onto floppy discs, CDRs, or any suitable media, so that they can be restored onto a new hard disc if the old unit fails.

Ideally the entire contents of the hard disc drive should be backed up using a program that enables it to be properly restored onto a new hard disc. This is very much quicker and easier than having to reinstall and configure the operating system, and then reinstall all the applications programs and data. Also, any customisation of the operating system or other software will be automatically restored. If you have heavily customised software, after reinstallation it can take a great deal time to get it set up to your satisfaction.

Having a backup copy of the hard disc's contents is not only insurance against a loss of valuable data if a hardware failure occurs. It can greatly simplify things if there is a major problem with the operating system. Provided the PC was fully operational when the backup copy was made, resorting to the backup will provide a fully functioning PC again. Some backup software enables the system to be quickly restored to a previous and fully working configuration, but retains any recently produced data files. The Windows Me Restore utility provides a facility of this type, but it is not present in earlier versions of Windows. When a major problem with the operating system occurs and some form of restoration option is available, it is almost certainly best to resort to this method sooner rather than later.

There is little point in spending large amounts of time trying to repair a damaged installation if it can be replaced with a backup copy quite

quickly and easily. It is certainly worthwhile spending a small amount of time first to check for any minor problems that are easily sorted out. The backup method is "using a sledgehammer to crack a nut" if the problem is something minor that is easily corrected. If a search for any obvious problems proves to be in vain, it is time to resort to the backup software. The backup program's manual should give detailed instructions on maintaining an up-to-date backup and restoring the hard disc's contents.

The problem with the full back up method is that it takes a fair amount of time to maintain an up to date copy of the hard disc. Also, it is only feasible if your PC is equipped with some form of mass storage device that can be used for backup purposes, such as a CDR writer or a Zip drive. It could otherwise require well in excess of a thousand floppy discs to do a full backup of the hard drive! Even using some form of mass storage it can take a long while to backup the gigabytes of programs and data stored on many modern hard disc drives. The quickest and easiest way of providing a backup is to opt for a second hard disc drive. Due to the current low cost of hard discs, this could well be the cheapest method as well.

## **Split discs**

Many PC users now split their large hard drives into two logical drives, which become drives C: and D: as far as the operating system is concerned. Drive C: is then used in the normal way and drive D: is reserved for backup purposes. This method is useless in the event that the hard drive develops a serious fault, because the main and backup drives are the two halves of one physical drive. If one becomes faulty it is unlikely that the other will be usable either. The point of this system is that the backup copy on drive D: is usable if there is a software problem rather than a fault in the hardware. Since most users have far more problems with the software than with hard disc faults, this method should get the user out of trouble more often than not.

Some users take a compromise approach and make a backup copy of the hard disc when it contains a newly installed operating system having all the hardware properly integrated into the operating system and fully operational. Ideally the disc should also have the applications programs installed, and any customisation completed. Any important data is backed up separately as it is generated. If the operating system becomes seriously damaged it is then easy to resort to the backup which should be reasonably compact, but gives you a basic system that is fully customised and ready to use. Any essential data can also be restored, but there is no need to restore any data files that are no longer needed on the hard disc.

# **Clean copy**

An advantage of this method is that it returns the PC to a "clean" copy of the operating system. Over a period of time most modern operating systems seem to become slightly "gummed up" with numerous files that no longer serve any purpose, and things can generally slow down. By returning to a fresh copy of the operating system you will probably free up some hard disc space and things might run slightly faster. By not restoring any unimportant data files you free up further hard disc space.

If you lack a proper backup copy of the hard disc and only have copies of the data files, all is not lost. In this situation you might prefer to put a fair amount of effort into fixing the damaged Windows installation rather than simply reinstalling everything. Even if you only use a few applications programs, reinstalling Windows and the applications software is likely to be pretty tedious and time consuming. If there are numerous programs to reinstall, the process is likely to be very tedious and time consuming.

Looking on the bright side, if everything does have to be restored from scratch you will have a "clean" copy of the operating system that should provide optimum performance. In fact many users habitually take the reinstallation route and consider any extra time and effort involved being well worthwhile.

I would not go as far as to advocate reinstalling everything at the first sign of trouble, but I would definitely advise against the opposite approach of always repairing the original set up regardless of how long it takes. Apart from the fact this could be a very time consuming approach, an installation that has been patched up on numerous occasions, and perhaps had a number of programs added, upgraded, and removed over a period of time, is unlikely to provide peak performance. In fact I have encountered several installations of this type that took an eternity to go through the boot-up sequence, in one case taking almost 10 minutes to complete the process! Once booted, PCs of this type seem to give the hard disc drive a "hammering" at every opportunity. Apart from making the computer slow and irksome in use, this type of thing increases the wear on the hard disc drive and presumably shortens its operating life. It should be possible to discover

#### 3 Data rescue

the sources of the problem and improve results, but reinstalling everything "from scratch" is the solution favoured by most when this situation arises. This should ensure optimum performance and might be quicker anyway.

### Windows on Windows

On the face of it there is no need to wipe the hard disc clean and undertake a complete reinstallation from the beginning. Simply reinstalling Windows over the old installation should restore normality. As with so many things in computing it is a case of yes and no. Yes, in some cases simply going through the Windows set up routine will fix problems with the operating system and restore normal operation. Unfortunately, in other cases the problem will still exist once the reinstallation is complete. When Windows is installed on a hard disc, the Windows Setup program searches the disc for a previous installation and installed Windows application programs. Any installed software will be integrated with the new Windows installation, as may driver programs and other support files.

As a consequence, having reinstalled Windows it should not be necessary to reinstall the applications software as well. The down side is that any files giving problems with the old installation may be retained, in the new one. Having reinstalled the operating system you could well find that it does not work any better than before. My experiences suggest that reinstalling Windows on top of the existing installation probably has little more than a 50 percent chance of success. As it is a reasonably quick and easy process it is probably worthwhile giving it a try before resorting to an installation "from scratch", but do not be surprised if it does not have the desired effect.

Do not be tempted to try upgrading to a newer version of Windows by installing it on top of a non-working version. People sometimes try this, working on the basis that the new version will have little dependency on the old one, and the problem with the old version will be "blown away" by the new version. In practice there is little likelihood of this happening. The Windows Setup program may detect that there is a problem and refuse to go ahead with the upgrade. If it does proceed, the most likely outcome is that the reinstallation will go very wrong somewhere along the line, and that it will never be completed. If you do manage to get the new version installed, it will probably have more problems than the old one.

# **Preliminaries**

If you do decide to go ahead with reinstallation "from scratch" it is essential to backup any important data files first. If you are using heavily customised applications programs it is also a good idea to make copies of the configuration files so that the customisation files are easily reinstated. In fact any files that are unique to your particular installation should be backed-up, including things like speech profiles of voice recognition programs. Some of your applications programs may have facilities for saving and reinstating customisation files. In other cases simply overwriting the default files with your customised versions will probably have the desired effect.

It is worth emphasising that backing-up important files should not be left until the PC gives problems. If there is a serious fault in the hard disc it may be impossible to recover any files that have not been backed-up. Matters are less dire if the problem lies in the operating system rather than the disc itself, but it could still be difficult to make backup copies of important files. With the computer not booting into the operating system properly, you are unlikely to have proper access to all the drives and applications programs. Provided Safe Mode is functioning properly you can boot into a version of Windows, but one where drives other than the hard and floppy discs will not be functioning. This limits your backup options. There are ways of making a backup of a hard disc drive in an emergency, but this might involve buying some additional hardware. It is better to avoid getting into situations where drastic measures are needed in order to recover the situation.

# **Floppy discs**

Floppy discs are suitable for backup purposes where only a limited amount of data is involved. The upper limit depends on how many floppy discs you are prepared to use, a factor that is probably a reflection of how desperate you are! Backing up 30 megabytes of data onto about 20 or so floppy discs will be quite time consuming, but is still well within the bounds of reason. Backing up several hundred megabytes onto dozens of floppy discs is not a very practical proposition, and the discs could well cost more than some more convenient backup systems! In terms of megabytes per pound, floppy discs are not very competitive these days.

Where floppy discs are suitable, there is a potential problem in that some of the files you wish to copy may be too big to fit on a single floppy disc.

#### 3 Data rescue

The capacity of a high-density 3.5-inch floppy disc is 1.44 megabytes when the standard PC disc format is used. Things like DTP and graphics files can be substantially larger than this. The normal copying facilities of MS/DOS and Windows can not spread a large file across one or more discs. If you try to copy a file that is too large to fit onto the disc an error message to that effect will be produced. Fortunately, there are several MS/DOS and Windows programs that can handle this problem. The later versions of the popular Winzip program for example, will compress and copy large files to several floppy discs if necessary. You can even copy a collection of files and save them as one large file spread across several discs.

## Large scale

If floppy discs are not up to the task it is clearly necessary to resort to some form of mass storage device. It is highly unlikely that any installed device of this type will work in Safe Mode, including a simple read-only CD-ROM drive, but it might be possible to get non-standard drives to operate in MS/DOS. In this context, non-standard means just about anything other than a floppy disc drive or an IDE hard disc drive.

With Windows 95 and 98 you have the option of restarting the computer in MS/DOS mode. From the Start menu select Shut down and Restart in MS/DOS mode. The computer can also be started in MS/DOS mode pressing F8 as the computer starts to boot into Windows, and then selecting the appropriate option from the menu. Neither of these routes is available in Windows Me. The MS/DOS prompt is still available via the Start button and the Programs menu option, but this is unlikely to be of much help.

In fact you may find that the mass storage device mysteriously disappears from the operating system's repertoire when the PC is booted in MS/ DOS mode. In the case of a CD writer it may still be accessible, but only for reading purposes. Trying to write files to it will probably produce an error message. It is possible that the storage device simply lacks MS/ DOS compatibility, in which case it will only be usable if you can get Windows largely operational again. It is more likely that the device can be used with MS/DOS, but the MS/DOS drivers are not installed by default. The instruction manual for the drive should make it clear whether or not the device can be used with MS/DOS.

If it can, installation instructions and the necessary software should be included with the drive. Usually the easiest way of tackling the problem is to make a bootable floppy disc and to then boot the PC using this.

The simplest way of making a bootable disc is to place a blank (formatted or unformatted) floppy disc in drive A: and then issue this command at the MS/DOS prompt:

#### format A:/s

Follow any onscreen prompts, and the disc will then be formatted after which the system files will be copied onto it. This gives a basic boot disc, but the support software for the mass storage device must then be installed onto the disc. The drive's instruction manual should give detailed installation instructions, and may well give full details of how to make an emergency boot disc. Note that the BIOS settings may have to be changed before the PC will boot from a floppy disc. Changing drive and boot settings in the BIOS is covered later in this chapter.

# Second disc

If you have large amounts of data to backup and no mass storage device, your choices are limited. One option is to simply keep trying to repair the Windows installation until you are successful. Any Windows installation should be repairable, and persistence should eventually pay off. You may get lucky and fix the problem fairly quickly, or a great deal of time could be involved in locating and removing the problem. The biggest drawback of this method is that you will still have no backup of the hard disc's contents, limiting your options if there are further problems with the Windows installation. Also, the contents of the disc will probably be lost forever if the drive becomes faulty.

Many users save data onto a hard disc thinking that their work is safe and secure, but this is definitely not the case. Having data on a hard disc is sometimes likened to hanging paper documents by a thin thread over an open fire. Modern hard drives are relatively reliable, but if used for long enough a hard disc drive will go wrong, and you will probably end up throwing away the drive together with all your hard work.

A better option is to add some form of mass storage device. An external (parallel port) Zip drive is not particularly expensive, and in an emergency it should work quite happily with the computer booted into MS/DOS. A few Zip discs can store several hundred megabytes of data, which should be sufficient to backup any important data files, configuration files, etc. Note that any form of USB or SCSI storage device is unlikely to work with Windows in Safe mode or with MS/DOS. This is simply because the interface will not be recognised in Safe mode or in MS/DOS, rendering the drive "invisible" to the operating system.

#### 3 Data rescue

My preferred option is to add another hard disc drive. These days this probably represents the cheapest means of adding large amounts of extra storage capacity to a PC, and a hard disc also has the advantage of being very fast. Read and write speeds are measured in megabytes per second, unlike some other storage systems where it is specified as so many megabytes per minute. A further advantage of the hard disc approach is that the disc should work properly with Windows booted in Safe Mode, or with the PC booted in MS/DOS mode. It should even work using the Windows MS/DOS Prompt program. A hard disc drive is one of the standard PC drives, and as such it does not require any special drivers for basic operation. This makes life easier at the best of times, but greatly eases things when the Windows installation is damaged.

# Adding a drive

Fitting a second hard disc drive obviously requires the lid or side panel of the PC to be removed, followed by some delving around inside the computer. It is not one of the more difficult upgrades, but unless you are reasonably practical it would be advisable to have the upgrade done professionally. Most shops that sell hard disc drives also offer an upgrade service, but it will almost certainly cost substantially more to have the drive fitted for you. However, this extra cost is preferable to damaging the PC and having to pay a hefty repair bill. Assuming that you feel confident enough to go ahead with the upgrade yourself, the first task is to open up the PC to determine the current configuration.

With older PCs the top and two sides of the case are in one piece, and are released by removing four or six screws at the rear of the unit. Be careful, because there will probably be other screws here that hold other things in place, such as the power supply unit. With the right screws removed the outer casing should pull away upwards and rearwards, but it will probably take a certain amount of force to pull it free. More modern cases have removable side panels, and in most cases these are again held in place by four or six screws at the rear of the unit. Both panels must be removed in order to give full access to the drive bays. If your PC has one of the more unusual case styles it will be necessary to carefully examine the exterior in order to "crack" it.

A modern PC has the hard disc interface on the motherboard rather than provided by an expansion card. In fact there are two hard disc interfaces on the motherboard, or possibly four on a modern PC. These are known as IDE interfaces, and this simply stands for integrated drive electronics. In other words, most of the electronics for the hard disc drive controller is built into the drive itself. At one time the IDE interfaces were strictly for hard disc drives, but in a modern PC they can be used for other types of drive. These multipurpose interfaces are more accurately called EIDE interfaces, which stands for enhanced integrated drive electronics. In practice they are still often referred to as just plain IDE interfaces. Many types of drive can be used with an EIDE interface, including CD-ROM, Zip, and LS120 drives.

In a typical PC the hard disc drive is connected to IDE port 1 and the CD-ROM drive is wired to IDE port 2. However, each IDE interface supports up to two devices, so the hard disc and CD-ROM drive could be connected to IDE port 1 via a single cable. Assuming that your PC has no more than three internal drives, excluding any floppy drives, it should certainly be able to support another hard drive. If you look at the cabling inside the PC you should find some wide cables, know as "ribbon" cables, that connect the drives to the motherboard. With luck, at least one of these cables will have an unused connector that can be used with the new drive.

Note that any spare connector on the drive that connects to the floppy disc drive is of no use with a hard disc drive. The floppy variety uses a

completely different interface having a smaller connector. A suitable power supply lead and connector is also needed. The connectors come in two sizes, which are a larger one for 5.25inch drives and a smaller one for the 3.5-inch variety (Figure 3.1). However, all the hard disc drives I have encountered use the larger connector regardless of whether they fit 3.5-inch or 5.25inch bays.



Fig.3.1 3.5-inch (left) and 5.25-inch (right) power connectors

If you are out of luck, one or other of the required leads and connectors will not be present. If the hard disc and CD-ROM drive share an IDE interface, the other IDE interface will be available for the additional drive, but it will not be fitted with a cable. Another possibility is that the existing drives are connected to separate IDE interfaces using single cables rather than types having two connectors for drives. In either case a standard twin IDE data lead is needed in addition to the drive (Figure 3.2).





### **Bare facts**

Hard drives are available in so called "bare" and "retail" or "boxed" versions. A bare drive may consist of nothing more than the drive itself. However, it will usually include an instruction manual and a set of fixing screws, but no data cable. Incidentally, if you find yourself with a hard drive but no matching manual, the web sites of most hard disc manufacturers include downloadable versions of the manuals for most of their hard disc units. Unless you are dealing with a very old or unusual drive, the information you require should be available on the manufacturer's web site.

The retail versions of hard drives normally include a cable in addition to a set of fixing screws and a more comprehensive manual. There may be other items such as a mounting cradle to permit a 3.5-inch drive to be used in a 5.25-inch drive bay. With modern drives there may well be two data cables included with the drive. One of these is a standard IDE cable that can be used with any IDE drive and any IDE interface. The other cable enables the drive to be used with a modern IDE interface that supports UDMA66 or possibly the new UDMA100 standard. UDMA66 and UDMA100 have the potential of faster data transfers than older standards such as the UDMA33 variety, but they can only be used if they are supported by the motherboard, the drive itself, and the correct cable is used.

The instruction manual for your PC should state whether or not it supports anything beyond UDMA33. If in doubt, the safe option is to use a standard IDE cable. This may provide something less than the ultimate in performance, but the disc should still work very well. It should certainly work well enough for making a backup of the main drive. Drive speeds are improving, but with many drives it is still the drive itself rather than the interface that limits performance. Do not try to use a mixture of UDMA33 and UDMA66 or UDMA100 devices on one interface. The cable will only be right for one type or the other, and each interface can only work in one mode or the other. It is perfectly all right to have UDMA33 devices on the other.

# **Static**

If you buy virtually any computer add-on to fit inside a PC it will be supplied in packaging plastered with dire wamings about the dangers of static electricity. Some of these are a bit "over the top", and suggest that going anywhere near the device without the protection of expensive anti-static equipment will result in it being instantly zapped. In reality the risks of static induced damage occurring are probably quite small. On the other hand, computer add-ons have yet to fall in price so far that they are in the "two a penny" category, and the risk of damage occurring is a real one. By observing a few simple rules the likelihood of damage can be reduced to insignificant proportions.

Rule number one is to leave the device in its packaging until it is time to install it. The plastic bags, foam lined boxes, etc., used for computer bits and pieces are designed to keep static electricity at bay. In some cases the packaging is designed to insulate the contents from high voltages. In others it is designed to conduct electricity so that no significant charge can build up between any two points in the device being protected. Any charges of this type will be almost instantly short-circuited by the conductive packaging.

Rule number two is to make sure that you are not charged with a high static voltage that could damage the device when you remove it from the packing. When working on computers do not wear clothes that are

#### 3 Data rescue

known to be good generators of static electricity. Manmade fibres are the most prolific static generators, but most modern clothes are made from natural fibres or a mixture of manmade and natural fibres, so this is not the major problem that it was at one time.

To make quite sure that both yourself and the device being installed are charge free, hold the device in its packing in one hand, and touch something that is earthed with the other hand. Any charge in you or the device should then leak away to earth. The metal case of the computer is a convenient earth point. With the cover or side panels removed there should be plenty of bare metal to touch. Touching the paintwork will not provide reliable earthing since most paints are excellent electrical insulators. Note that the computer must be plugged into the mains supply, but it does not have to be switched on.

Rule number three is to keep the work area free of any large static charges. Any obvious sources of static charges should be removed from the vicinity of the computer. Television sets and computer monitors are good static generators, which means that the computer must be moved away from the monitor before you start work on it. This will normally be necessary anyway, because with the computer's base unit in its normal location it will probably be difficult to get proper access to the interior of the unit. It needs to be placed on a table where there is good access to the interior and plenty of light so that you can see what you are doing.

The table should preferably be one that it not precious, but if necessary the top can be protected with something like a generous quantity of old newspapers. It is a good idea to have the PC plugged into the mains supply but switched off at the mains socket. The earthed metal chassis of the computer will then tend to earth any static charges in its vicinity, preventing any dangerous charges from building up.

If you follow these simple rules it is very unlikely that the add-on device will be damaged by static charges. When dealing with hard disc drives it is as well to bear in mind that they are relatively delicate physically. Modern drives, although more intricate, are not as vulnerable as the early types. Even so, dropping a hard disc drive onto the floor is definitely not a good idea!

### **Jumpers**

An IDE device has configuration jumpers that are used to set whether the unit will be used as the master or slave device on its IDE channel. Even if there is only one device on an IDE channel, that device must still


Fig.3.3 Typical layout for the rear of an IDE drive

be set as the master or slave unit. By convention, a single drive on an IDE channel is set as the master device. Therefore, if you are adding the new disc to an IDE channel that already has one device installed, the new drive must be set to operate as the slave device. If the new drive will be the sole device on its IDE channel, it must be set for master operation.

The rear of most CD-ROM drives and some IDE hard disc drives look something like Figure 3.3. The connector on the left is the power input

and the one on the right is for the data cable. In between these are three pairs of terminals that can be bridged electrically by a tiny metal and plastic gadget called a jumper. A jumper can be seen in place in Figure 3.4. The "cable select" option is not used in a PC context, so only two pairs of contacts are relevant here. You simply place the jumper on the master or slave contacts, depending on which option you require. The



Fig.3.4 A jumper fitted to a drive

configuration jumper should be supplied with the drive incidentally, and is normally set at the master option by default on a hard disc drive.

With hard disc drives matters are not always as simple as the arrangement shown in Figure 3.3. There is often an additional set of terminals, and these are used where the drive will be used as the only device on an IDE channel. Using this setting will allow a lone drive to be correctly identified and used by the PC. If the drive has these additional terminals (or they

### ata rescue

are fitted in place of the cable select pins), you must use them for a sole IDE drive, as it is unlikely that the drive will be picked up properly by the BIOS if the normal master setting is used. Getting it wrong is not likely to produce any damage, but the drive will be unusable until the mistake has been corrected. The manual supplied with the drive should give details of the configuration settings available.

If the new drive is used as the slave device on the primary IDE channel, the other hard drive will presumably be the master device on this channel. The existing drive will need its configuration setting altered if it is set to operate as the sole IDE device on its channel. The manual supplied with the PC should give details of the configuration settings. Alternatively, it should be possible to identify the drive from its markings, and it will almost certainly be possible to find its instruction manual on the Internet.

Where there is no device on the secondary IDE channel, or only a CD-ROM, it would probably be best to add the new drive on this channel. If a CD-ROM is present on this channel, adding the new drive as the secondary slave device is unlikely to require any configuration changes to the CD-ROM drive. If no device is already present, simply add the new drive as the master device or sole device, as appropriate. In theory, data exchanges between the two hard disc drives will be quicker if they are on different IDE channels, so where possible it is better to arrange things this way.

It is definitely a good idea to check the configuration setting of the new drive, and where necessary alter it, prior to fitting the drive in the case. Once the drive is fitted inside the case it can be difficult to get at the jumper and terminals, and it can be very difficult indeed to see what you are doing when adjusting the jumper.

# **Getting physical**

It is not essential to install the new hard drive in the computer as a fixture. You may prefer to simply connect the new drive to the data and power cables, do the backup, reinstallation and restoration, and then disconnect the drive again. It can then be stored safely away somewhere in case it is needed at some later date. With the drive in storage rather than in use it should not wear out, and should be ready for use if it is needed a few years "down the line". I used this method successfully with a couple of PCs for many years, although not strictly out of choice.

With a PC that has one of the minimalist cases you may find that there are no spare bays for another hard disc drive. Note that it is possible to use a 3.5-inch drive in a 5.25-inch drive bay using an adapter. This is



Fig.3.5 The connections on the underside of the drive must not be allowed to come into contact with the chassis, etc.

just a metal cradle into which the drive is bolted, and the whole assembly then fits into the drive bay just like a 5.25-inch drive. This adapter should be available from any large computer store. As pointed out previously, it is sometimes (but not always) included with boxed retail versions of hard disc drives.

When temporarily connecting a drive it is essential to make sure that no exposed connections on the unit come into electrical contact with the metal case, expansion cards, etc. Some drives are fully enclosed, but most have the underside of the circuit board exposed (Figure 3.5). Often the easiest way of keeping the drive safe is to place it on top of the computer with some newspaper to insulate the drive from the case. With a PC that has some form of tower case it is usually easier to work on the unit if it is placed on its side. The drive can then be placed on the side of the drive cage, again with newspaper being used to provide insulation.

Probably most users will wish to use the additional disc as a permanent feature. This is essential if you wish to use it to make frequent backups or you will be making backup copies of data files as they are generated. If you are using a drive bay that has no front opening, the new drive

### 3 Data rescue

must be slid in from the rear. Any expansion cards that get in the way must be removed temporarily. Remove the screws that fix the cards to the rear of the chassis and it should then be possible to pull the cards free.

The sockets on the drive are at the rear, so the other end is pushed into the rear of the drive bay. The manufacturer's name, etc., are marked on the top plate of the drive, so this side should be facing upward. In most cases the drive can be fully pushed into the bay, but it is sometimes necessary to ease it back slightly to get the mounting holes in the drive and the bay to match up properly.

In days gone by it was necessary to use plastic guide rails to mount the drives in the case, but any PC made within the last seven years or more should have drive bays that take the drives without the need for these rails. Four mounting bolts are normally supplied with the drive, and these are used to secure it to the bay. If no fixing screws were supplied with the drive, the PC may have been supplied with some odds and ends of hardware. If so, there will probably be some suitable screws in amongst these. Failing that, you will have to buy some metric M3 screws about 6 millimetres long. Note that the mounting screws must be quite short, and should not protrude more than a few millimetres into the drive.

With a so-called "external" drive bay, it might be easier to insert the drive from the front. Where the interior of the computer is very crowded this can avoid having to remove expansion cards to get the drive in place. An external bay is really intended for use with a floppy drive, CD-ROM drive, or some other type where access is needed to the drive for changing discs. However, an external bay is perfectly suitable for a wholly internal drive such as a hard disc unit. The plastic cover at the very front of the bay can be carefully prised out using a flat bladed screwdriver, and it might then be possible to slide the drive in through the front of the case. There will probably be a metal plate behind the plastic cover though. It may be possible to remove this by first removing two or three fixing screws, but in most cases the plate has to be repeatedly twisted backwards and forwards until the thin pieces of metal holding it in place fatigue and break.

# Cabling

The ribbon cable used to provide the data connection has three identical connectors. There is no specific connector for the motherboard and each drive, but because the cable is quite short it will probably have to

connect everything together in a particular way in order to reach everything. It should not take too long to fathom out the best way of using the cable. Things are much easier when the new hard drive is the sole device on an IDE channel. The cable should then connect the motherboard to the drive without difficulty.

The connectors must be fitted to the motherboard and drives the correct way round. In theory the connectors are polarised and can only be fitted the right way round. There is a protrusion on the lead's connectors and a matching groove in the connectors on the motherboard and drives. Figure 3.6 shows the polarising keys in the two IDE connectors on a motherboard. Unfortunately, some connectors, and mainly those on

motherboards, are sometimes a bit too minimalist and are not properly polarised. A search through the appropriate instruction manuals should show which is pin 1 on each This connector. information is often marked on the motherboard and the



Fig.3.6 Two polarised IDE connectors on a motherboard

drives themselves. To make things easier, the ribbon cable has one red lead while the other 39 are grey. The convention is for the red lead to carry the pin 1 connection. Provided this lead is adjacent to pin 1 on the connector for the motherboard and both drives, everything will be connected together properly.

A spare power cable is needed for the new drive, and if there is a spare drive bay there should really be a spare power lead as well. However, it might be fitted with the smaller connector for 3.5-inch floppy drives, whereas it is the larger power connector that is required for hard disc drives, whether they are of the 3.5-inch or 5.25-inch variety. A large computer store should be able to provide a 3.5 to 5.25-inch power connector adapter. If there is no spare power cable, a splitter adapter is available. This provides two power connectors from a single power lead. Remove the power lead from the existing hard disc drive and connect it to the splitter. The two remaining connectors of the splitter are then connected to the hard disc drives. The power connectors are

### 3 Data rescue

fully polarised and can only be connected the right way around. They are also quite stiff, and often need a certain amount of force in order to get them properly connected or disconnected again.

# **BIOS Setup**

Having physically installed the hard disc it will be necessary to go into the BIOS Setup program and set the appropriate parameters for the new disc. The BIOS is something that most PC users never need to get involved with, but for anyone undertaking PC upgrading it is likely that some involvement will be needed from time to time. It is certainly something that can not be avoided if you add a second hard disc drive. In days gone by it was necessary to have a utility program to make changes to the BIOS settings, but this program is built into a modern PC BIOS. A modern BIOS Setup program enables dozens of parameters to be controlled, many of which are highly technical. This tends to make the BIOS intimidating for newcomers and even to those who have some experience of dealing with PC technicalities. However, most of the BIOS settings are not the type of thing the user will need to bother with, and very few are relevant to the hard disc drives.

# **BIOS basics**

Before looking at the BIOS Setup program it would perhaps be as well to consider the function of the BIOS. BIOS is a acronym and it stands for basic input/output system. Its primary function is to help the operating system handle the input and output devices, such as the drives, and ports, and also the memory circuits. It is a program that is stored in a ROM on the motherboard. These days the chip is usually quite small and sports a holographic label to prove that it is the genuine article (Figure 3.7). The old style ROM is a standard ROM chip in the much larger DIL (dual in-line) encapsulation.

Either way its function is the same. Because the BIOS program is in a ROM on the motherboard it can be run immediately at start-up without the need for any form of booting process. It is the BIOS that provides the test procedures when a PC is switched on, and the BIOS also starts the boot process.

The BIOS can provide software routines that help the operating system to utilize the hardware effectively, and it can also store information about the hardware for use by the operating system, and possibly other



Fig.3.7 A modern BIOS chip. This contains the Setup program in addition to the BIOS

software. It is this second role that makes it necessary to have the Setup program. The BIOS can actually detect much of the system hardware and store the relevant technical information in memory. Also, a modern BIOS is customised to suit the particular hardware it is dealing with, and the defaults should be sensible ones for the hardware on the motherboard. However, some parameters have to be set manually, such as the time and date, and the user may wish to override some of the default settings.

The Setup program enables the user to control the settings that the BIOS stores away in its memory. A backup battery powers this memory when the PC is switched off, so its contents are available each time the PC is turned on. Once the correct parameters have been set it should not be necessary to change them unless the hardware is altered, such as a new hard disc drive being added or the existing hard disc being upgraded. In practice the BIOS settings can sometimes be scrambled by a software or hardware glitch, although this is not a common problem with modern PCs.



Fig.3.8 The initial screen of an AMI BIOS Setup program

# Entry

In the past there have been several common means of getting into the BIOS Setup program, but with modern motherboards there is only one method in common use. This is to press the Delete key at the appropriate point during the initial testing phase just after switch-on. The BIOS will display a message, usually in the bottom left hand corner of the screen, telling you to press the "Del" key to enter the Setup program. The instruction manual should provide details if the motherboard you are using has a different method of entering the Setup program. The most common alternative is to press the "Escape" key rather than the "Del" key, but numerous alternatives have been used over the years, and no doubt some of these are still in use.

Every PC should be supplied with a manual that has a section dealing with the BIOS. Actually a lot of PCs are supplied with a very simple "Getting Started" style manual, but this is usually augmented by the manufacturers' manuals for the main components. It is then the motherboard manual that will deal with the BIOS. It is worth looking through the BIOS section of the manual before you actually go into the

ROM PCI/ISA CMOS Setu Award Soft	BIOS (28591C3E) P UTILITY MARE, INC.
STANDARD CHOS SETUP	INTEGRATED PERIPHERALS
BIOS FEATURES SETUP	SUPERVISOR PASSWORD
SeePU & CHIPSET SETUP	USER PASSMORD
POWER MANACEMENT SETUP	IDE HDD AUTO DETECTION
PNP/PCI CONFIGURATION	SAVE & EXIT SETUP
LOAD SETUP DEFAULTS	EXIT WITHOUT SAVING
Esc : Quit F18 : Save à Exit Setup	t I ↔ ↔ : Select Item (Shift)F2 : Change Color
Virus Protection	, Boot Sequence

Fig.3.9 The initial screen of an Award BIOS Setup program

BIOS program. This will give you an idea of how things work, but do not bother too much about the more obscure settings.

In the current context it is only some of the Standard CMOS settings that are of interest. Do not expect the manual to give detailed explanations of the various settings. Most motherboard instruction manuals assume the user is familiar with all the BIOS features, and there will be few detailed explanations. In fact there will probably just be a list of the available options and no real explanations at all. This does not really matter, and you really only need to know how to get into the BIOS, make a few changes, save the changes, and exit the program.

There are several BIOS manufacturers and their BIOS Setup programs each work in a slightly different fashion. The Award BIOS and AMI BIOS are two common examples, and although they control the same basic functions, they are organised in somewhat different ways. A modern AMI BIOS has a Setup program that will detect any reasonably standard mouse connected to the PC, and offers a simple form of WIMP environment (Figure 3.8). It can still be controlled via the keyboard if preferred, or if the BIOS does not operate with the mouse you are using. The Award BIOS is probably the most common (Figure 3.9), and as far as I am aware it only uses keyboard control.

	ROM	4 PCI/IS Standard Mard So	A BIOS CMOS IFTWARE	(205 Setur	591C3E) ) ).			
Date (nn:dd:yy) : Tlme (hh:nn:se) :	Tue, Se 22 : <b>39</b>	21 199 : 15	19					
HARD DISKS	TYPE	SIZE	CYLS	HEAD	PRECOMP	-UNDS	SECTOR	MODE
Primary Master Primary Slave	: Auto : None	9 A	8 A	8 8	9 8	8		AUTO
Secondary Master Secondary Slave	: Auto : None		0	8	0	8	8	auto 
Drive A : 1.44M, : Drive B : None	3.5 in.				Base	Henory	: 646	ĸ
Video : ECA/UCA Hait On : Ali Erro	DFS			E) —	(tended Other	Henory Henory	: 64512 : 384	K K
					Tatal	Henory	: 65536	K
ESC : Quit F1 : Help	t J (Sh	++ Ift)F2	Selec Chang	st Ite je Col	an Ior	<b>P</b> U/PD,	/•/- : #	lodlfy

Fig.3.10 A typical standard CMOS Setup screen

Apart from variations in the BIOS due to different manufacturers, the BIOS will vary slightly from one motherboard to another. This is simply due to the fact that features available on one motherboard may be absent or different on another motherboard. Also, the world of PCs in general is developing at an amazing rate, and this is reflected in frequent BIOS updates. Fortunately, the Standard CMOS section has not changed much over the years, so it should not differ significantly from the one described here unless you are dealing with a computer than falls into the "antique" category.

# **Standard CMOS**

There are so many parameters that can be controlled via the BIOS Setup program that they are normally divided into half a dozen or so groups. The most important of these is the "Standard CMOS Setup" (Figure 3.10), which is basically the same as the BIOS Setup in the original AT style PCs. The first parameters in the list are the time and date. These can usually be set via an operating system utility these days, but you can still alter them via the Setup program if you prefer. There are on-screen

106

ROM PCI/ISA BIOS (28591C3E) Stahdard CMOS Setup Award Software, Inc.	
Date (min:dd:yy) : Tue, Sep 21 1999 Time (hhr:mn:ss) : 22 : 49 : 9	
HARD DESKS	Z SECTOR MODE
Primary Master	OTUA O OTUA
Primary Slave Selects the type of fixed disk. Secondary Moster 'User type' will let you select the Secondary Slave number of cylinders, heads, etc.	0 01 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00
Drive A : 1.44M, Note: PRECOMP=65535 means NONE ?	
DIIVE D + HUNG	y: 64512K
Video : EGA/VG Halt Op : All Er	jy: 384K
	M: 65536K
ESC : Quit	-D/+/- : Modify
F1 : Help (Shift)F2 : Change Color	والمسربة المسيبية

Fig.3.11 Most Setup programs provide context sensitive help

instructions that tell you how to alter and select options. One slight oddity to watch out for is that you often have to use the Page Up key to decrement values, and the Page Down key to increment them.

With virtually any modern BIOS a help screen can be brought up by pressing F1, and this will usually be context sensitive (Figure 3.11). In other words, if the cursor is in the section that deals with the hard drives, the help screen produced by pressing F1 will tell you about the hard disc parameters. It would be unreasonable to expect long explanations from a simple on-line help system, and a couple of brief and to the point sentences are all that will normally be provided.

# **Drive settings**

The next section is the one we need, and it is used to set the operating parameters for the devices on the IDE ports. The hard disc is normally the master device on the primary IDE channel (IDE1), and the CD-ROM is usually the master device on the secondary IDE channel (IDE2). However, to avoid the need for a second data cable the CD-ROM drive is sometimes the slave device on the primary IDE interface. Your new

### 3 Data rescue

drive could therefore be any of the four available devices apart from the primary device on IDE1, which will be the original hard disc drive. If in doubt, this table should help you decide which device it is:

# IDE chan/deviceIf the new drive is...IDE1 secondaryon the same cable as the original hard driveIDE2 primarythe sole device on the opposite channel to the<br/>original hard discIDE2 secondaryon the same cable as the CD-ROM drive (or other<br/>device such as a CD writer)

Having decided how the new drive fits into the overall scheme of things you can set the appropriate parameters. The drive should really be supplied with a manual that provides the correct BIOS settings, but it is usually possible to get by without it. One of the parameters is the hard disc's type number. In the early days there were about 40 standard types of hard disc drive, and it was just a matter of selecting the appropriate type number for the drive in use. The BIOS would then supply the appropriate parameters for that drive.

This system was unable to cope with the ever increasing range of drives available, and something more flexible therefore had to be devised. The original 40 plus preset drive settings are normally still available from a modern BIOS, but there is an additional option that enables the drive parameters to be specified by the user. This is the method used with all modern PCs and their high capacity hard disc drives, so choose the Custom setting and ignore the drive numbers.

The drive table parameters basically just tell the operating system the size of drive, and the way that the disc is organised. Although we refer to a hard disc as a singular disc, most of these units use both sides of two or more discs. Each side of the disc is divided into cylinders (tracks), and each cylinder is subdivided into several sectors. There are usually other parameters that enable the operating system to use the disc quickly and efficiently. You do not really need to understand these parameters, and just have to make sure that the correct figures are placed into the drive table. As pointed out previously, the manual for the hard drive should provide the correct figures for the BIOS. If you do not have the manual, it can probably be downloaded from the disc manufacturer's web site.



Fig.3.12 An IDE auto-detection screen

If you do not have the manual or prefer to take an easier option, a modern BIOS makes life easy for you by offering an "Auto" option. If this is selected, the BIOS examines the hardware during the start-up routine and enters the correct figures automatically. This usually works very well, but with some drives it can take a while, which extends the boot-up time. If the PC has been set up with this option enabled, the drive table will be blank.

There is an alternative method of automatic detection that avoids the boot-up delay, and any reasonably modern BIOS should have this facility. If you go back to the initial menu you will find a section called "IDE HDD Auto Detection" (Figure 3.12), and this offers a similar auto-detection facility. When this option is selected the Setup program examines the hardware on each IDE channel, and offers suggested settings for each of the four possible IDE devices. If you accept the suggested settings for the hard disc drive (or drives) they will be entered into the CMOS RAM. There may actually be several alternatives offered per IDE device, but the default suggestion is almost invariably the correct one. If you do not know the correct settings for a drive, this facility should find them for you.

It is perhaps worth mentioning that with an IDE drive the figures in the drive table do not usually have to match the drive's physical characteristics. Indeed, they rarely if ever do so. The electronics in the drive enable it to mimic any valid physical arrangement that does not exceed the capacity of the drive. In practice it is advisable to use the figures recommended by the drive manufacturer, as these are tried and tested, and should guarantee perfect results. Other figures can sometimes give odd problems such as unreliable booting, even though they are within the acceptable limits.

The last parameter for each IDE drive is usually something like Auto, Normal, LBA (large block addressing), and Large. Normal is for drives under 528MB, while LBA and Large are alternative modes for drives having a capacity of more than 528MB. Modern drives have capacities of well in excess of 528MB, and mostly require the LBA mode. The manual for the hard drive should give the correct setting, but everything should work fine with "Auto" selected.

It is increasingly common for modern motherboards to have four rather than two IDE interfaces. With a motherboard of this type it will usually be possible for the added hard disc drive to have its own IDE interface even if the PC already is already fitted with something like one hard disc drive, a CD-ROM drive and a CD writer. Finding a spare IDE channel for the new drive should be that much easier, but in other respects things are essentially the same as when dealing with a twin IDE port motherboard.

# **Drive letters**

Some users get confused because they think a hard drive that will be partitioned should have separate entries in the BIOS for each partition. This is not the case, and as far as the BIOS is concerned each physical hard disc is a single drive, and has just one entry in the CMOS RAM table. The partitioning of hard discs is handled by the operating system, and so is the assignment of drive letters. The BIOS is only concerned with the physical characteristics of the drives, and not how data will be arranged and stored on the discs.

If you are adding a drive for backup purposes there is usually no point in using more than one partition. The only and fairly obvious exception if where the drive you are backing up has been partitioned to operate as two or more logical drives. It is then advisable to have the partitioning of the backup drive match that of the main drive as closely as possible. The other Standard CMOS settings are concerned with the floppy discs and the default display type, and should simply be left as they are. The same is true of the settings in the other pages of the BIOS Setup program. Do not be tempted to start playing around with these unless you know exactly what you are doing. Entering silly settings is unlikely to damage anything, but could well prevent the PC from operating properly. The BIOS will probably have options that enable the previous settings to be reinstated, or default settings to be used. These can be useful if you should accidentally scramble a few parameters. Note though, that no settings are actually altered unless and until you select the Save Parameters and Exit option, and then answer Yes when asked to confirm this action. This is clearly the route you should take if everything has gone according to plan. Take the Exit Without Saving option if things have not gone well. Simply switching off the PC or pressing the reset button should have the same effect.

# Partitioning

With the early PC hard disc drives it was necessary to do low level formatting of the drive before it could be partitioned and the high level formatting could be undertaken. Modern hard drives are supplied with the low level formatting already done. If there is a low level formatting option in the BIOS Setup program, never use it on an IDE hard disc drive. Do not use any similar facility in any utility suites that you might have.

No low level formatting is required, but with operating systems such as MS/DOS, Windows 95/98, and Windows Me the hard disc drive must be partitioned and high-level formatted before it can be used.

Start by booting the computer in MS/DOS mode, or from the floppy disc drive using a Windows Startup disc. If you do not have a Startup disc, one can be made by going into the Windows Control Panel. One route to this is to operate the Start button, and then select Settings and Control Panel. Once in the control panel double-click on the Add/Remove Programs icon, select Startup Disk, and finally operate the Create Disk button. Then follow the onscreen prompts. A blank 1.44 megabyte floppy disc is required. Note that you will be asked to insert the Windows 95/98/Me CD-ROM into the CD-ROM drive, because some of the files required are not normally stored on the hard disc. The method of making the disc is exactly the same for all three operating systems incidentally.

It is probable that the BIOS will already be set to boot from the floppy disc drive, but if necessary you must use the BIOS Setup program to set

ROM PCI/ISA B	IOS (28591C3E)
Bios Featur	Es setup
Award Softw	Are, inc.
Trend ChipAway Virus : Disabled Boot Sector Intrusion Alert: Disabled CPU Internal Cache : Enabled External Cache : Enabled Quick Power On Self Test : Enabled Boot Sequence : CDRON,C,A Swap Floppy Drive : Disabled Boot Up Floppy Seek : Enabled Boot Up NumLock Status : Dff Boot Up System Speed : High Typematic Rate Setting : Disabled Typematic Delay (Msec) : 250 Security Option : Setup PCI/UCA Palette Snoop : Disabled DS Select (For DRAM > 64MB): Non-OS2	Uldeo BIOS Shadow : Enabled C6000-CBFFF Shadow : Disabled CC000-CFFFF Shadow : Disabled D4000-D3FFF Shadow : Disabled D4000-D7FFF Shadow : Disabled D8000-D8FFF Shadow : Disabled DC000-DFFFF Shadow : Disabled DC000-DFFFF Shadow : Disabled ESC : Quit 14↔ : Select Item F1 : Help PU/PD/+/- : Modify F5 : Old Ualues (Shift)F2 : Color F7 : Load Setup Defaults

Fig.3.13 An example BIOS features Setup screen. Amongst other things, this is used to set the required boot option

the floppy drive as a boot device. There will be a page in the BIOS called something like BIOS Features Setup (Figure 3.13), and this should enable various boot sequences to be chosen. Choose one that has the floppy disc (drive A:) as the first boot device, and hard drive C: as the second. Any subsequent boot options are irrelevant, since the PC will always boot from one or other of the first two options.

With the computer booted-up and running MS-DOS or the Windows 95/ 98/Me equivalent of MS-DOS, the new hard drive will not be accessible. Until it has been partitioned it will be largely "invisible" to the operating system. Once partitioned the operating system will be more willing to admit to its existence, but it will still be of no use until high-level formatting has been performed using the MS-DOS FORMAT program. However, you must first prepare the disc using the FDISK partitioning program.

The Windows Startup disc contains copies of both FDISK and FORMAT, which are automatically placed on the disc for you when the Startup disc is created. Consequently, booting from the Startup disc is the easier way of doing things. If the PC is booted from the hard disc, either the Startup disc must be used to provide the FDISK and FORMAT programs, or you must find them on the hard disc. Unfortunately, they may not be present on the hard disc, or on the Windows CD-ROM in standalone form, so I would definitely recommend using the Startup disc. In the description that follows it is assumed that Format and FDISK are on the floppy disc in drive A:.

# FDISK

FDISK is used to create one or more DOS partitions, and with discs of 2.1 gigabytes or less you may wish to have the whole of the disc as a single partition. Assuming the original hard disc has one partition, the new hard disc drive then becomes drive D:. By creating further partitions it can also operate as drive E:, drive F:, etc. The primary partition is the normally the boot disc, and this is where the operating system would be installed. Obviously this does not apply to a second hard drive, and the primary partition is simply the first partition on the disc.

The MS/DOS and Windows 95 file systems set the 2.1-gigabyte partition limit. There is also an 8.4-gigabyte limit on the physical size of the drive. With Windows 98 and any reasonably modern BIOS these limits do not apply, but you must use the FAT32 file system. To do this simply answer yes when FDISK is first run, and you are asked if you require support for large hard disc drives. Even if you do not wish to have a large disc organised as one large partition, it is still best to opt for large hard disc support. FAT32 utilizes the available disc space more efficiently and reduces wastage. Note that if you only require a single partition, and that the FORMAT program will not work on the hard drive until FDISK has created a DOS partition.

Some hard discs are supplied complete with partitioning software that will also format the disc and add the system files, which will be copied from the boot disc. Where a utility program of this type is available it might be better to use it instead of the FDISK and FORMAT programs. These MS-DOS programs are fairly straightforward in use, but using the software supplied with the drive will almost certainly be even easier. The only problem is that the software might be intended for use with drive C:, and might give problems if you try to use it with drive D:. The instructions supplied with the software should make it clear whether the software is suitable for use with a second hard disc drive.

Should the program insist on placing the system files on drive D:, this is not really a major problem. The system files will waste a small amount of disc space, but should not give any problems when the system is booted provided the boot options are set correctly in the BIOS. If in doubt, simply use FDISK and FORMAT.

FDIS	K Options
Current fixed disk drive: 1	
Choose our of the following:	
1. Create DOS partition or Logica 2. Set active partition	l DOS Drive
<ol> <li>Belete partition or Logical DO: <ol> <li>Display partition Information</li> <li>Change current fixed disk drive</li> </ol> </li> </ol>	S Drive e
Enter cheice: [1]	
Press Esc to exit TDISK	

Fig.3.14 The main menu of the FDISK program

	11		Chang	e Carrent	Fixed	Disk	Irive	101	
Disk 1	Dru	Nbytes 9782	free	Usage 100%					
Z	C:	9782 2441	2441						
(1 Ent	HByte ter fin	= 1048576 ed Disk D	bytes) rive Num	ber (1-2)				 21	
Pri	ess Kac	to retar	n to FDI	SX Option	s		ŧε.		

Fig.3.15 The partition information screen



3



Fig.3.16 Creating a partition on the new hard disc

# **Using FDISK**

Once you are in FDISK there is a menu offering these choices (see also Figure 3.14):

- 1. Create DOS partition or logical DOS drive
- 2. Set the active partition
- 3. Delete partition or logical DOS drive
- 4. Display partition information
- 5 Change current fixed drive

Normally the first thing we need to do is create a DOS partition using option one, which is the default. However, in this case we are dealing with an additional hard drive, and we must first make sure that it is the one FDISK is dealing with. It is very important that you do not accidentally use FDISK with the wrong drive, since to do so would almost certainly remove all the data from the disc you are trying to backup! Select option 5, which should bring up a screen like that in Figure 3.15. The original

<b>Bisplay Partition Information</b>
Current fixed disk drive: 2
Partition Status Type Volume Label Mbytes System Usage D: 1 PRI DOS 1003 UMKNOWM 74%
Total disk space is , <b>2441</b> Hbytes (1 Mbyte = 1048576 bytes)
Press Ene to continue

Fig.3.17 Checking that the new partition has been created



Fig.3.18 Provided there is some spare capacity, one or more additional partitions can be added

hard disc unit is drive 1 and the new hard disc is drive 2. In this example drive 1 (C:) is the original drive of about 10 gigabytes in capacity, and drive 2 is the additional rescue drive having a capacity of about 2.4 gigabytes. Drive 2 will eventually be drive D:, but at this stage it has not yet been assigned a drive letter. If the current disc is drive 1, enter 2 for this parameter and press the Enter key to go back to the main screen.

Once drive 2 has been set as the current drive it can be partitioned, and option 1 can be selected. This takes you into a further menu offering these three options (Figure 3.16):

- 1. Create primary DOS partition
- 2. Create extended DOS partition
- 3. Create logical DOS drive(s) in the extended DOS partition

It is a primary DOS partition that is required, so select option one, which should again be the default. After the disc has been given a quick test you will be asked if you wish to use the maximum space for the partition. If you answer yes, the whole disc, or as much of it as FDISK can handle, will be used for the partition. If you answer no, you will then have to specify the size of the primary partition in megabytes. After a further quick check of the disc the new partition will be created. Having created the partition, press the Escape key to return to the original menu. It is a good idea to select option four to check that the partition has been created successfully (Figure 3.17).

If a further partition is required select option one, and then option two, which is "Create extended DOS partition" (Figure 3.18). Enter the size of the partition you require and press the Return key to create the partition. Then press the Escape key, which will bring up a message saying "No logical drives defined" (Figure 3.19). In other words, you have created a partition, but as yet it does not have a drive letter. Assuming you require all the space in the partition to be one logical drive, simply press the Return key. This will make the partition drive E:, and a screen giving this information will appear (Figure 3.20). Press the Escape key to return to the main menu, and use option four to check that the partition has been created successfully.

It has been assumed here that the original hard disc has a single partition. If it has more than one partition these will be drives C;, D;, etc., and the drive letter or letters for the additional drive will be moved up accordingly. For example, if the original disc is used as drives C: and D:, partitions of the new drive would become drives E:, F:, etc. Create Logical BOS Drive(s) in the Extended BOS Partition

No logical drives defined

Total Extended DOS Partition size is 638 Mbytes (1 Mbyte = 1048576 bytes) Maximum space available for logical drive is 630 Mbytes (100x )

Enter logical drive size in Mbytes or percent of disk space (x)...[ 639]

Press Esc to return to FDISK Options

Fig.3.19 An extended partition must be given a drive number

# Formatting

Having created the partitions you require, the "FORMAT" command can then be run. First you will have to press the Escape key twice to exit FDISK, and then the computer must be rebooted so that the new partition information takes effect. Make sure you format the correct disc, because formatting a disc that is already in use will destroy any data it contains. To format drive D: use this command:

### format D:

This will bring up a warning to the effect that all data in drive D: will be lost if you proceed with the format. As yet there is no data to lose, so answer yes to proceed with the formatting. It might take several minutes to complete the task, since there are a large number of tracks to be processed and checked. If the hard disc has more than one partition and is operating as drive D:, drive E:, etc., each partition must formatted using a separate "FORMAT" command. To format drive F: for example, this command would be used:

format F:



Fig.3.20 If all goes well, a screen showing the drive letter of the new partition will appear

The new hard disc drive should then be fully operational. If the new disc has been added as an insurance measure and the Windows installation is fully operational, any backup software should be able to copy the specified data from the old drive to the new one, or even copy every file if that is what you require. Due to the speed of modern hard disc drives, even copying several gigabytes of data should be relatively swift.

Matters are slightly less straightforward if the operating system is seriously damaged and the second hard disc has been added as a desperation measure. Any existing backup software already installed will probably work well enough if the PC is booted into Safe Mode. With the CD-ROM drive unavailable in Safe Mode, installing new backup software is problematic. It is probably easier to run Windows Explorer and use this to do the copying. Files or even complete directory structures can be dragged and dropped from one disc to the other. Thus, even if there are large numbers of files to copy in complex file structures, the task is not too difficult.

Things would have to go disastrously wrong with the operating system for Windows to be unable to boot in Safe Mode, but I suppose it could

### 3 Data rescue

happen if a lot of Windows files are damaged or erased. Copying single files using MS/DOS is easy enough, and is achieved using the Copy command. This is an internal command, which means that it is always available at the MS/DOS prompt, and does not rely on a program stored on disc. The easiest way of using the Copy command is to go into the directory where you require the copied files to be stored. Since the disc is blank to start with, the new directory must be created first. These two commands would first take the system into drive D:, and then make a directory (folder) called "wordproc" off the root directory of drive D::

D:

md wordproc

Of course, the Return key must be operated after each command has been typed in. Remember that in MS/DOS filenames directory names are limited to eight characters plus an optional three-character extension. These two commands would take the system into the new directory and then copy a file from drive C: into the new directory:

cd wordproc

copy C:\wordproc\letter1.doc

In this example the file being copied is called "letter1.doc" and it is in the "wordproc" directory of drive C:, but it can be any file on any directory of an accessible drive. The full path for the file must be specified, and not just the basic filename.

In most cases you need to copy all the files in a directory and not just one or two. This can be accomplished using this Copy command:

copy C:\wordproc\\*.\*

The first "\*" character tells the computer to apply the command to files having any filename. The second "\*" character tells the PC to apply the command to files having any extension. Hence this easygoing version of the command will copy any files in the specified directory. A variation on this method enables any files with a specified extension to be copied. Suppose you wished to copy only the files having "doc" as the extension. This version of the command would give the desired effect:

copy C:\wordproc\\*.doc

The "\*" character is used so that the command copies files having any main filename, but using "doc" as the extension ensures that only files having this extension are actually copied.

# Хсору

The Copy command is not able to copy a directory structure, complete with all subdirectories and the files that they contain. However, MS/DOS can accomplish this using the Xcopy command, but this is not an internal function of the operating system. In order for Xcopy to work the system must have access to the Xcopy program file (xcopy.exe). This file is available on the Windows 98 installation CD-ROM in the \TOOLS\OLDMSDOS subdirectory. It should also be on the hard disc in the \WINDOWS\COMMAND subdirectory. A quick search failed to locate the file on a Windows 95 installation CD-ROM, but it was present on the hard disc in the \WINDOWS\COMMAND subdirectory. The same is true of the Windows Me upgrade version, although the Xcopy.exe file can be located on the CD-ROM within the \Win9X\WIN\_17.CAB file using Windows Explorer. However, it would seem to be easier to use the nonarchived version of the file on the hard disc.

Suppose that you wish to copy a directory off the root directory of drive C:, plus any files and subdirectories it contains. There is more than one way of doing this, but the one I would recommend is to go into the directory that contains Xcopy.exe, and then specify the full paths for the source and destination. For example, to copy C:\wordproc to D:\wordproc, this command would be used:

Xcopy C:\wordproc D:\wordproc /s

Note that without the "/s" at the end of the command, Xcopy will work just like the Copy command and will not copy subdirectories.

# **Disc swap**

There is another way of handling things where a Windows installation is damaged to the point that it will not even boot in Safe mode. This is to add the new drive as drive C:, and to have the original one as drive D:. This will probably require some changes to the cabling and jumper settings of the old drive, but it should not be too difficult to reorganise things so that the new drive is drive C:. The new drive is then set up as the boot drive, and Windows is installed on the drive once it has been partitioned and formatted. Your applications programs are then installed, and any data files on drive D: are easily copied across to drive C: using Windows Explorer.

The old drive then becomes the backup drive, and can be wiped clean once you are sure that any important data it contains has been copied

### 3 Data rescue

to drive C:. Having cleared drive D:, it can be used to take a full backup of drive C:, which should make life much easier the next time a major Windows problem occurs.

# **Be prepared**

It is definitely better to be ready for any problems that arise rather than having to improvise to get out of trouble when things go wrong. However, if the files you need to back up are safely stored on the hard disc, it should be possible to copy them even if the Windows installation has been damaged to the point where it is totally unbootable. You may need to add some hardware such as an external (parallel port) ZIP drive or a hard disc if there is a large amount of data to copy, but that is a small price to pay for saving large amounts of hard work.

# **Points to remember**

Do not wait until things go wrong before backing up data. It should be possible to rescue your data if the operating system becomes seriously damaged, but it might be expensive to have it rescued from a faulty hard drive.

Data rescue services are available, but there is no guarantee that data will be retrievable from a damaged hard drive.

Not all backup devices will work with Windows in Safe mode or in MS/ DOS. Lack of operation in either of these modes does not render a backup device useless, but life is easier when using a more accommodating drive.

If you find yourself with a Windows installation that seems to be impossible to repair, and no usable device to backup masses of important data, there are three options. Carry on trying to repair Windows for as long as it takes, abandon your data and reinstall Windows from scratch, or add a suitable backup device so that the data can be rescued prior to reinstalling Windows.

Another hard drive is the most practical option when disaster has struck and an emergency backup of data is required. These days a hard disc drive is a relatively cheap backup option that will work in both Safe mode and MS/DOS since it is a standard MS/DOS and Windows drive. Hard discs are also relatively fast in operation. A modern PC can have at least four IDE drives (hard discs, CD-ROM drives, etc.) and will usually be able to accept an additional hard drive.

A hard disc drive has to be partitioned using FDISK and then high-level formatted using FORMAT before it is ready for use. These are both MS/ DOS programs that are present on the Windows Startup disc. FDISK must be used even if the disc will be organised as one large partition. No low-level formatting is required, as this is done at the factory.

Proper backup software can be used to backup your data, but Windows Explorer enables data to be easily copied from one drive to another. Complete directory structures can be copied by dragging them from one drive to another.

Where Safe mode is not available the MS/DOS Copy command can be used to copy all the files from one directory to another. The MS/DOS Xcopy command can be used to copy directory structures and the files that they contain.

The easiest way of rescuing your data might be to fit a new C: drive and have the old one as drive D:. With Windows and all your applications software installed on drive C:, the old drive D: becomes the backup drive from which your data can be copied to drive C:.

## 3 Data rescue

# Backup and restore

# Backup?

Using the methods outlined in the previous chapter it is possible to recover data from the hard disc when there is a serious problem with the operating system. Using a data recovery service it might even be possible to recover data from a faulty hard disc, albeit at a price. It is definitely advisable to avoid putting yourself into a situation where emergency measures have to be taken in order to avoid the loss of vital data, and this means backing up any important data. Of course, if you use a PC purely for pleasure and do not have any important data to back up, there will probably be little point in going to the trouble of backing up the hard disc. In the event of a serious problem everything can be reinstalled and there is no important data to lose.

These days most computer users are not dabblers, and their PCs are put to good uses. This means that important data is usually generated, and generated in large quantities. Whether it is family photographs from a digital camera, the company accounts, or your latest novel, most PCs contain data that is precious to the users. It makes sense to produce backup copies of this data, even if it does involve a certain amount of time and expense.

# Better save than sorry

If you are going to do the sensible thing and backup important data it is not essential to use any backup software. Having stored a file onto the hard disc using the SAVE function of the application software you can simply select SAVE AS and store it again on another drive, such as a ZIP drive or CD writer. This method enables data files to be restored to the

### 4 Backup and restore

hard disc using Windows Explorer if a major failure of some kind should occur, but it does not allow the operating system to be restored. Neither will it restore any of your applications software or any customisation of that software. If the hard disc has to be replaced or the operating system becomes seriously damaged, the operating system has to be reinstalled, the applications programs are then installed again, and finally the data files are restored.

This is not a particularly quick or neat way of doing things, but for most users it will get the PC fully operational again in a reasonable amount of time. It has the advantage that it requires a minimal amount of time to maintain the backup copies, since only data files are being copied. As pointed out in previous chapters, it also gives you a "clean" copy of Windows that should operate quickly and efficiently.

If you use applications that only generate small amounts of data, an ordinary floppy disc drive is adequate for this method of backing up. Unfortunately, modern applications programs tend to generate large amounts of data. With a relatively simple application such as word processing the amounts of data generated might be reasonably small, but software such as graphics and desktop publishing programs usually produce large amounts of data. The folder used to store the files for this book will probably contain something like 500 megabytes of data by the time the book is finished. Backing up data requires some form of mass storage device when large files or large amounts of small files are involved.

# **Backup software**

For anything beyond backing up data files it is best to resort to some sort of backup program. With these it is possible to save selected directories or directory structures, or the entire contents of the hard disc drive. Windows is supplied complete with a backup program that has the imaginative name of Backup. Although basic compared to some programs of this type it does the job well enough for most users. Its lack of popularity possibly stems from the fact that the equivalent facility in Windows 3.1 was something less than user friendly, causing many users to look elsewhere for a backup utility. Perhaps the problem is simply that the Backup program is a part of Windows that is easily overlooked. Anyway, it is easier to use than some of the earlier versions, and it is definitely there if you seek it out.

Backup is easily overlooked when using Windows 95, since it seems to be absent from a default installation. Backup is installed from the

dd/Remove Programs Properties	
Install/Uninstall Windows Setup Startup	Disk
To add or remove a component, click the means that only part of the component wil what's included in a component, click Det <u>Components:</u>	check, box. A shaded box I be installed. To see tails.
Accessibility Options	0.4 MB
Accessories	9.8 MB
	0.7 MB
🗹 😤 Disk Tools	1.2 MB
Microsoft Fax	2.6 MB 🚽
Space required: Space available on disk: Description	2.4 MB 1703.5 MB
Includes utilities for compressing and ma	aintaining your disks.
1 of 1 components selected	Details
	Have Disk
ОК	Cancel Apply

Fig.4.1 The Backup program is in the Disk Tools grourp

Windows Control Panel. First operate the Start button and then select Settings and Control Panel. Then double-click on the Add/Remove Programs icon and operate the Windows Setup tab of the window that pops up. Tick the box beside the Disk Tools entry (Figure 4.1) and operate the Apply button. Then follow the onscreen prompts to actually install the Backup program. Note that the Windows 95 disc will be needed during installation.

### System Tools

To add a component, select the check box, or click to clear it if you don't want the component. A shaded box means that only part of the component will be installed. To see what's included in a component, click Details.

X

<u>C</u> omponents:		
🛛 🚍 Backup		5.2 MB
Character Map		0.0 MB
Clipboard Viewer		0.0 MB
Disk compression tools		0.0 MB
Drive Converter (FAT32)		0.4 MB
Group Policies		0.0 MB 💌
Space used by installed components:		36.4 MB
Space required:		0.0 MB
Space available on disk:	2	7360.9 MB
Description		
Program to backup and save data an floppy and tape drives.	nd files. Supp	orts backup to
		. Y
		Deláis
	OK	
	UK	Cancel

Fig.4.2 Adding the Backup program to Windows 98

If Backup is absent from Windows 98 it is added in much the same way as for Windows 95. Go into the Windows Setup program via the Control Panel as before, double-click on System Tools, and then check the box next to Backup. It may well be installed already, and the checkbox will already contain a tick mark (Figure 4.2) where this is the case. If the checkbox is ticked, operate the Cancel buttons to exit the Control Panel. If Backup is not already installed, operate the OK button and then the Apply button. Then follow the onscreen prompts to actually install the program. Have the Windows 98 disc handy as it will be required during the installation process.

Toutitled - Microsoft Backup File Settings Icols Help					
Backup Restore Compare					
What to back up		1 - 1 - 1 - 2	9		Nexalization
Select files to back up					
Desktop     My Computer     My Computer     B	Marme	Siz mputer	20	Туре	Modified
		R			
File set: Unitiged	4	Files selected (	3	0 Kiloby	tes select

Fig.4.3 The Windows 95 version of Backup

Windows Me does have the Backup program but it is seems to have been included as something of an afterthought. Therefore, we will consider the Backup program of this version of Windows separately. In Windows 95 or 98 the Backup program is run from the Start menu by selecting Accessories, System Tools, and Backup. The two programs are not the same, and the biggest difference is that the Windows 95 version does not have Wizards to assist the user. It has an initial start screen that gives some basic information about using the program, and then the program itself appears (Figure 4.3). We will consider the Windows 95 version first.

When Backup is run it provides a message informing the user that a file set called Full System Backup has been created, and that this one must be used if a full backup of the hard disc drive is required. By default the program goes into the backup mode, and the first task for the user is to select the files that must be backed up. If a tick is placed in the checkbox beside drive C:, all the files on this drive will be selected. However, the left-hand section of the screen shows the files in the root directory, plus its sub-directories. These can be individually deselected and reselected by removing or replacing the ticks in their checkboxes. It is possible to

hat to back up:				Next Step >
elect files to back up			_	
	년 1월 3617 단 2월 46(ph/00) 단 2월 46(son00) 단 2월 46(son002) 단 2월 46(son003) 관 2월 46(son003) 단 2월 46(son004)	8485 19604 228127 244748 199627 219678 121642	Corel PHOT Corel PHOT Corel PHOT Corel PHOT Corel PHOT Corel PHOT Corel PHOT	4/5/99 8 13 3/10/99 3 0 1/30/99 7 4 1/27/99 11 1/27/99 7 2 1/27/99 7 2 1/27/99 7 3
← ∰ TestBU B ₩indows ₩ ₩indows ₩indows (D:) ₩	월 @ edisan006 월 @ edisan007 월 문 SummaSketch	145773 160224 1426432	Corel PHOT Carel PHOT Application	1/27/99 7:4 1/27/99 7:4 4/5/99 8 12

Fig.4.4 It is easy to select the files and folders that are to be backed up

navigate the directory structure in standard Windows fashion, removing and reselecting any files or directories, as required (Figure 4.4).

If you would like to do a simple dummy run to see how files are backed up and restored, make a new folder off the root directory and place some files in it. Limit the number and size of the files so that the new directory holds no more than two or three megabytes of data. One or two floppy discs can then be used for the backup copy, and the test should be reasonably quick. As only one directory is to be selected, do not tick the box for drive C: in the backup program and then deselect everything but the required directory. Instead, double-click on the entry for drive C: to expand it, and then place a tick in the checkbox for your test directory. The right-hand section of the screen will then show the files within that directory so that they can be individually chosen. For this exercise just leave them all selected.

Having selected the files to be backed up, the Next Step button is operated and this brings up a screen like the one in Figure 4.5. This enables the destination for the backup to be selected, and in this case floppy disc A: is being used. Left-clicking the mouse on the floppy disc's

< <sup>3</sup> tevious Step Start Backup or location
< <sup>3</sup> tevious Step Start Backup or location
or location
8

Fig.4.5 Selecting the destination for the backup copy

entry in the left-hand section of the screen will select it as the destination, and this should be confirmed by "A:\" appearing in the text box. Next the Start Backup button is operated and you will then be asked to provide a name for this set of backup discs. Having supplied a suitable name ("Test1" will do), operate the OK button and the program will start copying the files to the floppy disc drive.

In most cases the quantity of data being copied will be too large to fit onto a single floppy disc, CD-ROM, or whatever. The program will prompt you to change discs as and when necessary. The discs in multi-disc backup sets should be numbered in sequence. If you use re-writable discs that already contain data the Windows Backup program will be able to use them, but any existing data on the discs will be overwritten and lost. Once the process has been completed a message to that effect will appear on the screen, and you are then returned to the Backup program.

If you use Windows Explorer to examine the contents of the backup discs you will discover that they each contain one file. The name of this file will be the same for each disc, and it will be whatever name you

Microsoft Backup Re Sattings Lools Help			
Backup Fiestore Compare			
Restore from			
Restore from	Backup Set		
Desktop  Hy Computer  34 Floppy (A)  C)  G(C)  G(C)  G(C)  H)  Microsoft Backup did not detect a ta	Mame	Created	
R 1	0		
ackup set		0 kilebyte:	

Fig.4.6 Specifying the source for the backup

assigned to the set of discs. This is not just of academic importance, and it means that the files stored on the disc can not be recovered simply by copying the contents of the discs back onto the hard disc drive. The only way of recovering the files is to use the Restore facility built into the Backup program.

To try out the restore feature, delete the test directory on the hard disc, run Backup, and then operate the Restore tab. This brings up the screen of Figure 4.6, which enables the source of the backup file to be specified. In this example we are using floppy drive A:, so this should be selected by left-clicking on its entry. The first disc in the backup set should be placed in drive A:, and the right-hand section of the window should confirm that the appropriate backup file is present on the disc. Next double-click on the entry for the backup file in the right-hand section of the screen. The left-hand section then changes to allow the files from the backup set to be selected.

In this example we will restore all the files, and this just requires the checkbox for the relevant directory to be ticked. Operate the Start Restore button to start the copying process, and change discs when directed by
Mici	osoft Backup - (Unlitled)				-		
1							
Bedu	Respre						
	Backup Job						Sterf
	Untred	2					
Whatk	o back up 🧭 👌 seler	ched tiles C Jame and	changed	Nes			
	0 xxa	Nome	Sue	Тури	Modified	1	
	M My Computer	Networks		System Folder System Folder			
				4			
		l.					
	File		mly Comp	less. Promot			
Clair Clair				Options	-1.7		
For Help	niess El			_			

Fig.4.7 The Windows 98 Backup program is similar to the Windows 95 version

onscreen prompts. A new window will appear while the files are being copied, and this shows how far things have progressed. Once the copying has been finished, operate the OK buttons to return to the Backup program. Exit the program and then use Windows Explorer to check that the directory and the files have been correctly restored.

## Win 98 Backup

The Windows 98 Backup utility (Figure 4.7) is similar to the Windows 95 version, but has some additional facilities. Operating the Options button towards the bottom right-hand corner of the screen brings up a window (Figure 4.8) that enables various aspects of the program to be customised. The main ones are that the files can be stored with no compression or two degrees of compression, and password protection can be used.

Using compression reduces the amount of storage space needed for the backup copy. The amount of space saved depends on the nature of the files being stored. Program and some types of data file will often

Backup Job Options	? ×
General Password Type Exclude Advanced	
Compare original and backup files to verify data was successfully backed up.	
-When backing up to media	
C Never compress the data.	
C Compress data to save time.	
Maximize compression to save space.	
If the media already contains backups	
© Qverwrite the media with this backup.	
Let me choose this option during the backup.	
R3	
OK Cancel Ap	elx

Fig.4.8 The options section of the Backup program

take up less than a third as much space, but something like a graphics file that is already heavily compressed is unlikely to benefit significantly from using further compression. Overall the files might be reduced in size by about 50%, which is certainly worthwhile. Apart from reducing the number of discs needed to store the backup copy, compression can significantly speed up both the backup and restoration processes.

Despite the advantages, some users prefer not to use compression. This is due to the fact that recovering data from a disc that has some minor corruption of the contents can be very difficult or impossible if compression has been used. This is not to say that data is easily recovered when a non-compressed disc becomes corrupted. There is no guarantee of success either way, and ideally two backup copies should be made where a hard disc contains very important data.

Another refinement of the program is that the radio buttons towards the top of the screen enable the user to opt for a full backup, or to only backup new files or ones that have changed since the previous backup was carried out. Obviously this second option is only applicable if a previous backup set has been made, and it can greatly speed up the process of maintaining up to date backup copies.

# Wizards

Another refinement of the Windows 98 version of the program is that it has the option of using Wizards to control its operation. The Wizards

are used by default when the program is run, and the process starts with the initial window of Figure 4.9. which enables the required function to be selected. If you do not wish to use a Wizard, simply operate the Close button and you will then be left with the unaided Backup program. If you wish to proceed using a Wizard, select the required function

Microsoft Backup	7 ×
Welcome to Microsoft Backupi	ок
A heading in a second the black have our consistent strend on	Close
A declap is a cupy of line mean may use computer solved on media such as intops, of loopy diskeller or a removable disk. A backup tob can be created which tells your computer how, when and where to backup your files	Help
Whet would you like to do?	
Create a new backup job	
Ciper en ensting beckup job	
Bestere backed up liles.	
For more information on backup, click below.	

Fig.4.9 The first Wizard when using the Windows 98 Backup program

using the radio buttons and then press the OK button. The options are the normal backup and restore, plus an option to open an existing backup set. When first running the program a backup copy must be made, so the Backup option should be selected.

This launches the Backup Wizard, and the initial screen of Figure 4.10 appears. This gives the option of copying all files on the disc or just selected files. Once the required files have been selected or the "all files" option has been taken, the next Wizard (Figure 4.11) appears.



Fig.4.10 The Backup Wizard gives the option of making a full backup or copying selected files

Here you choose whether to backup all the selected files or only those that have been added or changed since the last backup was made. Only the all files option is relevant when an initial backup is being made.

STREET, STREET, STR	What to back up
all.	Spetally whether to back up all the files you have selected or only the files that are new or have changed since a previous backup
~	# gal estacted filed
<b>1</b>	P New and changed files
	Cancel (Deck Next)

Fig.4.11 There is the option of backing up all the files or only those that have changed since the last backup

The next window (Figure 4.12) is used to select the destination for the backup copy. Note that you must specify a drive and a filename and not just a drive letter.

Next you are given two options relating to how the backup copy is processed (Figure 4.13). The first one enables verification to be used. In other words, the saved

Backup Wizard		×
	Where to back up	
	Select a destination for the backup. The selected drives, tolders, and files will be stored on the media in the destination you select.	
A	<u>W</u> her∋ to back up	
8	File	211
	F:\M-Backup.gic	
	ß	ł
	Cencel < Back Hext >	

Fig.4.12 Selecting the backup's destination

copy can be compared to the original to make sure there are no copying errors. This is the safer option, as it should avoid the possibility of finding

that a corrupted backup set can not be restored properly. The downside is that the verification process will result in the backup process taking significantly longer. Using verification is probably worth the extra time involved. The second button enables compression to be used if desired. opt to use Е compression, but you



Fig.4.13 Verification and compression options are available

may prefer not to if only a modest amount of data is being copied, or if you have a large and fast backup medium.

A.R.	Nome the b	ne for the loads to cat	
100	Bechum		
Lee	Çildi Start I	b begin the backup	
1	What	Back up all files on my local drive(s)	
	Where	Р \МуВликив дос	
	How	Prompt Verily, Compress	Q
	virhen	Now	
	Cancel	I chan I	Shert

The next window (Figure 4.14) is used to give a name to the backup job. This window also shows the settings that have been selected previously so that you can check that everything is set up correctly. The Back buttons can be used to retrace your steps if vou change your mind about

Fig.4.14 The backup must be given a name

something, or to correct any mistakes. Simply press the Start button to begin the backup process. Restoration of a backup is an equally straightforward process using the Wizard method. Even if you are familiar with backup programs, it is probably easier to use the Wizards rather than opt for direct control of the program.

# **Emergency restoration**

An obvious drawback of the Windows 95 and 98 Backup programs is that they are strictly Windows programs, and files can only be restored if the computer can be booted into Windows. In some circumstances it could be better, or even essential, to restore the files from MS/DOS. This is actually possible using WIndows 98 via a batch file on the installation CD-ROM. The backup copy is made from Windows in the normal way, using the Backup program. This method of restoration will only work with a full backup incidentally. Bear in mind that it will only be possible to restore the files from MS/DOS if the backup medium is one that can be read from MS/DOS. The easiest options are a hard disc or CD-ROMs. If using the latter, ordinary CD-R discs are better than CD-RW discs, since the latter are usually only readable using a special utility program. This utility is usually a Windows program, and it is unlikely that a MS/DOS version of the utility will be available.

In order to restore a backup copy the computer must be booted using the Windows 98 Startup disc, and CD-ROM support should be selected when the menu appears. Next place the Windows 98 installation disc in the CD-ROM drive, and then set that drive as the current one. The Startup

	: Window	s 98 Setup
Preparing to run 98 Setup		
Collecting information about		Windows 98 Setup
your compater		Product Key
Windows 98 files to your computer	PLANKET LIP.	You received a Microsoft Windows 98 Product Key with the materials that came with your computer or with your Windows
Computer	Don't Lose fire Hamber'	software This Product Key san be found on the back of the CBI container
Setting up hardware and finalizing settings		Type the Product Key, excluding the dashes, in the boxes below
المتكر وحداك	17 AN	hs
Estimated time remaining	0.9	the second s
42 minutes	1	
Enter the Produc: Key that came with your capy of Windows 98.		Hop
		Cancel
Microsoft		

Fig.4.15 The restoration starts with Windows 98 being reinstalled. Here the product key is entered

disc places some utilities on a virtual disc that is actually part of the computer's memory. This will usually be given a drive letter ahead of the CD-ROM drive, which is therefore shifted up one letter from normal. For example, if the CD-ROM drive is normally drive E:, it will become drive F: when the Startup disc is used. To move the system into drive F: simply type "F:" and then press the Return key. A batch file in the tools\sysrec directory controls the restoration process, so the next step is to move the system into this directory using this command:

#### cd tools\sysrec

There is a text file called Recover.txt in this directory, and this gives useful information about the recovery process. To run the batch file use this command:

#### pcrestor

This may look incorrect, but it will not work if you add the missing "e" to the command. MS/DOS only permits filenames of up to eight characters plus a three-character extension. Hence this command is called "pcrestor" and not "pcrestore". This brings up a message on the screen, and then the Windows Setup program is started. After some checking and initialisation you are presented with the screen shown in Figure 4.15, where your Windows 98 product key is entered. It is then just a matter of using the Setup Wizard to go through the installation and restoration process. This really just seems to be a variation on a normal Windows 98 reinstallation process, but it is probably best to do things this way if Windows is to be reinstalled followed by a full restoration of the hard disc.

## **Me Restore**

As pointed out previously, Windows Me does not have the Backup program as standard, although it is still there if you care to unearth it from the installation CD. Instead it has a program called System Restore. It has to be emphasised that this is not a conventional backup program, and it can not be used to make a set of backup discs for use in the event of a hard disc failure. This is simply because it uses the hard disc to store the backup files, and if the hard disc fails, the backup files are inaccessible. System Restore is designed specifically to deal with problems in the operating system, and a separate backup utility is required to deal with hard disc failures.

This book is primarily concerned with fixing or working around problems that occur with the Windows operating systems, so the System Restore program is one that is fully relevant. Its purpose is to take the system back to a previous configuration. It is therefore a program that will work around problems rather than fix them. The general idea is to periodically add new restore points so that if something should subsequently go wrong with the operating system, it can be taken back to a recent restore point. Incidentally, Windows adds restoration points periodically, so it is not essential to routinely add your own.

The main reason for adding your own restoration points is that there is increased likelihood of problems occurring. The most common example of this is adding a restore point prior to installing new software. If anything should go horribly wrong during the installation process, going back to the restoration point should remove the rogue program and fix the problem with the operating system. You can then contact the software publisher to find a cure to the problem, and in the mean time your PC should still be functioning properly.

When going back to a restoration point the program should remove any recently added programs, but it should leave recently produced data files intact. Of course, with any valuable data that has not been backed



Fig.4.16 The System Restore program is deep in the menu structure

up already, it would be prudent to make backup copies before using System Restore, just in case things do not go according to plan. The program itself does provide a way around this sort of problem in that it does permit a restoration to be undone. If a valuable data file should vanish "into thin air" it should be possible to return the PC to its original configuration, backup the restored data, and then go back to the restoration point again.

#### In use

The System Restore program is buried deep in the menu structure (Figure 4.16), but it can be started by going to the Start menu and then selecting Programs, Accessories, System Tools, and System Restore. The program is controlled via a Wizard, so when it is run you get the screen of Figure 4.17 and not a conventional Windows style interface. The radio buttons give three options, which are to go back to a restoration point, create a new one, or undo the last restoration. When the program is run for the first time there is no restoration to undo, so this option will not be present.

As pointed out previously the system will automatically create restoration points from time to time, but you will probably wish to create your own before doing anything that will make large changes to the system. Start by selecting the "Create a restore point" option and then operate the Next button. The next screen (Figure 4.18) asks the user to provide a name for the restore point, and it is helpful if the name is something that



Fig.4.17 The welcome screen of the System Restore program

Your comp certain pro restore po	uter automatically creates re grams are installed. Howeve ints at times other than those	store points at regularly sch r, you can use System Rest; e scheduled by your compute	adulad times or befor ire to creats your owi r,	e 1
Type a der a descripti	cription for your restore poin on that is easy to identify in c	nt in the following text box. M ase you need to restore you	lake sure that you cho r computer latera	0058
Re	tore point description:			
The	current date and time are a	utomatically added to your n	estore point	R

Fig.4.18 The system creates restore points, but you can add your own



Fig.4.19 You have a chance to check things before creating a restoration point

will be meaningful. There is no need to bother about including a date, as the program automatically records the date and time for you.

There will be a delay of at least several seconds when the Next button is pressed, and then a screen like the one shown in Figure 4.19 will appear. This gives you a chance to check that everything is correct before the restoration point is created. If everything is all right, operate the OK button to create the restoration point and terminate the program.

To go back to a restoration point, run the program as before, and select the Return my computer to an earlier time option. Operate the Next button, and after a short delay a screen like the one of Figure 4.20 will appear. If there are a number of restore points available you can use the arrow heads in the calendar to find the one you require. The dates on the calendar in larger text are the ones that have restore points. Left clicking on one of these will show the available points in the screen area just to the right of the calendar. Left-click on the required restore point and then operate the Next button. This brings up a screen and warning message, like Figure 4.21. Left-click the OK button to remove the warning message, and close any programs that are running.



Fig.4.20 Choosing a restore point



Fig.4.21 A warning message gives you a chance to change your mind

System Restore	ystem Restore				
Resto	ration in Progress				
Pestoring your o	omputer may take a few moments. After the restoration is complete, your				
computer auton	atically restarts.				
Selected resto	re point:				
25 November : 19:03 First	000				
And in case of the local division of the loc					
Do not alter, c complete.	pen, or delete any files or programs until the restoration is				

Fig.4.22 You can see how the restoration process is proceeding

If you are satisfied that the correct restore point has been selected, operate the Next button and the program will begin the restoration process. A screen showing how things are progressing will appear (Figure 4.22). Heed the warning on this screen, and do not do anything that will alter, open or delete any files while the program is running. Just sit back and do not touch the computer until the program has finished its task. Once the restoration has been completed the computer will reboot, and a message will appear on the screen (Figure 4.23). This confirms the point to which the computer has been returned, and indicates the options if the PC fails to operate properly using this restore point. Left-click the OK button to finish the boot process, and the computer should then have shifted back in time to the appropriate restoration point.

Windows Me is still relatively new at the time of writing this, but the System Restore utility certainly seems to be a very worthwhile facility. Some consider that this feature alone justifies upgrading from Windows 95 or 98. To date I have only used it a few times in earnest, but it certainly provided the desired result on each occasion. It is probably not a good idea to use the System Restore program as a first resort if there is a

#### 4 Backup and restore



Fig.4.23 Once the restoration has been completed the computer will reboot. This message appears after the reboot is finished

problem with the operating system, but it is certainly worth a try where the problem has no simple solution.

# Me Backup

If you wish to use the Windows Me Backup program it is no good trying to install it via the usual Windows Setup section of the Control Panel. It no longer seems to be a standard Windows component that can be installed via the usual route. Instead, you must use Windows Explorer to delve into the Windows Me installation disc. Go into the Add-ons folder and then into the MSBackup folder. Here you will find a text file called backup.txt and a program called msbexp.exe. To find out more about installing and uninstalling the Backup program double-click on the entry for the text file. In order to install the program it is just a matter of double clicking on the entry for msbexp.exe and then following the onscreen prompts. Once installed, the program can be run from the Start menu via the usual route (Programs, Accessories, and System Tools). The program seems to be much the same as the Windows 98 version, as can be seen from Figure 4.24.

			Backup	Backu
Micr	rosoft Backup - [Untitled]	ور والاليتين		
Job E	dit Yiew Loois Help	the Mail		41
		-Jue Ki		
	P Restore			1
	Васкир Јор			Start
Sec.	Ounded		13	
	Desktop	Name	Size Type	Modified
	B ☐ C - (Win98) B ☐ D D B ☐ E E B @ Networks	Networks	System Folder	
	<ul> <li>■ □ □ C (Win98)</li> <li>■ □ □ D:</li> <li>■ □ □ E:</li> <li>■ □ ■ E:</li> <li>■ ■ Networks</li> </ul>	Network's	System Folder	
Wheie	to back up	How to be	System Folder ack up Verify, Compress, Prompt	
Wheie	to back up File C.\MyBackup.gic	How to be	System Folder ack up Verify, Compress, Prompt Options	

Fig.4.24 The Windows Me Backup program is much like the Windows 98 version

# **Backup programs**

If you prefer not to use the built-in backup and restore facilities of Windows, or you would like to augment them, there are plenty of programs to choose from. These include various backup programs and software that restores the computer to an earlier configuration, rather like System Restore in Windows Me. One type of software that should not be overlooked is the type that copies the contents of one drive onto another, producing what is generally termed an "image" of the original drive. Although it might seem that simply copying the files from one disc to the other would produce an exact clone of the original, the clone would probably fail to boot. This is due to the fact that some of the system files have to be in the right place on the hard disc, and not merely present on it in order to make the drive bootable. If you simply require a backup copy of data files this is of no consequence, but it is a crucial factor if you require a drive that can be used in place of the original if disaster strikes.

# p and restore

Entire Disk To Disk Cop	9	
and the second second	Select Source and Destination Drive	
	Select the source and destination drive from the fists below.	
6	Source Drive:	11 J
100-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0	Physical Drives Size MB Drive Latters	
	🖓 😅 - Disk 1 9,743 C:	-
	🗖 🗃 - Disk 2 2.441 D:	
ab		v
-5	Destination Drive:	
	Physical Drives Size MB Drive Letters	
Same and so	🗖 🖅 - Disk 1 9.743 C:	<u>^</u>
	🖙 😅 - Disk 2 2,441 D:	
-		
	States of the second second second	
in the second second		
Deb	< <u>Previous</u> <u>Next</u>	Lances

Fig.4.25 "Cloning" a hard disc drive is easy using a program such as Drive Copy

It is actually possible to make a bootable copy of a hard disc drive using the MS/DOS Xcopy program, but it requires just the right switches to be used in the Xcopy command and other factors also have to be just right. The process can also be very slow when applied to some PCs. A program designed specifically for producing drive images will usually do the job much more quickly and easily. Probably the best known program of this type is Drive Copy, which is shown in action in Figure 4.25. This program is supplied on CD-ROM, but it is used to make a bootable floppy disc that is used when undertaking the copying. You have to do little more than make sure that the program is copying the data in the right direction, and then sit back while it makes the copy.

Once you have a clone of the original hard disc it can either be removed from the PC and stored away safely or it can be left in place as drive D:. Storing the drive has the advantage that the disc will not be subject to wear, and it should be ready and working if it is needed at some later date. On the other hand, the drive will not be subjected to significant wear if it is just sitting in the PC getting little or no use. The drive motor will be operating while the PC is in use, but the motors are very reliable and can be expected to last a very long time. Another advantage of removing the drive is that the data it contains can not be accidentally corrupted. This avoids the slight risk that when switching to the backup drive it does not work any better than the one containing the damaged Windows installation.

The obvious advantage of keeping the drive in place is that it is ready for immediate use if the main drive should fail or the Windows installation becomes damaged. With most PCs it is possible to go into the BIOS and set drives D:, E:, or F: as the boot drive, so it should be possible to boot into the standby drive. This could be useful in trying to fix the operating system on the main drive and in backing up data if Windows has to be installed "from scratch". For instance, all the drives including things like CD writers and re-writers should be fully operational when booting from the standby drive.

Another advantage of keeping the standby drive in place is that it can be used to backup data files as they are produced, so that a failure of the main drive will cause no loss or a minimal loss of data. However, using the standby disc does increase the risk of its contents becoming corrupted so that it no longer bootable.

There are various backup programs available that can be used as an alternative to the Windows Backup program. Some of these will monitor disc activity and make automatic backup copies when new files are generated or existing files are altered. These are very convenient in use because they are largely "transparent" to the user, but they run continuously in the background and add to the drain on the computer's resources.

## System files

If Windows becomes troublesome due to a missing or damaged system file, life is a lot easier if you have a backup copy of the file in question. One of the main causes of problems are DLL (dynamic link library) files, which are used extensively by Windows and applications programs. DLL files provide program code for frequently performed functions, such as displaying menus and dialogue boxes. Some are supplied as part of the Windows operating system, while others are loaded onto the hard disc when applications programs are installed.

Reinstalling a standard DLL file from the Windows installation disc should not be difficult, but one installed by an application program could be more difficult to replace. Firstly, you might not know which program supplied the file. The second problem is that searching the relevant CD-ROM for the file might not be successful. Files are often stored on

#### 4 Backup and restore

installation discs in some form of compressed or archived form, making it difficult to locate and extract the one you require.

The DLL files are likely to be liberally spread across the hard disc, but using Windows Explorer it is easy to locate all of these files and copy them to a mass storage device such as a CD-ROM writer. The amount of storage space required will vary considerably from one Windows installation to another, and the more applications that are installed the more DLL files there will be. Backing up the DLL files on one of my PCs required some 500 megabytes or so of storage space, which is probably quite typical.

In order to copy the DLL files launch Windows Explorer and then select Find and Files or Folders from the Tools menu. Enter "\*.dll" as the filename, and then make sure that drive C: is entered in the Look In box and that the "search subfolders" checkbox is ticked. The "\*" character in the filename tells the search program to accept anything as the main part of the filename. When you operate the Find Now button, the program will therefore search for any file that has "dll" as the extension. You should end up with something like Figure 4.26, with a large number of DLL files listed in the lower section of the window. I am not exaggerating when I say that there will probably be a few thousand files listed! To highlight all the files go to the Edit menu and choose the Select All option. Then go to the Edit menu again a select Copy.

The DLL files can then be Pasted to a backup folder on the hard drive, a CD-R, or whatever, using Windows Explorer. If the files are to be stored on something like Zip discs that can not store all the files on a single disc, the copying process becomes more difficult. Batches of files must be highlighted manually and copied to the backup discs, being careful not to have any batch larger than the storage capacity of the disc. It is possible that during the copying process you will be asked whether or not to overwrite a file that has already been copied, with another file of the same name. The rule here is to not replace a newer file with an older version, so check the dates of the two files and proceed accordingly.

Obviously it could be very time consuming to manually search the backup disc or discs for a specific DLL file that you need. The quick way is to use the Find Files or Folders facility of Windows Explorer. This can search through thousands of files and locate the one you require in a few seconds. Having found the required file, the Copy and Paste facilities of Windows Explorer can be used to copy it to the appropriate folder on the hard disc.

Find: Files nan	ned •.DLL	Carl State of the	-	×
Eile Edit View	Options Help			
Name & Location	Date Advanced			
				Find Now
Named:	* dll	•		Flog
Containing text			1	New Search
Look in.	(C:)	·		2
nı v	clude subfolders	Browse	Sizo	Tune
Mwbackt.dil Mwbackt.dil Mwbackt.dll Mwbackt.dll Mwbackt.dll Mutackt.dll Mutackt.dll Mutackt.dll Mutackt.dll Mutackt.dll Mutackt.dll	C:\DOS C:\DOS C:\DOS C:\DOS C:\IBMVTypa\bin C:\IBMVTypa\bin C:\IBMVTypa\bin C:\IBMVTypa\bin C:\IBMVTypa\bin		15KB 109KB 14KB 40KB 176KB 16KB 20KB 21KB 276KB	Application Application Application Application Application Application Application Application
2884 file(s) found		Monitoring New Items		1.

Fig.4.26 The Find Files or Folders facility of Windows Explorer can be used to find and copy all the DLL files on a hard drive

# **Registry backup**

Although Windows makes its own backup copies of the Registry, some users prefer to have an additional backup copy. Since the file sizes involved are quite small it makes sense to keep the backup copies on floppy discs, a Zip disc, etc., rather than on the hard disc where they are vulnerable to disc failures. The Windows Registry sounds as though it should be a single file, but as explained in chapter 2, it is actually system data contained in two files called User.dat and System.dat. In order to backup these files it is merely necessary to locate them on the hard disc using Windows Explorer and then drag them to a floppy drive, Zip drive, or whatever.

Bear in mind that these are system files, and that using the default settings of Windows Explorer they are hidden from view. If you are going to undertake Windows troubleshooting the settings in Windows Explorer

#### 4 Backup and restore

older Options			? ×
General View	File Types		
Folder views			
in.	You can make all your folde	ers look the same.	
	Like Current Folder	Beset All Folders	
Advanced set	lings:		
Allow a Display Hidder Do Do Do Do Sho Show fi Show fi Show fi Show fi Show fi	Il uppercase names y the full path in title bar files not show hidden files not show hidden or system file w all files e extensions for known file type nber each folder's view setting le attributes in Detail View Map Network Drive button in to pop-up description for folder ar tings	s es is olbar nd desktop ítems.	
		Restore Def	aults
	OK	Cancel	Apply

Fig.4.27 Windows Explorer can be made to show hidden files and other information that is not shown by default

should be such that the system files are visible anyway, but it is essential if you are going to use Explorer to backup any of these files. Activate the View menu and then select Folder Options. Operate the View tab of the new window that appears, which will produce a number of check boxes and radio buttons that can be used to select the desired options (Figure 4.27). Under the Hidden files section make sure that the Show all files radio button is selected.

The User.dat file is usually quite small and will fit onto a 1.44-megabyte floppy disc quite comfortably. The System.dat file tends to vary in size



Fig.4.28 The Registry Checker can be used to make a backup of the Registry files

quite substantially from one PC to another, but in general it seems to be much larger and can be several megabytes in size. Even using compression it is unlikely that this file will fit on a single floppy disc, but there are programs that can spread large files across several floppy discs and reconstitute them again. For instance, later versions of the popular Winzip program can accomplish this. Alternatively, copy it to a larger disc such as a CD-R or Zip type.

# **Registry Checker**

Of course, there are plenty of other Windows files that can be backed up, but these are less likely to be of use for a quick fix than the DLL and registry files. Two possible exceptions are system.ini and win.ini, both of which will be found on the boot disc in the Windows folder.

Windows does actually have a facility to backup and restore the Registry. Probably the main use of this feature is when undertaking something that involves a higher than normal risk of the Registry becoming damaged, which mainly means installing or uninstalling software, including the drivers for hardware. The Registry can be backed-up before

12/16/90 Stirted	rb002.cab		
12/15/00 Started 12/14/00 Started	rb001.cab rb000.cab		
16/13/00 Startes	F0005.Cab		
1	Restore 🕨 🤇 Cano	91 )	
Ministerio and	State of Street Street	and the second s	

Fig.4.29 Restoring a backup copy of the Registry from MS/DOS

the software is installed or removed from the system, and restored again if things go awry. In order to backup the registry select Programs from the Start menu, followed by Accessories, System tools, and Registry Checker. The Registry Checker will look for errors in the Registry, but it will presumably fail to find any. It will then display the message of Figure 4.28. The last backup copy made by the system automatically is probably sufficient, but operate the Yes button to ensure that there is a fully up to date backup copy of the Registry.

The Registry Checker runs automatically each time the computer is booted, and it will ask for confirmation that you wish to resort to a backup copy if the Registry is found to be damaged. It makes sense to restore an earlier version of the Registry when major corruption has been detected, since there is no chance of the computer booting successfully using the corrupted Registry. The Registry Checker program will not always detect a problem in the Registry, and it is mainly designed to find something fairly major such as part of the file being obliterated. Consequently, the Registry Checker may fail to find any problems but a Registry fault could still result in the computer failing to boot properly.

If the system fails to boot properly, perhaps after some software has been installed or removed, boot into MS/DOS. Booting from drive A:

using a Windows Startup disc or from C: using MS/DOS mode are both acceptable in this case. Next type this command and press Return, which will produce a screen like the one in Figure 4.29:

#### C:\windows\command\scranreg /restore

This command includes the full path to the Scanreg program, so the system does not have to be in a particular drive or directory when it is issued. By default, Windows keeps five copies of the Registry, but this includes the one that is currently in use. This screen enables any of the four backup copies to be restored. Thus, if the most recent backup is faulty, you can revert to an earlier version and try again. Use the up and down cursor keys to select the backup copy you require and then press enter. If you change your mind and do not wish to reinstate a backup copy of the registry, press the right cursor key to highlight the Cancel option and then press Return.

The backup copies of the Registry files can also be restored from within Windows. The backup copies are stored in cabinet files in the Windows\sysbckup folder, but this is a hidden folder so it will only be visible to Windows Explorer if it is set to show hidden files and folders. There are several cabinet files in this folder (the ones having a "cab" extension), and the dates of the files indicate the ages of the backup copies that they contain. To restore a pair of backup files they are extracted from the cabinet file and copied to the main Windows directory. The existing Registry files will have to be overwritten so answer "yes" if you are asked if you wish to overwrite them.

## **System File Checker**

Although Windows 98 does not have a true equivalent to the System Restore facility of Windows Me, the System File Checker does provide a similar but more restricted restore facility. Unfortunately, this facility can go seriously wrong using the original version of Windows 98, so it is best not to use it unless you are using Windows 98 SE. In order to run the System File Checker select Programs from the Start menu, followed by Accessories, System Tools, and System Information. Then select System File Checker from the Tools menu of the window that appears. This will produce the window shown in Figure 4.30.

Use the default settings and operate the Start button. The program will then scan the disc, recording a list of system files and checking that they are in good working order. If all goes well, System File Checker should produce an onscreen message stating that the scan has been

System	em File Checker	integrity of your st	rstem files.	
Selec	t an option and click Star			
6	Scan for altered files			
c	If a file is found to be co clicking Settings, Syste changed and deleted fi Extract one file from inste	mupt you will be p m File Checker ca les. Mation disk	rompted to restore in also be configure	the original file. By d to notify you of
			ESIOLA'	Eurone a
	5	Stort	Close	Sețtings.

Fig.4.30 The initial screen of the System File Checker

System.File Checker	1873					X
System File Checker verifies the	integrity	ot you	rsystem	files.		
Select an option and click Star	ι.					
C Scan for ter of the file of	mupt yo	u will bi	e <b>pro</b> mp	ted to restore t	he original file I	By t
C System File Checke	r has fini	shed so	c <b>ann</b> ing	your system fil	es	
	3		OK	Deta	ils	
Checking files						
Heringsvill						
		Diten		Cancel	dei for	

Fig.4.31 A message is produced when the check has been completed

System File Checker Settings	The second se
Settings Search Criteria Advanced	
Back up file before restoring Always back up before restoring Prompt for backup Never back up before restoring	
Default backup location: C:\WINDOWS\I	Helpdesk\SFC
Log file © Append to existing log © Qverwrite existing log © No log	View Log.
Check for changed files Check for deleted files	
OK	Cancel Apply

Fig.4.32 The Settings screen of the System File Checker program

completed successfully (Figure 4.31). Suppose that you now install or uninstall some software and Windows is left with a problem or two. Run System File Checker again, but this time operate the Settings button to bring up a screen like the one in Figure 4.32. Put ticks in both the check boxes towards the bottom of the window so that System File Checker will search for files that have been altered or deleted since the previous check. Operate the Apply and OK buttons to make the new settings take effect, and then run System File Checker again.

A warning screen like the one of Figure 4.33 will appear if a file is missing or has been altered since the previous time the program was run. You then have several options available. Clearly the Ignore option should be chosen if you have reason to believe that the file in question has been correctly changed or deleted. If the file is one that is on the Windows installation disc and it is not one that has been deliberately changed or deleted, the obvious choice is to restore the file.

File Chang	ed - MSISYS.'	vxD	and the second		? ×
System File Ct	ecker identified	that the following	; file has chan	ged.	
File	MSISYS.VXD				
Location:	C. WINDOWS	SYSTEM			
	Previou	8	С	urrent	
Date and Tim	ie 16/12/0	0 13:01	- 10	6/12/00 13:04	
Size.	11KB		1	IKB	
Version.	4.03		4	03	
Select th O Bestore fi	is option if you kr le	now the file has b	een updated		L3
Select th @ Ignore Select th you will b	is aption if you w is option to ignor ie prompted abo	ant to restore the te the warning. Th out this file again.	e file from you he next time y	r installation disks. ou use System Fil	le Checker,
	and and a later	ation for all chan	144 1		
O Update v Select th to verify a	enncaron inform is option only if y each one individ	ou know many fi ually.	iged tiles les have bee	n updated and yo	u d <b>on't wa</b> nt

Fig.4.33 The user is warned if a file has been altered or deleted

To do this, first left-click on the Restore file radio button and then operate the OK button. A Window with two dialogue boxes will then appear (Figure 4.34). The default destination should be correct, but you will

Specify the loc He	ation that contains the file you want t	o restore and the d	istnation for the
File name	coliview off		
Bestore from	E. (wn98		Browse.
Sove file in:	C WINDOWS SYSTEM		Browse
	b	OK	Cancel

either have to type in the path for the source or use the Browse feature to locate it. It is not necessary to point the program directly to the missing file, which will probably be hidden away inside a cabinet file anyway. Just direct it to the

Fig.4.34 Selecting the source and destination when replacing an altered file

drive that contains the Windows 98 installation disc, and the correct folder on that disc. This will usually be the Win98 folder. The missing or corrupted file should then be replaced, and the program will continue with its checking process.

# **Points to remember**

Backing up data and (or) system information to another drive is the only way to guard against a hard disc failure. Backing up system information to the main hard drive is sufficient to guard against problems with the operating system.

Floppy discs are inadequate to cope with the large amounts of data produced by many modern applications. A CD writer, Zip drive, additional hard disc, or some other form of mass storage device is required. A mass storage device is also required in order to make a full backup of the main hard disc drive.

It is only necessary to save important data and configuration files, but it is much quicker to get things back to normal if you make a full backup of the hard drive.

Plenty of third party backup software is available, but the Windows Backup utility is adequate for most purposes. It is included with Windows 95, 98, and Me, but is not necessarily included as part of the default installation. In fact it has to be "dug out" from the installation CD-ROM with Windows Me.

The Windows Backup program can be used to backup selected files, or a full backup of the hard disc can be provided. Backing up the full contents of a hard disc can be time consuming, but restoring a full backup is the quickest way to get the computer into full working order again if a major problem occurs.

Windows Me has a System Restore program that can be used to take the system back to the way it was at some previous time. Using System Restore to take the system back a day or two will usually remedy boot problems, etc.

Windows 95 and 98 lack a System Restore facility, but there are other facilities that provide a similar effect and will often cure Windows problems. The simplest approach is to revert to one of the backup copies of the Registry. In Windows 98 the System File Checker can be used to check for altered or deleted system files and to make repairs.

#### 4 Backup and restore

160

It is worthwhile making a backup copy of all the DLL files on the hard disc. In the event of a DLL file becoming deleted or overwritten by an older version, the original is easily found and reinstated. It is worthwhile backing up System.ini and Win.ini configuration files as well.

The Registry is stored in two hidden files called User.dat and System.dat. These are routinely backed up by the operating system, but it can be useful to store backup copies on floppy discs, a CD-R, etc.

If the computer will not boot into Windows, backup copies of the Registry can be restored using the Scanreg program with the computer booted into MS/DOS. Of course, your own backup copies can be restored in MS/DOS using the Copy command.

A being of the second second second second second

# Reinstallation

## **Clean sweep**

Having decided to install Windows and your applications from scratch, and having also done any necessary backing up of data files, etc., it is time to start the reinstallation **process**. I would not recommend trying to reinstall Windows by booting into Windows. If you can only boot Windows in Safe Mode there will be no CD-ROM support, so it will not be possible to install Windows from the installation CD-ROM. Even if the PC can be booted into a fargely working version of Windows, an installation started from Windows will simply place the new version on top of the old one, but it will not necessarily repair any problems in the existing Windows set up.

Unless you have definitely decided that it is time to "sweep away the cobwebs" and start from scratch, I would certainly recommend trying to fix Windows by reinstalling it on top of the broken version. If this fails to cure the problem it is time to install Windows from scratch. Either way, I would recommend booting from a Windows Startup disc in drive A: and selecting CD-ROM support when the menu appears. The difference is that when installing Windows "from scratch" it is necessary to wipe the hard disc clean first. When installing Windows over the existing version all the existing files on the hard disc are left in place. Simply run the Windows Setup program once the computer has booted into MS/DOS.

The basic installation process is much the same for Windows 95, 98, and Me. Although the description provided here is for an installation of Windows Me, the basic procedure is therefore much the same for Windows 95 and 98. Also, the process is much the same whether the operating system is installed from scratch or on top of an existing Windows installation. If Windows is already on the hard disc it will be detected by the Setup program, which will then reinstall it on top of the existing Windows installation, by default. Any Windows applications programs on the disc should remain properly installed with the new Windows installation.

#### 5 Reinstallation

It is because Windows finds any existing installation and merges the new version into it that an installation "from scratch" is sometimes needed. Completely wiping is the easiest way to ensure that there is no information left on the disc to lead the new installation astray. However, it also means that any data on the disc will be lost unless it is properly backed up. You can try a middle course with the Windows directory structure being deleted, but everything else being left on the disc.

With luck this will result in Windows being reinstalled successfully, and any problems in the old installation will not resurface. In practice there is no absolute guarantee of success though. Also, bear in mind that any Windows applications on the hard disc will not be installed in the new version of Windows. All the applications will therefore have to be reinstalled on top of the existing software. An advantage of this method is that any data files should be left intact, but note that configuration files for the applications programs will probably be overwritten when the programs are reinstalled.

Things can be taken a stage further, with the data files and any other important files being copied to a new folder. Everything else on the disc is then deleted and Windows is installed "from scratch". Where there is no other means of backing up important files, this method has the advantage that the files should still be intact once Windows has been reinstalled, and there are no system files, etc., left on the disc that could have a detrimental effect on the new Windows installation. Backing up important files to another disc is still preferable, because the backup copies on the main disc will be lost if there is a disc fault or a major problem during the Windows reinstallation.

If you decide to delete certain directories rather than simply wiping the disc clean, it is best to do most of the deleting in Windows using Windows Explorer. Using Windows Explorer it is possible to "zap" complete directory structures almost instantly. Deleting large numbers of files and directories in MS/DOS tends to be a very long, slow, and drawn out process.

The reinstallation process described here provides a true installation "from scratch", with the hard disc being wiped clean. However, the initial part of the process is easily modified to accommodate one of the alternative methods outlined previously. The main installation then proceeds in more or less the same fashion.

## **Booting up**

The first task is to boot the computer from a Windows Startup disc. If you do not have a Startup disc, one can be made by selecting Settings from the Start menu, then Control Panel and Add/Remove Programs. Left-click on the Startup Disk tab, operate the Create Disk button, and then follow the onscreen prompts. With the Startup disc in drive A:, restart the computer and with luck it will boot using the Startup disc. The BIOS settings are unsuitable if the computer ignores this disc and tries to boot from the hard disc instead. In this event you must go into the BIOS and choose a boot-up option that has A: as the initial boot disc and drive C: as the second boot disc. Any subsequent boot options are irrelevant, because the PC will boot before it gets to them.

Once the PC starts to boot-up using the Startup disc you will be presented with a menu offering three or four choices. Select the one that boots the computer using CD-ROM support. This is important, because you can not run the Setup program on the Windows CD-ROM without the CD-ROM support. The CD-ROM support works with the vast majority of CD-ROM drives, including virtually all types that use an IDE interface. However, it does not work with all drives. If it does not work with the CD-ROM drive of your computer you must make your own boot disc with CD-ROM drivers.

To make a boot disc first boot the PC in MS/DOS mode. To do this you must operate function key F8 as the system starts to boot into Windows, and then select the appropriate option from the menu that appears. Once the computer has booted into MS/DOS put a blank disc in drive A: and issue this command:

#### format A: /s

This will format the disc and add the system files needed to make it bootable. In Windows Me there is no option to boot in MS/DOS mode, but the computer can be booted using a Startup disc, and then this command can be used:

#### format B: /s

In the unlikely event that your PC has a drive B:, this will format the disc in drive B: and place the system files onto it. If there is no drive B:, the operating system will use drive A: as both drive A: and drive B:, and you will have to do some disc swapping when indicated by the onscreen instructions. The CD-ROM and mouse drivers should then be installed onto the floppy disc. The PC should have been supplied with this driver software, together with instructions for using the installation programs.

#### 5 Reinstallation



Fig.5.1 The MS/DOS version of Scandisk is run automatically as the initial stage of the Setup routine

Once this has been done the PC should be rebooted, and it should then be possible to access the CD-ROM drive.

It is necessary to wipe everything from the hard disc if Windows and the applications programs are to be installed from scratch. The easiest way of achieving this is to reformat the hard disc. It will presumably be drive C: that will take the new installation, so this command would be used to format this disc:

#### format C:

It does not seem to be necessary to have the system files placed on the disc, and they are presumably added by the Windows Setup program during the installation process. The "/s" switch is therefore unnecessary, although adding it will not do any harm. Before formatting the disc the program will warn that all data on the disc will be lost. Make sure that all important data has been backed up properly before the disc is reformatted.





Fig.5.2 The welcome screen of the Windows Setup program

# Windows Setup

Once the mouse and CD-ROM drive have been installed it should be possible to run the Setup program on the Windows 95/98/Me installation disc. If the PC was booted using a Startup disc, this command is all that is needed:

#### setup

If the PC was booted using another boot-up disc the CD-ROM's drive letter must be specified in the command. For example, if the CD-ROM is drive D:, this command would be used:

#### D:\setup

After a welcome message on the screen the Scandisk utility will be run, and it will check for errors on the hard disc drives and any logical drives. Assuming all is well a screen like Figure 5.1 will appear. Press the "x" key to exit Scandisk and (if necessary) operate the Enter key to remove the onscreen message and go into the first screen of the Windows Setup program (Figure 5.2). It is then a matter of following the on-screen prompts to complete the Windows installation, providing the information that is requested, as described in the next section.





Note that you can install the upgrade version of Windows 95, 98 or Me onto a "clean" hard disc, and that it is not essential to load your old version of Windows first so that you have something to upgrade. However, during the installation process you will probably be asked to prove that you have a qualifying upgrade product by putting the Setup disc into the floppy drive or CD-ROM drive, as appropriate. Do not throw away or recycle your old Windows discs, as this could leave you unable to reinstall the Windows upgrade.

## Installation

First you have to agree to the licensing conditions (Figure 5.3), and it is not possible to install Windows unless you do. At the next screen the Windows Product Key has to be entered (Figure 5.4). This code number will be found on the Windows certificate of authenticity and (or) on the back of the CD's jewel case. Next you are asked to select the directory into which Windows will be installed (Figure 5.5), but unless there is good reason to do otherwise, simply accept the default (C:\Windows).



Fig.5.4 With an Installation "from scratch" the product key is required

	A Windows Millennium Edition Setup
Preparing to run Vilindows Setup	
Collecting information	Windows Millennium Edition Setup Wizard
Capying Windows ties to your computer	Select Directory Select the directory where you want to install Windows
Restarting your computer	C IC WINDOWS [recommended]
Setting up hardware and finalizing settings	C Other directory
3) Estimated time remaining 41 minutes	
You can install Windows in a folder other than the default (C. Windows),	
	Mines Cancer
Microsoft	

Fig.5.5 It is normally best to install Windows in the default folder

#### 5 Reinstallation



Fig.5.6 Four types of installation are available

	🛪 Windows Millennium Edition Setup
Preparing to run Windows Setup	
Collecting information	Windows Millennium Edition Setup
E. Copying Windows Nes to your administer	Unier Information Prease entres your used information below
Computer	Type your neme and your company considerious light, to not want to adduct your company careful and the last too bland.
And finalizing unlikely and finalizing unlikely	Ngre.
	Company.
Estimated time remaining	
37 minutese,	
You must enter a name. The company entry is optional.	
	Back Trays . Change .
Microsoft	

Fig.5.7 You must enter your name, but the company name is optional

168


Fig.5.8 You can select the components to be installed or settle for a standard set of the most common ones

After some checking of the hard disc you are offered several installation options (Figure 5.6), but for most users the default option of a Typical installation will suffice. Remember that you can add and delete Windows components once the operating system is installed, so you are not tied to the typical installation forever.

The Custom option enables the user to select precisely the required components, but this can be time consuming and you need to know what you are doing. The Compact option is useful if hard disc space is limited, but with a new PC the hard disc will presumably be large enough to make this option superfluous. The Portable option is optimised for portable PCs, and is the obvious choice if you are installing the system on a computer of this type.

At the next screen you type your name and company name into the dialogue boxes (Figure 5.7). If an individual owns the PC the box for the company name can be left blank. The purpose of the next screen (Figure 5.8) is to let you choose the Windows components to be installed, but you can simply select a standard set of components if preferred. Operating the Next button may bring up a network identification screen

	Windows Millennium Edition Setup
Preparingite run Windows Satup	
Collecting.information	Windows Millennium Setup Wizard
Copying Windows Ties to your computer	Marwhith I don't life ation Specify a name and workgroup to iden ity your computer on a network.
Computer	Please type a name, workgroup, and Jeacaption of this computer to identify a on the
g Setting up herdware and finelizing settings	Computer name
<ul> <li>Estimated Line remeining:</li> <li>34 minutes</li> </ul>	Weikgroup FENFO_D ELECTRO Cogputer Description RCBERT PENFOLD
Revise type a name for this computer, the workgroup it will appear in, and a short conclusion of the	
computer,	g Bách News Caper
Microsoft	

Fig.5.9 The network selection screen is not relevant to most users

(Figure 5.9). Where appropriate, make sure that this contains the correct information. In most cases the PC will not be used on a network, and the default settings can be used.

	• Windows Mi	Bennium Edition S	ietup
Calicana dicha your conquite actua your conquite	County/Region	ni Miljanokon Edilion Setap	
And a second sec	international management international inter		-
22 omans 22 omans Selections country or regilierunters you will destrike computer	Vices Flands criticitum 3 2 grann 2 agritenti 2 antina 2 antina 2 antina	R	-
Pierosoft		- Million	

Fig.5.10 This country selection screen

Next the appropriate country has to be selected from a list (Figure 5.10), and then the required time zone is selected (Figure 5.11). This screen also provides option of the automatically implementing daylight saving changes. The next screen (Figure 5.12) enables a Windows Startup disc to be

	Windows Millennium Edition Set	up
Preparing to run Windows Setup		
Collecting information	Windows Millennium Edition Setup Wizard	
Copying Windows files to your computer	Establishing Yaur Time Zone Windows Milennum Edition provides an easy way to sel your time zone	
Restarting your computer	Setting the time zone establishes the standard time for the region in which your compute is located.	2.2
and finalizing settings	Siglect your time zone from the list below	10 Mar 10
	(GMT-02-00: Sarkago (GMT-02-00: Brasile (GMT-02:00: Brasile (GMT-02:00: Buenos Arec, Georgetown (GMT-02:00: Georgetown	
Estimated time Gemaining	ISMT-02:00 Mid-Attantic GMT-07:00 Azorez GMT-07:00 Azorez	
	(GMT) Greenwich Mean Time, Dublin, Edinburgi, Lisbon, London GMT) Casadianca, Moniovia GMT, Carl CA Barriero, Review a Review of Lisbon, Rouse	
Select the time zone where you will use this computer.	I Continue of Desprace brandware buggers clubiers harder	
	340. Red	Cance
Microsoft		

Fig.5.11 This screen is used to select the correct time zone

produced. If you already have one of these you may prefer to skip this section by operating the Cancel button and then the OK button. Unfortunately, floppy discs are not the most reliable of storage mediums. If you only have one Startup disc already, I would suggest that you go ahead and make another one so that you have a standby copy.

If you are using an upgrade version of Windows there will be an additional section in the setting up procedure where you have to prove that you have a qualifying product to upgrade from. The screen of Figure 5.13 will appear, so that you can point the Setup program towards the disc that contains the earlier version of Windows. To do this you will have to remove the upgrade disc from the CD-ROM drive and replace it with the disc for the previous version of Windows. Then either type the path to the CD-ROM drive in the text box (e.g. E:\) or operate the Browse button and point to the appropriate drive in standard Windows fashion. It takes some time for the program to check the Windows installation disc, but the program keeps you informed of its progress (Figure 5.14). Note that this stage will be passed over if you are reinstalling an upgrade version on top of an existing Windows installation. Windows will find the existing installation and will deduce from this that you are a bona fide user.



Fig.5.12 There is the option of making a Windows Startup



Fig.5.13 An upgrade product requires evidence of a previous version

172



Fig.5.14 It can take some time for the check of the previous Windows installation disc to be completed, but the program keeps you Informed of its progress

Having completed all this you will have finally progressed to the main installation screen (Figure 5.15), and from thereon installation is largely automatic. A screen

showing how the installation is progressing will appear (Figure 5.16). The computer will reboot itself two or three times during the installation process, so if you opted to produce a Windows Startup disc during the initial set up procedure remember to remove this from the floppy drive.



Fig.5.15 The main installation screen



Fig.5.16 Eventually the installation begins



Fig.5.17 The Setup program keeps you informed of what it is doing

Reinstallation 5

Otherwise the computer might reboot from the floppy rather than the hard disc, which would interfere with the installation process.

Enter Windows	Password	211
340	Type a name to identity pourselt to Windows Entor a password if you want to.	
	Figs II you don't enter a password you won't get the prompt egen at rearby.	Cancel
	Uner manes Robert Peniold	
	Baseword	



In the later stages of the installation there will be further screens

telling you what the computer is doing, and giving an indication of how far things have progressed (Figure 5.17). No input is required from the user during all this, so you can let the computer get on with the installation. The one exception is that near the end of the installation process you will be asked to supply a user name and password (Figure 5.18). Simply leave the password text box blank if you do not require password protection. Eventually you should end up with a basic Windows installation, and the familiar initial screen (Figure 5.19).

Sometimes the Windows Setup program comes to a halt. Either the computer shows no signs of any disc activity for some time, or there may be repeated disc

activity with the installation failing to make any progress. The usual cure is to switch off the computer, wait a few seconds, and then switch on again. The Setup program will usually detect that there was a problem. and will avoid making the same mistake again. If the computer is switched on and off on several occasions, but the

AM	COLUMN TWO IS NOT	
My Decuments Driftee		
Ny Computer Publication		
New Manager		e de la compañía de la
Recycle Ber. Corned to the Internet		
(internet E-sphare		
Serue MSN Hormat A		
HE COLL MARRE		15.21

Fig.5.19 With installation complete the familiar Windows screen appears

installation still fails to complete, it will be necessary to reboot using the Startup disc, wipe the hard disc clean, and try again. If Windows repeatedly refuses to install it is likely that the PC has a hardware fault.

### Hardware drivers

There will probably still be a certain amount of work to be done in order to get all the hardware fully installed, the required screen resolution set, and so on. Windows 95/98/Me might have built-in support for all the hardware in your PC such as the sound and video cards, but this is unlikely. In order to get everything installed correctly you will probably require the installation discs provided with the various items of hardware used in the PC. These discs may be required during the installation of Windows 95/98/Me, or they may have to be used after the basic installation has been completed. The instruction manuals provided with the hardware should explain the options available and provide precise installation instructions.

These days even the motherboards seem to come complete with driver software for things such as special chipset features and the hard disc

View devices by type	C View	devices by gonnection	n
CDROM Disk drives Display adaptes Piopay disk control Piopay disk control Control Control Monitors Network adaptes Piopay disk control Monitors Piopay disk control Piopay disk control Pi	ollers iers ntroller T) d game contro	R	
Properties F	efresh	Remove	Pipt

Fig.5.20 Device Manager is used to check for hardware that needs further installation

interface. It is once again a matter of reading the instruction manual to determine which drivers have to be installed, and how to go about it. Get all the hardware properly installed before you install the applications software.

Once everything is supposedly installed correctly it is a good idea to go into the Control Panel program and doubleclick the System icon. Then select the Device Manager tab to bring up a window of the type shown in

Figure 5.20. Look down the various entries to check for any problems. These are indicated by yellow exclamation marks, or possibly by yellow question marks. Certain items of hardware will not be picked up properly by Windows, and some types of modem fall into this category. The question mark in Figure 5.20 is caused by a Windows modem that the system is unable to sort out on its own. A Windows modem uses a relatively simple hardware plus software in the computer to provide the encoding and decoding. Unlike a conventional modem, a Windows modem does not interface to the computer via a true serial port. It is interfaced via a sort of pseudo serial port, and it is this factor that makes it difficult to correctly identify the hardware.

If a problem is indicated, or an item of hardware is missing from the fist, it will be necessary to load the drivers for the hardware concerned in order to get things working properly. This would be a good time to search the relevant web sites for updated driver software for the hardware in your PC. You may well find some newer and better drivers for the hardware in your PC. The hardware can be integrated into Windows using the Add New Hardware facility in the Control Panel. However, many items of PC hardware do not take the standard Windows route and have special installation programs instead. Read the installation manuals carefully and use the exact methods described therein.

### Awkward hardware

Any awkward hardware will have to be added via the Add New Hardware facility without utilizing Windows hardware detection facility. First

Windows tries to detect Plug and Play devices, and then it can try to find non-Plug and Play hardware. Failing that. the new hardware has to be installed manually using the drivers disc or discs provided with the item of hardware. The process is slightly different depending on the version of Windows

Add New Hardware Wiz	rard
	This wizard installs the software for a new lusrdware device
37/	Before continuing_close any open programs
	To begin installing the software for your new device, allow New!
	ß
	Back Next > Cance

Fig.5.21 The initial Add New Hardware screen

you are using, but the basic process is the same with all three versions. Here we will consider the Windows Me version.



Fig.5.22 A search for Plug and Play devices is made first

Add New Hardware Wi	zard
	Is the device that you want to install listed below?
	$\frown$ No, the device isn't in the list.
	Yes, the device is in the list.
1 million	Select the device that you want to install, and then click Next,
	Devices:
A 400	L MPU-401 Compatible MIDI Device PCI Serial Controller
	R
	KBack New Cancel

Fig.5.23 Any Plug and Play devices that are found are listed

The opening screen Figure 5.21 of appears when the Add New Hardware program is run. Heed the warning and close any programs that are running before proceeding further To continue left-click on the Next button, which will bring up a screen like the one in Figure 5.22. This informs you that the program will look for Plug and

1	Windows can now search for hardware that is not Plug and Play compatible, or you can select your hardware from a list
	When Windows detects new hardware, it automatically determines the current settings for the device and installs the correct drives. Far this reason it is strongly recommended that you have Windows tearch for your new hardware.
	Do you want Windows to search for your new hardware?
R 42	( Yes (Recommended)
*	C No. I want to select the hardware hom's list
	< Back Next > Cancel

Fig.5.24 A search can be made for non-Plug and Play devices

Play devices connected to the system, and not to panic if the screen goes blank for a time. Press the Next button to proceed with the search. Eventually you will get a screen something like the one in Figure 5.23, complete with a list of any Plug and Play devices that have been found.

If the device you wish to install is in the list, leave the Yes radio button checked, leftclick on the device you wish to install, and then operate the Next button to proceed with the installation.

Any non-Plug and Play devices will not be in the list, and it is then a matter of checking the No radio button and operating the Next

Hardware types	
1334 Buil Cerksole     3D Accelerators     1D ROM controllers     Display adapters     Poppy data controllers     Global positiming devices     Heard data certatolers	
Human Interace Devices	-

Fig.5.25 This screen enables the type of device to be selected manually

button. This brings up the window of Figure 5.24, which provides the option of having the program search for the hardware you wish to install. There is no harm in letting the program search for the hardware, although this can be quite time consuming. It is likely that a standard item of



Fig.5.26 Even at this stage, automatic detection is still possible

Install New Modem Click the manufacture or if you have an insta	r and model of your modern. If your n silation disk, click Have Disk.	nodem is not listed,
Manufacturers:	Models Standard 1200 bps Moder	4
AlWA British Telecom Dynalink Motorola International	Standard 2400 bps Modern Standard 9600 bps Modern Standard 14400 bps Modern Standard 19200 bps Modern Standard 28800 bps Modern Standard 28800 bps Modern	
	ß	Have Disk
	< Back Newt >	Cancel

Fig.5.27 The Have Disk option is used if you have a drivers disc

180

hardware such as an additional serial or parallel port will be detected, but it is by no means certain that anything exotic will be located.

If you decide not to opt for automatic detection, check the No radio button and operate the Next button. This produces the window of Figure 5.25 where you can select the appropriate category for the hardware you are installing. A wide variety of devices are covered, with more available under the "Other" category. In this example the modem category was selected, and operating the Next button moved things on to the window of Figure 5.26. Here you are once again offered the option of automatic detection, but this does not work properly with most "soft" modems, so the No button was checked and the Next button was operated.

If you opt for manual selection you will eventually be shown a window containing a list of devices, as in Figure 5.27. The right device might appear in the list, but with recent hardware or generic devices you will probably be out of luck. It is then a matter of selecting the Have Disk option, which brings up a file browser so that you can direct the program to the correct disc drive, and where appropriate, the correct folder of the disc in that drive. With the drivers installed the computer will probably have to be rebooted before the hardware will operate properly.

### Screen settings

Once the video card has been installed properly the required screen parameters can be set. To alter the screen resolution and colour depth, go to the Windows Control Panel and double-click on the Display icon. Then left-click on the Settings tab to bring up a screen of the type shown in Figure 5.28. It is then just a matter of using the onscreen controls to set the required screen resolution and colour depth. To use the new settings left-click the Apply button. It may be necessary to let the computer reboot in order to use the new settings, but in most cases they can be applied without doing this. Instead Windows will apply the new settings for a few seconds so that you can see that all is well. Simply left-click on the Yes button to start using the new screen settings.

If there is a problem with the picture stability do nothing, and things should return to the original settings after a few seconds. This should not really happen if the monitor is installed correctly, because Windows will not try to use scan rates that are beyond the capabilities of the installed monitor. If a problem of this type should occur, check that the monitor is installed properly. In the Display window of Control Panel select Settings, Advanced, and then Monitor. This will bring up a screen like Figure

Display Properties		? ×
Background Screen	Saver Appearance Effects Web Settings	
	Anne per	
	2122	
	and a linear large of large ( 199	
	Real Real Real Real Real Real Real Real	
Display:		
Plug and Play Monito	n on Matrox MGA-G100 AGP PowerDesk	
Colors	Screen area	
	800 by 600 pixels	
V. Extend my Windo	ws desktop onto this monitor Advanced	
	OK Cancel App	9

Fig.5.28 The Display Properties screen is used to set screen resolution, colour depth, etc.

5.29, which shows the type of monitor that is installed. If the installed monitor is not the correct one, or is just one of the generic monitor types, left-click the Change button and select the correct one. If the picture is stable with the new settings but the size and position are completely wrong, there is probably no problem. It should be possible to position and size the picture correctly using the monitor's controls. Many graphics cards are supplied with utility software that helps to get the best possible display from the system, and it is worth trying any software of this type to see if it gives better results.

#### Reinstallation 5

Matrox MGA-G100 AGP PowerDesk Properties	7 X
General Adapter Monitor Performance Color Man	agement ] 🔛 Color ]
Plug and Play Monitor	Change
Options	
Monitonis Energy Star compliant	2
Automatically detect Plug & Play monitors.	
☑ <u>R</u> eset display on suspend/resume.	
▶	
	- 1 - 1 - 1
OK Car	ncel Apple

Fig.5.29 If there is screen instability check that the correct monitor is installed

## **Disc-free Me**

It has been assumed in this chapter that you have a Windows installation CD-ROM. Some computers are supplied with Windows Me pre-installed, and they do not come complete with a Windows installation CD-ROM. Instead, the hard disc has two partitions with drive C: acting as the main disc and a much smaller drive D: containing the Windows files. There is usually a CD-ROM that can be used to recover the situation in the event of a hard disc failure, but this is not an ordinary Windows installation

#### 5 Reinstallation

disc. With a computer of this type it is necessary to resort to the instruction manual for details of reinstalling Windows.

Manufacturers are able to customise the installation software to suit their PCs and any software bundled with them. Consequently there are differences in the installation procedures, but there should be a quick and easy way of getting back to a basic Windows installation. In fact some manufacturers provide a quick means of getting back to the factory settings. in other words, the computer will have Windows installed and set up correctly for the hardware installed at the factory. Of course, if you have changed the hardware configuration of the PC, it will be necessary to install the drivers for the new items of hardware.

### Points to remember

Installing Windows on top of an existing version might cure problems with the operating system, but it is not guaranteed to do so.

Installing Windows "from scratch", with all the previous files removed from the hard disc should effect a cure to any Windows problems. If it does not, the computer probably has a hardware fault.

You can erase the existing Windows folder structure and then reinstall Windows. This will usually remove any problems with the original installation, but all the applications software will still have to be reinstalled.

Everything but data files can be erased from the hard disc prior to reinstalling Windows. Unless you are very unlucky, this will give a fully working Windows installation and your data files will remain intact. This method is worth trying if you have no way of backing up the data files.

Whether reinstalling Windows over an existing installation or "from scratch" it is advisable to boot from a Windows Startup disc, opting for CD-ROM support.

The basic installation process is largely automatic. The user provides some basic information and then the Setup program installs the Windows files and sets up the essential hardware. Some further installation is then required to get all the hardware properly installed, the screen resolution and colour depth set correctly, etc.

Not all hardware can be installed with the aid of the automatic detection facilities. Manual installation of hardware drivers is not difficult, but where appropriate, make sure that items of hardware are supplied complete with a disc or discs containing the driver software. Some hardware has

X

its own installation routines and does not go through the normal Windows routes. Always install hardware in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions.

PCs that are supplied with Windows Me preinstalled are not necessarily supplied with a normal Windows installation disc. Windows then has to be installed in accordance with the computer manufacturer's instructions. The exact method of reinstallation varies somewhat from one manufacturer to another.

### 5 Reinstallation

# **Appendix 1**

## **Tweak UI**

Tweak UI is a Microsoft program for making changes to the user interface. Changes that would otherwise require editing of the Registry can be made using this utility. It was originally supplied as part of the Windows 95 Power Toys package, which was a free but unsupported set of utilities.

Tweak UI			? ×
Add/Remove	Boot Explorer	Repair Desktop	Paranoia New
Menu speed			
Fast		Slow	
1			
Mouse sensiti⊻ity-			
Double-click	2 -	Drag or double-cl	ick the test
Drag	2 *	to test settings.	ouse buton
Effects		т	esticon
Window anim	ation		203
レンジャン・ション・ション・ション・ション・ション・ション・ション・ション・ション・ショ	ing s	ß	
	Tips	Bestore Fac	tory Settings
	OK	Cancol	
	UN	Cancer	

Fig.6.1 The opening screen of the Tweak UI program



Fig.6.2 Tweak UI can repair various types of Windows fault, including some problems with the system files

It proved to be very popular, and was included as an optional extra on the original Windows 98 installation CD-ROMs. It can be found in the \Tools\reskit\powertoy folder, but note that it was omitted from the Windows 98 SE CD-ROM. It does not seem to be included with Windows Me either. For a time it was not available as a download from the Microsoft web site, but Power Toys, complete with Tweak UI, has since made a comeback. In fact the new version is bigger and better than ever.

There is no Setup program to install Tweak UI. Instead, use Windows Explorer to find the file called Tweakui.inf, right-click click on its entry

and then select Install from the pop-up menu. Having installed Tweak UI there is no apparent way to run it! However, if you go to the Control Panel there should be an icon for it there. Double clicking on the icon will bring up a window like the one of Figure 6.1. There are at least two different versions of the program, so you might find that the version you are using has more or less tabs than the one in Figure 6.1.

Tweak UI provides control over various aspects of the user interface, but in the current context the facilities provided under the Repair tab (Figure 6.2) are the most useful. The buttons that appear enable various aspects of Windows to be repaired. The Repair System Files option is perhaps the one of most interest. This will repair various system files, including some of those that are most likely to bring the boot process to a halt. In order to use this facility you simply operate the appropriate button and then reboot the computer in Normal mode. If the repair has been successful the computer will then boot straight into Normal mode.

# **Appendix 2**

### **Useful web addresses**

#### www.microsoft.com

This is the Microsoft web site, and a vast amount of Windows support is available here (see chapter 2).

#### www.shareware.com

A vast range of shareware, freeware, commercial demonstration software, etc., is available from this site. There are also useful links to other sites. Some useful utility programs and anti-virus software can usually be obtained from here, or via one of the links.

#### www.symantec.com

Symantec are the publishers of the Norton range of utilities. Their web site has demonstration versions of their programs plus some virus removal tools and general anti-virus information.

# **Appendix 3**

# Regclean

Regclean is a freely obtainable utility program from Microsoft that can be used to scan the Registry for errors. Any that are found can then be fixed. Unfortunately, Regclean is not guaranteed to give perfect results every time, and under certain circumstances it can add problems rather than remove them. If you decide to give this program a try it would definitely be advisable to read the text file or files that accompany it.

	Windows Registry Analysis and Correction
F	RegClean is checking a part of your registry for errors. This will take several minutes. When it is finished, you may cancel and mit RegClean, or let it fix the errors it found. If you let RegClean fix the errors, it will generate an Undo file in the folder with RegClean Double-click on this file to reverse the corrections RegClean makes.
	Please report all bugs, suggestions and comments to regclean@microsoft.com
R	The RegClean Team
Scanning Type Library Id	lentifiers for errors
	Course Course

Fig.7.1 Regclean starts to operate as soon as it is launched

Also, I would not recommend it as an initial means of trying to cure problems with Windows. Just the opposite in fact, and it is probably best to leave Regclean until other avenues of investigation have been exhausted.

In order to run Regclean either use the Run option from the Start menu to run the Regclean.exe program file, or locate this file using Windows Explorer and double-click on its entry. It starts to operate immediately,

Microsoft RegClean		A COLUMN TWO IS NOT	
	Windows Registry Analysis and Correction		
B	RegClean has finishe the errors that it found errors it found, it will g RegClean, Double-d RegClean makes. Please report all bug	ed checking the registry, , or you can cancel it. If y enerate an Uhdo file in th ick on this file to reverse s, suggestions and com	It can now correct ou let it fix the he folder with the corrections ments to
regclean@microsoft.com			
	The RegCle	ean Team	
Finished checking. Waiting t	o Fox Errors.		
	R	Ex Errors	Cancel

Fig.7.2 Regclean be be used to correct any errors it finds

with a check being made of various parts of the Registry (Figure 7.1). The window of Figure 7.2 appears if any errors are found, but you can operate the Exit button to quite the program without fixing them. Alternatively, operate the Fix Errors button and the suspected errors will be corrected. The window of Figure 7.3 should then appear, confirming that the errors have been fixed. Of course, there is no guarantee that any problems will be found, but Regclean usually seems to find at least one or two discrepancies. If no errors are found, the screen of Figure 7.4 appears.

If things should go badly wrong and Regclean adds rather than removes problems, there is an easy solution to the problem. When Regclean fixes errors it produces an undo file which is placed in the same folder as the Regclean.exe program file. This file has a quite a long name, but it is easily located because it starts with "Undo" and has a "Reg" extension. In order to undo the changes to the Registry locate the Undo.....Reg file using Windows Explorer and then double-click on its entry. A message will appear onscreen, asking if you wish to undo the changes to the Registry. Left-click the Yes button if you wish to proceed. The changes will then be made and a further message will appear onscreen confirming that the undo operation was successful.



Fig.7.3 Having fixed the errors, Regclean reports that it has completed its task

Microsoft RegClean	
	Windows Registry Analysis and Correction
-	RegClean has not found any registry entries that it can correct
- HILLING	Click Extra end RegClean
D-H-1	Please report all bugs, suggestions and comments to regclean@microsoft.com
	The RegClean Team
Finished checking. Waiting	to Exit
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
1	and the second secon
	Epitenores Egit

Fig.7.4 This screen appears in the event that Regclean finds nothing amiss

# Index

### Index

Α	Copy and Paste	63
oddine o debro	Copy command	121
adding a drive 92	custom installation	169
anu-static 95	customisation	89
anti-virus 25		
archive 7	D	
attribute 7	data cable	94
auto-detection 109	data rescue	85
autoexec.bat 13, 45, 57, 77	default directory	00
automatic detection 181	deletion	2
D	desiton preferences	71
D	Device Manager	40 176
background task 12, 34	diagnostics software	
backup 57, 74	Diag free Me	102
Backup program 126	Disc-free me	103
basic checks 47	Disk loois	127
hata teet 11	Display Properties	182
BIOS 13	DLL	2, 61, 149
BIOS features 105	DOS partition	115, 117
BIOS reduires 103	drive bay	100
BIOS Setura 103	drive image	148
boot eactor 12	drive letters	110
boot up	drive settings	107
besting problems 41	drive table	108
booting problems 41	driver faults	49
Booting up 165	dynamic link library	149
boolog 54	E	
C		
cable select 97	earthed	20
cabling 100	editing (Registry)	68
carde 18	EIDE interface	93
	emergency exit	34
CD DOM support 14 162	emergency restoration	138
contiliants of authenticity 166	End Task	32
certificate of authenticity 100	environment space	58
CHOC 105	error message	20, 59
ciwos 103	expansion slot	18
Command around only 45	Explorer	32
command prompt only 45	extended DOS partition	117
compact installation 169	extension	5
components 109	Extract	63
compressed 03	E	
compression 134, 137	r.	
configuration file 0.50	factory settings	184
configuration files 79	FAT	24
computation lumpor	FAT32	15, 113
Control Depot	fatal exception error	36
Control Parlet 127	•	

### Index

FDISK	113	L	
file allocation table	24		
file associations	71	large block addressing	110
file hunt	60	Large mode	110
Find	150	LBA mode	110
Find command	73	Logged mode	44
fixing screws	100	logging	54
foider options	6	iogicai drive	117
FORMAT	112	logicai drives	86
Format command	22	M	
formatting	118	IAI	
freeware	190	machine	72
		manuai installation	177
G		manual selection	181
quide rail	100	mass storage	9, 79
<b>J</b>	100	master	96
Н		Me Backup	146
		Me Restore	140
hard disc	9	Me Safe mode	63
hardware configuration	72	memory	12, 36
hardware drivers	48, 176	memory management	36
hardware tault	17	memory test	21
hardware problems	52	menu	10
Hardware Troubleshooter	54	Microsoft Knowledge Base	80
hidden file	5	monitor	181
hide	6	MS/DOS mode	92
hive key	71		
1		N	
•		non-Plug and Play	179
lcon	10	Normal mode	44
IDE auto-detection	109	Norton Utilities	75
IDE channei	98	numerical code	70
IDE data cable	94		
IDE interface	14, 92	0	
illegal operation	36		
image	148	OLE Information	1
initialisation file	78	P	
installation	166	•	
instaliation disc	63	page fault	36
1		parasitic program	24
J		partitioning	110
jumpers	96	password	175
		path	6
K		Plug and Play	17, 177
key	80	portable installation	169
Knowledge Base	80	POST	13
	00	power cable	101
		power connector	93

power-on self-test	13	shareware	190
preliminaries	89	shut down	32
prevention	1	slave device	96
<b>Previous MS/DOS mode</b>	45	software configuration	72
primary DOS partition	117	Standard CMOS	105
primary IDE	98	Standard mode	46
Product Key	166	Startup disc	14, 171
		Startup menu	43
Q		Startup utilities	139
qualifying product	166	static	95
damitS h. oreer.		static charges	18
R		Step-by-step	57
	10	Step-by-step confirmation	44
HAM	12	string	70
read-only	1	sub-key	69
reboot.vxd	35	surface scan	48
recognised file types	/1	sys command	16
Recover.bd	139	Sysedit	76
recurring problems	82	system	7
	11	System File Checker	63, 155
Regciean	191	system files 16,	149, 188
Regear	09	System Information	36, 74
Registry	0, 38, 00	system resources	37
Registry Dackup	07, 131	System Restore	64, 140
Registry Checker	59, 74, 100 10 07 161	System Tools	129
Personal Internation	57	System Tray	38
	57	System.dat	<b>68</b> , 152
removing drivers	14 42	System.ini	78
reset	14, 42	Systray	38
reset button	JZ 1 A 1	т	
Postoration point	122	1	
nestore	132	Taskbar	10
restore	154	Thorough mode	46
ribbon osbie	100	Trojan horse	25
houdin cable	100	Troubleshooter	54
S		troubleshooter	81
	40.40	troubleshooting	41
Sate mode	16, 42	tweak	1
Safe mode command pro	ompt 45	Tweak UI	187
Scandisk	46, 164	typical installation	169
Scranreg	155		
screen resolution	102	0	
screen settings	101	UDMA100	94
3031	31	UDMA33	95
Secondary IDE	38	UDMA66	94
	14 104	uninstaller	3
Setup program	14, 104	upgrade product	166
Setup wizard	140		

Index

upgrade version USB user User.dat utilities	166, 171 91 72 68, 152 139
V	
verification virtual disc virtuai memory virus virus scanning	136 16 37 23 29
W	
WIMP WinDoctor Windows checkers Windows components Windows Explorer Windows Registry Windows Setup Windows upgrade Windows.ini Wizard Wizards	105 76 75 169 5 66 165 166 78 63 135
X	
Xcopy Z	121
Zip drive	91

198





# **Babani** Computer Books

# Easy Windows troubleshooting

Problems with the Windows Me, 98 and 95 operating systems are not exactly a rarity, and are perhaps inevitable with software of such complexity and sophistication. These Windows operating systems will operate with a massive range of hardware in numerous applications, but this versatility may lead to various periodic problems. The cause could be an obscure bug in Windows itself, an installer or uninstaller that gets things slightly wrong, an applications program that does not stick to the rules, or a glitch in the hardware, but problems with Windows are generally accepted as part of PC life. Troubleshooting problems with Windows is a daunting task for non-expert computer users, but in fact, most faults can be fixed quite quickly and easily by using the simple methods described in this book. Problems with configuration files, hardware drivers, etc., can usually be tracked down quite quickly, or with a particularly awkward fault Windows can be reinstalled. Either way, the procedures described in this book should soon have your PC running properly again.

This book shows you how to: -

- Verify the fault is not in the hardware.
- Replace the boot files and check for viruses.
- Use the step-by-step start up mode to find the cause of boot-up problems.
- Check and correct problems in the configuration files.
- Check, backup, and restore the Windows Registry.
- Backup and restore essential files or even the whole system.
- · View and edit the Windows Registry using the Regedit utility.
- Rescue important data prior to reinstallation
- Reinstall Windows over the current version
- Reinstall Windows 'from scratch'.

An invaluable tool for all Windows Me, 98 and 95 users, as you never know when a problem could occur. Much frustration, expense and waiting time may be saved by not having to rely on help lines or service desks.

🖌 Beginners 🏹 Intermediate 🏑 Advanced

BP 495

£6-99



